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We are a provider of infrastructure-related products
and solutions with leading positions in construction,

energy, and transportation markets.
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VISION

Unified in our commitment to build a better world

VALUES

We are committed

Innovative
Focused
Results-Oriented

We act with integrity

Principled
Honest
Fair

We make things happen

Agile
Driven
Passionate

We win together

Collaborative
Dedicated
United



PROMISE

At Arcosa,
we activate the potential of our people,
we care for our customers,
we optimize operations,
we support sustainability, and

we generate returns for our stakeholders

WE MOVE INFRASTRUCTURE FORWARD



Dear Fellow Arcosa Shareholders:

It is an honor to write this first annual letter to our new Arcosa shareholders. We launched as an independent
public company on November 1, 2018 after separating from Trinity Industries, Inc.

Arcosa is a new company, but each one of our individual businesses has long-term customer relationships,
experienced management teams, and market-leading positions. Arcosa’s products are fundamental to the
development of the infrastructure needed to support growth in North America. As a result, | believe the
company has both secular demand-driven organic and acquisition growth opportunities. To capitalize on
those opportunities, the company separated from Trinity without any debt and a strong liquidity position.

Before the separation, we spent a significant amount of time establishing the foundational aspects of Arcosa,
namely, determining the company’s long-term strategy and designing our governance structure. Starting with the
long-term strategy, we established the following pillars:

* Grow in attractive markets where we can achieve sustainable, competitive advantages;

* Reduce the complexity and cyclicality of the overall business; and

* Improve our long term returns on invested capital.

In February, we added a fourth pillar: Integrate Environmental, Social, and Governance initiatives (ESG) into our
long-term strategy. We are about to embark on an ESG Materiality Study to develop our sustainability framework
and set specific goals for each of our priorities. We expect to share our priorities and goals in future disclosures.

On the governance side, we have separate Chairman and CEO roles, providing independent oversight over our
management. To support a smooth separation and ensure retention of valuable knowledge and experience, we
retained five directors from our former parent’s board. We added four new, independent members who bring a
wealth of additional industry experience. The combination of our legacy board members’ depth of
experience in our current businesses and the additional members’ new perspectives will be a great asset
to Arcosa during this stage of our development.

In addition to establishing the foundational aspects of the company, we also dedicated time before the
separation to determine what we refer to as our Stage 1 Priorities: growing our Construction Products segment;
expanding our margins in the Energy Equipment segment; accelerating our organic growth in the Transportation
Products segment; and, operating a lean and responsive corporate structure.

We have been able to hit the ground running, finishing the fourth quarter of 2018 with positive momentum
heading into 2019 and executing on several of our Stage 1 Priorities that are projected to generate growth in 2019.
We are also making progress refining our capital allocation strategy that will help make our long-term vision a reality.

At the same time, we have been working on developing a new culture for Arcosa. By combining a strong
compliance framework, a performance-driven compensation system, and a disciplined approach to capital allocation,
| am convinced that Arcosa will be able to achieve sustainable, long-term growth.

In closing, | want to recognize the tremendous accomplishments of Arcosa’s employees in getting us to
where we are today. Five months ago, we were a fragmented group within a large corporation.
Today, we are an independent, publicly-traded company, with defined segments that are united in their
commitment to achieving our long-term vision. This has taken an incredible effort on the part of the people of
Arcosa, and | am very proud to lead such a professional and hard-working group of individuals.

| am also thankful for the support of our customers, investors, and all of our stakeholders. | look forward to keeping
you apprised of developments at Arcosa.

Very truly yours,

Antonio Carrillo
President and Chief Executive Officer
March 26, 2019
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PART I
Item 1. Business.

General Description of Business. Arcosa, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, (“Arcosa,” “Company,” “we,” or “our”)
headquartered in Dallas, Texas, is a provider of infrastructure-related products and solutions. We provide critical products for a
broad spectrum of marketsthroughout construction, energy, and transportation. We own busi nesseswith well-established positions
in attractive markets with favorable long-term demand drivers, which should provide us with compelling organic and acquisition
opportunities.

Arcosa is a Delaware corporation and was incorporated in 2018 in connection with the separation of Arcosa from Trinity
Industries, Inc. (“Trinity” or “Former Parent”) on November 1, 2018 as an independent, publicly-traded company, listed on the
New York Stock Exchange (the “Separation”). At the time of the Separation, Arcosa consisted of certain of Trinity’'s former
construction products, energy equipment, and transportation products businesses. The Separation was effectuated through a pro
rata dividend distribution on November 1, 2018 of all of the then-outstanding shares of common stock of Arcosato the holders of
common stock of Trinity as of October 17, 2018, the record date for the distribution.

Our principal executive offices are located at 500 N. Akard Street, Suite 400, Dallas, Texas 75201. Our telephone number is
972-942-6500, and our Internet website address iswww.arcosa.com. We make available on our website our annual report on Form
10-K, quarterly reportson Form 10-Q, current reportson Form 8-K, and any amendmentsthereto, as soon asreasonably practicable
after such material is filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Information on our Investor
Relations page and on our website is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any of our other securities filings unless
specificaly incorporated herein by reference.

Overview. Asaprovider of infrastructure-rel ated productsand sol utions, we manufactureor processand sell avariety of products
principally including:

Primary products «  Natural aggregates *  Wind towers e Inland barges

Lightweight aggregates

Utility structures

Fiberglass barge covers and

Specialty milled or Storage tanks other components
processed materials e Axlesand couplersfor
e Trench shields and shoring railcars and locomotives
products e Industrial and mining
components
Primary markets ¢ Residentia, commercial, *  Wind power generation »  Transportation products
served and industrial construction  «  Power transmission and serving numerous markets,
* Road and bridge distribution including:
construction » Gasand liquids storage for e Agriculture/food
e Underground construction residential, agriculture, and products
* Agriculture industrial markets *  Refined products
e Specialty building products e Chemicals
e Upstream ail

Railcar manufacturers
and maintenance
operations

Recent Developments. On December 5, 2018, Arcosa completed the acquisition of ACG Materias (“ACG”), a producer of
specialty materials and aggregates, with operations in Oklahoma, Texas, Nevada, Washington, Florida, Kansas, Missouri, and
British Columbia. The acquisition of ACG expanded our geographic and product diversity beyond our existing natural and
lightweight aggregates markets and introduced new markets including agricultural and specialty building products. The purchase
price of $309.1 million wasfunded with acombination of cash on-hand and a $180 million borrowing under Arcosa's $400 million
five-year credit facility.

During thefourth quarter of 2018, the Company divested certain businesseswhoserevenuesareincluded in the other component
of the Energy Equipment Group. The net proceeds from these divestitures were not significant. We concluded that the divestiture
of these businesses does not represent a strategic shift that would result in amaterial effect on our operations and financial results;
therefore, these disposals have not been reflected as discontinued operations in our Consolidated and Combined Financial
Statements.



Our Segments. We serve our customers through the following three business groups:
Construction Products Group.
Markets

Our Construction Products Group provides products that are used in multiple areas of construction infrastructure. Our products
are used across the construction landscape including residential, commercial, industrial, road and bridge, and underground
construction. As the United States ("U.S.") continues to experience population growth and replace its aging infrastructure, we
believe our businesses are well-positioned to benefit from this activity. Additionally, our products are used in certain agricultural
and energy markets.

Products, Customers, and Competitors

Through wholly-owned subsidiaries, our Construction Products Group produces and sells construction aggregates including
natural aggregates and specialty materials and construction site support equipment including trench shields and shoring products.
See Item 7. “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for revenues attributable
to construction aggregates products.

We are an established producer and distributor of natural aggregates serving both public infrastructure and private construction
markets. Our natural aggregatesproductsincludesand, gravel, limestone, gypsum, and vari ousother productsused intheproduction
of ready mixed concrete, cement, precast concrete products, roads, oil and gas well pads, wind farms, as well as various other
building products. Our natural aggregates customers are concrete producers, commercial, residential, highway, and general
contractors; manufacturersof masonry and building products; and state and local governments. We competewith natural aggregates
producersin the regions where we operate.

Our specialty materias, including lightweight aggregates and milled or processed specialty building products and agricultural
products, are produced and distributed nationwide. Our specialty materials products enjoy higher barriersto entry than our natural
aggregates due to specific mineral properties, specialized manufacturing, or additional processing. Lightweight aggregates are
select shales or claysthat are expanded and hardened by high temperaturesin arotary kiln and possess a bulk density that can be
less than half that of natural aggregates. Product applicationsinclude structural lightweight concrete, lightweight masonry block,
and road surfacetreatments. Our specialty building productsand agricultural productsare processed at several production facilities
across the U.S. using our natural aggregates as a component of raw material supply. Product applications include plasters, prills,
agricultural supplements and fertilizers, paints, flooring, and glass. We compete with specialty materials producers nationwide.

We hold a strong market position in the manufacture of trench shields and shoring products for the U.S. construction industry.
Trench shields and shoring products are used for water and sewer construction, utility installations, manhole work, oil and gas
pipeline construction, and other underground applications. Our customersare equi pment rental dealersand commercial, residential,
andindustrial contractors. Additionally, we participatein certain regional rental marketsfor trench shoring equipment. Wecompete
with shoring products manufacturers nationwide.

Raw Material and Suppliers

Natural aggregates can be found throughout the U.S., and many producers exist nationwide. Shipments of natural aggregates
from anindividual quarry are generally limited in geographic scope because the cost of transportation to customersishigh relative
to the value of the product itself. Raw materials for speciaty material products are also from quarries; however, due to the added
value in processing, they have a much wider, multi-state distribution area due to their higher value relative to their distribution
costs. We currently operate mining facilities located in Texas, Louisiana, Alabama, Colorado, California, Indiana, Kentucky,
Florida, Oklahoma, Kansas, Missouri, Washington, Nevada, and British Columbia.

Energy Equipment Group.
Markets

Our Energy Equipment Group serves a broad spectrum of energy markets, including wind power generation, €lectricity
transmission and distribution, and the storage and transportation of gas and liquid products for use in residential, commercial,
agricultural, and industrial end markets.

Products, Customers, and Competitors

Through wholly-owned subsidiaries, our Energy Equipment Group manufactures structural wind towers; utility steel structures
for electricity transmission and di stribution; and storage and di stributiontanks. Seeltem 7. “Management's Discussionand Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for revenues attributable to wind towers and utility structures products.

We are one of the leading manufacturers of structural wind towers in the U.S. and Mexico. Our primary customers are wind
turbine producers and we compete with both domestic and foreign producers of towers. Revenuesfrom General Electric Company
(“GE") included in our Energy Equipment Group constituted 19.4%, 22.9%, and 22.4% of consolidated or combined revenuesfor
the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively.
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We are awell-established manufacturer in the U.S. and Mexico of steel utility structures for electricity transmission. Through
our recognized brands, we have devel oped strong rel ationshipswith our primary customers, public and private utilities. We compete
with both domestic and foreign manufacturers.

Additionaly, our storage tanks support ail, gas, and chemical markets and are used by industrial plants, utilities, residences,
and small businesses in suburban and rural areas. We also manufacture fertilizer storage containers for agricultural markets,
including bulk storage, farm storage, and the application and distribution of anhydrous ammonia.

We are one of the primary manufacturersin North America of pressurized and non-pressurized tanks that store and transport a
wide variety of products, including propane, anhydrous ammonia, and natural gas liquids.

Raw Materials and Suppliers

The principal material used in our Energy Equipment manufacturing segment is steel. During 2018, the supply of steel was
sufficient to support our manufacturing requirements. Market steel prices continue to exhibit periods of volatility and ended 2018
higher than 2017. Steel prices may be volatile in the future in part as aresult of market conditions. We often use contract-specific
purchasing practices, existing supplier commitments, contractual price escalation provisions, and other arrangements with our
customersto mitigate the effect of steel price volatility on our operating profit for the year. In general, we believe thereis enough
capacity in the supply industry to meet current production levels and that our existing contracts and other relationships we have
in place will meet our current production forecasts.

Arcosa’'s manufacturing operations also use component parts, such as flanges for wind towers. In general, we believe there is
enough capacity in the supply industry to meet current production levels through more than one supplier and that our existing
contracts and other relationships we have in place will meet our current production forecasts.

Transportation Products Group.
Markets

Our Transportation Products Group consists of established companies that supply manufactured steel products to the
transportation industry. These transportation products serve awide variety of markets, including the transportation of commodities
such as grain, coal, aggregates, chemicals, fertilizers, petrochemicals, and refined products.

Products, Customers, and Competitors

Through wholly-owned subsidiaries, our Transportation Products Group manufactures and sellsinland barges, fiberglass barge
covers, and marine hardware; and steel components for railcars and other transportation and industrial equipment. See Item 7.
“Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations’ for revenues attributable to inland
barges and steel components products.

We have aleading positionin the U.S. market for the manufacture of inland barges and fiberglass barge covers. We manufacture
avariety of hopper barges, tank barges, and fiberglass covers, and we provide afull line of deck hardware to the marine industry,
including hatches, castings and winches for towboats and dock facilities. Dry cargo barges transport various commodities, such
as grain, coal, and aggregates. Tank barges transport liquids including refined products, chemicals, and a variety of petroleum
products. Our fiberglass reinforced lift covers are used primarily for grain barges. Our barge manufacturing facilities are located
along the U.S. inland river systems, allowing for rapid delivery to our customers. Our customers are primarily commercial marine
transportation companies and industrial shippers. We compete with a number of other manufacturersin the U.S.

We are arecognized manufacturer of steel components for railcars and other transportation equipment. We manufacture axles,
circular forgings and coupling devices for freight, tank, locomotive and passenger rail transportation equipment, as well as other
industrial uses, and also provide cast components for use in the industrial and mining sectors. Our customers are primarily freight
and passenger railcar manufacturers, rail maintenance and repair facilities, railroads, steel mills, and mining equipment
manufacturers. We compete with both domestic and foreign manufacturers.

Raw Materials and Suppliers

The principal material used in our Transportation Products manufacturing segment is steel. During 2018, the supply of steel
was sufficient to support our manufacturing requirements. Market steel prices continue to exhibit periods of volatility and ended
2018 higher than 2017. Steel prices may be volatile in the future in part as aresult of market conditions. We often use contract-
specific purchasing practices, existing supplier commitments, contractual price escalation provisions, and other arrangementswith
our customers to mitigate the effect of steel price volatility on our operating profit for the year. In general, we believe there is
enough capacity in the supply industry to meet current production levels and that our existing contracts and other relationships we
have in place will meet our current production forecasts.

Arcosa's manufacturing operations a so use component parts, such as pumps, engines, and hardware for tank barges. In general,
we believe there is enough capacity in the supply industry to meet current production levels through more than one supplier and
that our existing contracts and other relationships we have in place will meet our current production forecasts.
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Unsatisfied Performance Obligations (Backlog). As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, our backlog of firm orders was as
follows:

December 31, December 31,
2018 2017
(in millions)
Energy Equipment Group:
Wind towers and Utility SIIUCIUIES .......cveveeeieeieerecee ettt enens $ 633.1 $ 899.0
L 1 0= OO $ 55.1 *

Transportation Products Group:
INIBNA DAIGES ...ttt et st sttt e et se et e e besaetesnere e $ 2305 $ 98.2
* Prior to January 2018, contracts within the Other businesses of the Energy Equipment Group did not meet the Company's
historical definition of backlog, which was firm, non-cancellable orders. With the adoption in January 2018 of ASU 2014-09,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers, these amounts are now included in backlog due to the fact that they contain substantive
cancellation pendlties.

Approximately 64% percent of unsatisfied performance obligations for our wind towers and utility structures in our Energy
Equipment Group are expected to be delivered during the year ending December 31, 2019 with the remainder to be delivered
through 2020. All of the unsatisfied performance obligations for our other business lines in our Energy Equipment Group are
expected to be delivered during the year ending December 31, 2019. Approximately 94% percent of unsatisfied performance
obligations for barges in our Transportation Products Group are expected to be delivered during the year ending December 31,
2019 with the remainder to be delivered through 2020.

Marketing. We sell substantially all of our products and services through our own sales personnel operating from officesin
multiple locations in the U.S. and Mexico. We a so use independent sal es representatives and distributors.

Employees. The following table presents the approximate headcount breakdown of employees by business group:

December 31,

Business Group 2018
CONSLIUCE ON PIrOGUCES GIOUP -...c.eeveeueetieiesitateste st st ste e saesse e seeeeseesessessesaesaesaesbesaesaessesteseeeenseneeneeseesesnessesbesaeses 1,159
ENErgy EQUIPIMENT GIOUP ... c.eouettietirtetirteierteitstesest ettt se bt sb e b e b b s bt b e st b et b et s b et e b e e e b e e b e nennns 3,366
TranSPOrtation PrOOUCES GIOUP ........euerteuerteueruesersesersesessesessasessessesessesessesessesessesessesessessssessasensesensesessesessenessenessenes 1,261
L0010 ol r= =TSPTSRO PP 103

5,889

As of December 31, 2018, approximately 4,150 employees were employed in the U.S., 1,726 employees in Mexico, and 13
employeesin Canada.

Seasonality. Resultsin our Construction Products Group are affected by seasonal fluctuationswith the second and third quarters
historically being the quarters with the highest revenues.

Intellectual Property. Arcosa owns a number of patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets, and licenses to intellectua
property owned by others. Although Arcosa's patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets, and other intellectual property rights
are important to Arcosa’s success, we do not regard our business as being dependent on any single patent, trademark, copyright,
trade secret or license. For adiscussion of risksrelated to our intellectual property, please refer to Item 1A. “Risk Factors— Risks
Related to Our Business and Operations.”

Governmental Regulation.

Construction Products Group. Arcosa’s Construction Products Group is subject to regulation by the United States Mine Safety
and Health Administration (“MSHA”), the Health-Safety and Reclamation Code of Ministry of Mines for British Columbia, and
various state agencies.

Energy Equipment Group. Arcosa’s storage tanks are subject to the regulations by the U.S. Pipeline and Hazardous Materials
Safety Administration (“PHMSA”) and the U.S. Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (“FMCSA™), both of which are part
of the U.S. Department of Transportation (“USDOT”). These agencies promulgate and enforce rules and regulations pertaining,
in part, to the manufacture of tanks that are used in the storage, transportation and transport arrangement, and distribution of
regulated and non-regulated substances.



Transportation Products Group. The primary regulatory and industry authoritiesinvolved in the regulation of the inland barge
industry are the U.S. Coast Guard, the U.S. National Transportation Safety Board, the U.S. Customs Service, the Maritime
Administration of the USDOT, and private industry organizations such as the American Bureau of Shipping. These organizations
establish safety criteria, investigate vessel accidents, and recommend improved safety standards.

Our steel components businessesthat servetherailcar industry are regulated by governmental agencies such asthe USDOT and
the administrative agencies it oversees, including the Federal Railroad Administration (“FRA™), and industry authorities such as
the Association of American Railroads (“AAR”). All such agencies and authorities promulgate rules, regulations, specifications,
and operating standards affecting rail-related safety standards for railroad equipment.

Occupational Safety and Health Administration and Similar Regulations. In addition to the regulations described above, our
operations are subject to regulation of health and safety matters by the U.S. Occupational Safety and Health Administration
(“OSHA™) and, within our Construction Products Group, MSHA. We believe that we employ appropriate precautions to protect
our employees and others from workplace injuries and harmful exposure to materials handled and managed at our facilities.
However, claimsthat may be asserted against Arcosafor work-related illnesses or injury and the further adoption of occupational
and mine safety and health regulations in the U.S. or in foreign jurisdictions in which we operate could increase our operating
costs. While we do not anticipate having to make material expenditures in order to remain in substantial compliance with health
and safety laws and regulations, we are unable to predict the ultimate cost of compliance.

International Regulations. We ship raw materials to Mexico and manufacture products in Mexico that are sold in the U.S. or
elsewhere, which are subject to customs and other regulations. In addition, we are subject to other governmental regulations and
authorities in Mexico and other countries where we conduct business that regulate products manufactured, sold or used in those
countries.

Environmental, Health and Safety. We are subject to federal, state, and international environmental and safety and health laws
and regulationsin the U.S., Mexico, and each country in which we operate, including the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
(“USEPA™). These include laws regulating air emissions, water discharge, hazardous materials and waste management. We have
an environmental management structure designed to facilitate and support our compliance with these requirements globally.
Althoughit isour intent to comply with all such requirements and regulations, we cannot provide assurance that we are at all times
in compliance. Environmental requirements are complex, change frequently, and have tended to become more stringent over time.
Accordingly, we cannot assure that environmental requirements will not change or become more stringent over time or that our
eventual environmental costs and liabilities will not be material.

Certain environmental laws assess liability on current or previous owners or operators of real property for the cost of removal
or remediation of hazardous substances. At this time we are involved in various stages of investigation and cleanup related to
environmental remediation matters at certain of our facilities. In addition, there may be soil or groundwater contamination at
several of our properties resulting from historical, ongoing or nearby activities.

We cannot ensure that our eventual environmental remediation costs and liabilities will not exceed the amount of our current
reserves. In the event that such liabilities were to significantly exceed the amounts recorded, our results of operations could be
materially adversely affected. See“ Critical Accounting Policiesand Estimates’ in ltem 7. "Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Resultsof Operations’ and Note 14 of the Notesto the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements
for further information regarding reserves for environmental matters.

See Item 1A for further discussion of risk factors with regard to environmental, governmental, and other matters.



Executive Officers and Other Corporate Officers of the Company. The following table sets forth the names and ages of all
of our executive officers and other corporate officers, their positions and offices presently held by them, and the year each person
first became an officer.

Officer

Name Age Office Since
Antonio Carrillo* 52  President and Chief Executive Officer 2018
Scott C. Beasley* 38 Chief Financial Officer 2018
Reid S. Essl* 37  President, Construction Products 2018
Kerry S. Cole* 50 President, Energy Equipment 2018
Jesse E. Collins, Jr.* 52  President, Transportation Products 2018
Bryan P. Stevenson* 46  Chief Lega Officer 2018
Kathryn A. Callins 55  Chief Human Resources Officer 2018
Mary E. Henderson* 60 Chief Accounting Officer 2018
Gail M. Peck 51  Senior Vice President, Finance and Treasurer 2018

"Executive officer subject to reporting requirements under Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Antonio Carrillo serves asArcosa’s President and Chief Executive Officer, aswell asamember of itsBoard of Directors. From
April 2018 until the Separation, Mr. Carrillo served as the Senior Vice President and Group President of Construction, Energy,
Marine and Components of Trinity. From 2012 to February 2018, Mr. Carrillo served asthe Chief Executive Officer of Mexichem
S.A.B. de C.V., apublicly-traded global specialty chemical company. Prior to joining Mexichem, Mr. Carrillo spent 16 years at
Trinity where he served as Senior Vice President and Group President of Trinity’s Energy Equipment Group and was responsible
for Trinity’s Mexico operations. Mr. Carrillo previously served asadirector of Trinity from 2014 until the Separation in 2018 and
as adirector of Dr. Pepper Snapple Group, Inc. from 2015 to 2018.

Scott C. Beadley serves asArcosa’s Chief Financial Officer. From 2017 until the Separation, Mr. Beasley previously served as
Group Chief Financial Officer of Trinity’s Construction, Energy, Marine, and Components businesses. Mr. Beasley joined Trinity
in 2014 and previously served as Vice President of Corporate Strategic Planning for Trinity. Prior to joining Trinity, Mr. Beadey
was an Associate Principal with McKinsey & Company, a global management consulting firm.

Reid S. Essl serves as the President of Construction Products at Arcosa. From 2016 until the Separation, Mr. Esdl served asthe
President of Trinity Construction Materials and from 2013 to 2016, Mr. Esdl served as the Group Chief Financial Officer of the
Construction, Energy, Marine, and Components businessesof Trinity . Inhis14 yearsat Trinity, Mr. Esdl held avariety of financial,
strategic planning, and business devel opment positions.

Kerry S. Cole serves as the President of Energy Equipment at Arcosa. From 2016 until the Separation, Mr. Cole served as
President of Trinity Electrica Products which included oversight for the Trinity Structural Towers and Trinity Meyer Utility
Structures business units. Prior to thisrole, Mr. Cole served as President of Trinity Structural Towers business unit from 2007 to
2016. From 2000 to 2007, he served in avariety of operations and manufacturing leadership positions at Trinity spanning Mining
and Construction Equipment, Heads, and Structural Bridge business units.

Jesse E. Callins, Jr. serves as the President of Transportation Products at Arcosa. From 2016 until the Separation, Mr. Collins
served as the President of Trinity Parts and Components, which included McConway & Torley, Standard Forged Products, and
the business of McKees Rocks Forgings. From 2014 to 2016, he served as President of Trinity Cryogenics. From 2008 to 2013,
Mr. Collins served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer at Broadwind Energy serving wind energy,
transportation, and infrastructure markets, prior to which he held various management and executive positions at Trinity from
1993 to 2006.

Bryan P. Stevenson serves as the Chief Legal Officer at Arcosa. From 2015 until the Separation, Mr. Stevenson was the Vice
President, Associate General Counsel and Corporate Secretary for Trinity. Prior tojoining Trinity, Mr. StevensonwasVicePresident,
General Counsel and Secretary for U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc., an online provider of automotive parts, from 2011 to 2015.

Kathryn A. Collins serves as the Chief Human Resources Officer at Arcosa. From 2014 until the Separation, Ms. Collins served
asthe Vice President of Human Resources at Trinity. Prior to joining Trinity, sheworked for RealPage, Inc., aprovider of software
and dataanalyticsfor thereal estateindustry, from 2012 to 2014, most recently serving as Vice President, Talent Management and
HR Systems. She served as Divisiona Vice President, Organization Effectiveness and Vice President, Associate Recruitment at
J.C. Penney Company, Inc. where she held management and executive positions from 2009 to 2012.



Mary E. Henderson serves as the Chief Accounting Officer at Arcosa. From 2010 until the Separation, Ms. Henderson served
as Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer of Trinity. Ms. Henderson joined Trinity in 2003 and has served in a variety of
leadership positions including Corporate Controller, Assistant Corporate Controller, and Director of External Reporting.

Gail M. Peck serves as the Senior Vice President, Finance and Treasurer at Arcosa. From 2010 until the Separation, Ms. Peck
served as Vice President, Finance and Treasurer of Trinity. From 2004 to 2009, she served as Vice President and Treasurer for
Centex Corporation, a diversified building company.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Arcosa's business, financial condition, and results of operations may be impacted by a number of factors. In addition to the
factors discussed elsewhere in this report, the following risks and uncertainties could materially harm its business, financia
condition, or results of operations, including causing its actual results to differ materially from those projected in any forward-
looking statements. Thefollowing list of significant risk factorsisnot all-inclusive or necessarily in order of importance. Additional
risks and uncertainties not presently known to Arcosa or that it currently deems immaterial also may materially adversely affect
it in future periods.

Risks Related to our Business and Operations
Many of the industries in which Arcosa operates are subject to global market volatility and economic cyclicality.

Instability in the global economy, negative conditions in the global credit markets, volatility in the industries that Arcosa’s
products serve, fluctuations in commodity prices that Arcosa's customers produce and transport, changes in legislative policy,
adversechangesintheavailability of raw material sand supplies, or adversechangesinthefinancial condition of Arcosa scustomers
could lead to areductionin ordersfor Arcosa's productsand customers' requestsfor deferred deliveriesof Arcosa s backlog orders.
Additionally such events could result in Arcosa’s customers’ attempts to unilaterally cancel or terminate firm contracts or orders
inwhole or in part resulting in contract or purchase order breaches which could result in increased commercial litigation costs.

If volatile conditionsin the global credit markets prevent our customers’ access to credit, product order volumes may decrease,
or customers may default on payments owed to Arcosa. Likewise, if Arcosa's suppliers face challenges obtaining credit, selling
their products to customers that require purchasing credit, or otherwise operating their businesses, the supply of materials Arcosa
purchases from them to manufacture its products may be interrupted.

Periodic downturns in economic conditions usualy have a significant adverse effect on cyclical industries in which Arcosa
participates due to decreased demand for new and replacement products. Decreased demand could result in lower sales volumes,
lower prices, and/or adeclinein or loss of profits. The barge and wind energy industriesin particular have previously experienced
sharp cyclical downturns and at such times operated with a minimal backlog. While the business cycles of Arcosa's different
operations may not typically coincide, an economic downturn could affect disparate cycles contemporaneously.

Any of the foregoing market or industry conditions or events could result in reductions in Arcosa's revenues, increased price
competition, or increased operating costs, which could adversely affect Arcosa's business, cash flows, results of operations, and
financial condition.

Arcosa operates in highly competitive industries. Arcosa may not be able to sustain its market positions, which may impact its
financial results.

Arcosafacesaggressive competitionin al geographic marketsand each industry sector inwhich it operates. In addition to price,
Arcosafaces competition in respect to product performance and technological innovation, quality, reliability of delivery, customer
service, and other factors. The effects of this competition, which is often intense, could reduce Arcosa’'s revenues and operating
profits, limit Arcosa's ability to grow, increase pricing pressure on Arcosa’s products, and otherwise affect Arcosa's financial
results.

Arcosa may be adversely affected by trade policies and practices, including trade practices of competitors that violate U.S. or
other foreign laws, regulations, or practices.

Arcosafaces competition from manufacturersboth in the U.S. and around the world, some of which may engage in competition
and trade practices involving the importation of competing products into the U.S. in violation of U.S. or other foreign laws,
regulations, or practices. For example, Arcosa’s competitors may import competing products that are subsidized by foreign
governments and sold in the U.S. at less than fair value. The results of trade negotiations, trade agreements, and tariffs could also
negatively affect Arcosa’s supplies, cost of goods sold, and customers. These trade policies and practices could increase pricing
pressure on Arcosa's products, reduce Arcosa's revenues and operating profits, limit Arcosa's ability to grow, and otherwise
adversely affect Arcosa's financial results.



Equipment failures or extensive damage to Arcosa’s facilities, including as might occur as a result of natural disasters, could
lead to production, delivery or service curtailments or shutdowns, loss of revenue or higher expenses.

Arcosa operates a substantial amount of equipment at Arcosa's production facilities, several of which are situated in tornado
and hurricane zones and on navigable waterways in the U.S. Aninterruption in production capabilities or maintenance and repair
capabilities at Arcosa'sfacilities, asaresult of equipment failure or acts of nature, including non-navigation orders resulting from
excessive or low-water conditionsissued from time to time by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers on one or more U.S. rivers that
serveArcosa' sfacilities, could reduce or prevent Arcosa’s production, delivery, service, or repair of Arcosa’ s productsand increase
Arcosa’s costs and expenses. A halt of production at any of Arcosa's manufacturing facilities could severely affect delivery times
to Arcosa's customers. While Arcosa maintai ns emergency response and business recovery plansthat are intended to allow Arcosa
to recover from natural disastersthat could disrupt Arcosa’s business, Arcosa cannot provide assurances that its planswould fully
protect Arcosa from the effects of all such disasters. In addition, insurance may not adequately compensate Arcosafor any losses
incurred as aresult of natural or other disasters, which may adversely affect Arcosa' s financia condition. Any significant delay in
deliveries not otherwise contractually mitigated by favorable force majeure or other provisions could result in cancellation of all
or aportion of Arcosa’'s orders, cause Arcosato lose future sales, and negatively affect Arcosa’s reputation and Arcosa’s results of
operations.

Arcosa depends on its key management employees, and Arcosa may not be able to retain their services in the future.

Arcosa’s success depends on the continued services of its executive team and key management employees, none of whom
currently have an employment agreement with Arcosa. Arcosa may not be able to retain the services of its executives and key
management in the future. The loss of the services of one or more executives or key members of Arcosa’'s management team could
result in increased costs associated with attracting and retaining areplacement and could disrupt Arcosa’s operations and result in
aloss of revenues.

A material disruption at one or more of Arcosa’s manufacturing facilities or in Arcosa’s supply chain could have a material
adverse effect on us.

Arcosa owns and operates manufacturing facilities of various ages and levels of automated control and relies on a number of
third parties as part of Arcosa’s supply chain, including for the efficient distribution of products to Arcosa's customers. Any
disruption at one of Arcosa’s manufacturing facilities or within Arcosa's supply chain could prevent Arcosafrom meeting demand
or requireArcosato incur unplanned capital expenditures. Older facilitiesare generally lessenergy-efficient and are at anincreased
risk of breakdown or equipment failure, resulting in unplanned downtime. Any unplanned downtime at Arcosa's facilities may
cause delays in meeting customer timelines, result in liquidated damages claims, or cause Arcosa to lose or harm customer
relationships.

Additionally, Arcosa requires specialized equipment to manufacture certain of its products, and if any of its manufacturing
equipment fails, the time required to repair or replace this equipment could be lengthy, which could result in extended downtime
at the affected facility. Any unplanned repair or replacement work can also be very expensive. Moreover, manufacturing facilities
can unexpectedly stop operating because of events unrelated to Arcosa or beyond its control, including fires and other industrial
accidents, floods and other severe weather events, natural disasters, environmental incidents or other catastrophes, utility and
transportation infrastructure disruptions, shortages of raw materials, and acts of war or terrorism. Work stoppages, whether union-
organized or not, can also disrupt operations at manufacturing facilities.

Furthermore, while Arcosais generally responsible for delivering products to the customer, any shortages in trucking capacity,
any increase in the cost thereof, or any other disruption to the highway systems could limit Arcosa’s ability to deliver its products
inatimely manner or at all. Any material disruption at one or more of Arcosa sfacilitiesor those of Arcosa's customersor suppliers
or otherwise within Arcosa's supply chain, whether as a result of downtime, facility damage, an inability to deliver Arcosa’s
products or otherwise, could prevent Arcosa from meeting demand, require Arcosa to incur unplanned capital expenditures, or
cause other material disruption to Arcosa’s operations, any of which could have a material adverse effect on Arcosa's business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

Delays in construction projects and any failure to manage Arcosa’s inventory could have a material adverse effect on us.

Many of Arcosa’s productsare usedin large-scal e construction projectswhich generally requireasignificant amount of planning
and preparation before construction commences. However, construction projects can be delayed and rescheduled for a number of
reasons, including unanticipated soil conditions, adverse weather or flooding, changes in project priorities, financing issues,
difficultiesin complying with environmental and other government regulations or obtaining permits, and additional time required
to acquirerights-of-way or property rights. These delays or rescheduling may occur with too little noticeto allow Arcosato replace
those projects in Arcosa' s manufacturing schedules or to adjust production capacity accordingly, creating unplanned downtime,
increasing costs and inefficiencies in Arcosa's operations, and increased levels of obsolete inventory.

Additionally, Arcosa maintains an inventory of certain products that meet standard specifications and are ultimately purchased
by avariety of end users. Arcosa forecasts demand for these products to ensure that it keeps sufficient inventory levels of certain
productsthat Arcosaexpectsto bein high demand and limit itsinventory for which Arcosadoes not expect much interest. However,
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Arcosa'sforecasts are not always accurate and unexpected changes in demand for these products, whether because of achangein
preferences or otherwise, can lead to increased levels of obsolete inventory. Any delays in construction projects and Arcosa’s
customers' ordersor any inability to manageArcosa’ sinventory could have amaterial adverse effect on Arcosa’ sbusiness, financial
condition, and results of operations.

The seasonality of Arcosa’s business and its susceptibility to severe and prolonged periods of adverse weather and other
conditions could have a material adverse effect on us.

Demand for Arcosa's products in some markets is typically seasonal, with periods of snow or heavy rain negatively affecting
construction activity. For example, sales of Arcosa’s products in Canada and the Northeast and Midwest regions of the U.S. are
somewhat higher from spring through autumn when construction activity isgreatest. Construction activity declinesin thesemarkets
during the winter monthsin particular due to inclement weather, frozen ground, and fewer hours of daylight. Construction activity
can aso be affected in any period by adverse weather conditions such as hurricanes, severe storms, torrential rains and floods,
natural disasters such asfires and earthquakes, and similar events, any of which could reduce demand for Arcosa’s products, push
back existing ordersto later dates or lead to cancellations.

Furthermore, Arcosa’s ability to deliver products on time or at all to Arcosa's customers can be significantly impeded by such
conditions and events described above. Public holidays and vacation periods constitute an additional factor that may exacerbate
certain seasonality effects, as building projects or industrial manufacturing processes may temporarily cease. These conditions,
particularly when unanticipated, can leave both equipment and personnel underutilized.

Additionally, the seasonal nature of Arcosa sbusinesshasledto variationin Arcosa’squarterly resultsinthe past and isexpected
to continue to do so in the future. This general seasonality of Arcosa’s business and any severe or prolonged adverse weather
conditions or other similar events could have a material adverse effect on Arcosa's business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Risks related to Arcosa’s operations outside of the U.S., particularly Mexico, could decrease Arcosa’s profitability.

Arcosa’s operations outside of the U.S. are subject to the risks associated with cross-border business transactions and activities.
Political, legal, trade, economic change or instability, criminal activities or social unrest could limit or curtail Arcosa’'s respective
foreign business activities and operations, including the ability to hire and retain employees. Violence in Mexico associated with
drug trafficking is continuing. Arcosa has not, to date, been materially affected by any of these risks, but Arcosa cannot predict
the likelihood of future effects from such risks or any resulting adverse impact on Arcosa’'s business, results of operations or
financia condition. Arcosa ships raw materials to Mexico and manufactures products in Mexico that are sold in the U.S. or
elsewhere, which are subject to customs and other regul ations and the transportation and import of such products may be disrupted.
Some foreign countries where Arcosa operates have regulatory authorities that regulate products sold or used in those countries.
If Arcosafails to comply with the applicable regulations related to the foreign countries where Arcosa operates, Arcosa may be
unable to market and sell its products in those countries or could be subject to administrative fines or penalties.

In addition, with respect to operationsin Mexico and other foreign countries, unexpected changesin the political environment,
laws, rules, and regulatory requirements; tariffsand other trade barriers, including regulatory initiativesfor buying goods produced
inAmerica; more stringent or restrictivelaws, rulesand regul ations rel ating to labor or the environment; adverse tax conseguences;
price exchange control sand restrictions; regul ations affecting cross-border rail and vehicular traffic; or availability of commodities,
including gasoline and electricity could limit operations affecting production throughput and making the manufacture and
distribution of Arcosa’sproductslesstimely or moredifficult. Furthermore, any material changein the quotas, regulationsor duties
on importsimposed by the U.S. government and agencies or on exports by the government of Mexico or its agencies, could affect
Arcosa’s ability to export products that Arcosa manufactures in Mexico. Because Arcosa has operations outside the U.S., Arcosa
could be adversely affected by final judgments of non-compliance with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt PracticesAct of 1977 (“FCPA™)
or import/export rules and regulations and similar anti-corruption, anti-bribery, or import/export laws of other countries.

Potential expansion of our business may expose us to new business, regulatory, political, operational, financial, and economic
risks associated with such expansion, both inside and outside of the U.S.

We plan in the future to expand our business and operations, and this expansion may involve expansion into markets (either
inside or outside the U.S.) in which we have limited operating experience, including with respect to seeking regulatory approvals
and marketing or selling products. Further, our operationsin new foreign markets may be adversely affected by anumber of factors,
including: general economic conditions and monetary and fiscal policy; financial risks, such aslonger payment cycles, difficulty
incollecting frominternational customers, theeffect of local and regional financial crisesand exposuretoforeign currency exchange
rate fluctuations and controls; multiple, conflicting and changing laws and regulations such as export and import restrictions,
employment laws, regulatory requirements and other governmental approvals, permits and licenses; interest rates and taxation
laws and policies; increased government regulation; social stability; and political, economic, or diplomatic devel opments. Certain
jurisdictions have, from time to time, experienced instances of civil unrest and hostilities, both internally and with neighboring
countries. Rioting, military activity, terrorist attacks, or armed hostilities could cause our operations in such jurisdictions to be
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adversely affected or suspended. Wegenerally do not haveinsurancefor lossesand interruptions caused by terrorist attacks, military
conflicts, and wars.

In addition, anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws may conflict with some local customs and practices in foreign jurisdictions.
Our operationsininternational jurisdictionsmay beadversely affected by regulatory and compliancerisksthat relateto maintaining
accurate information and control over activitiesthat may fall within the purview of the FCPA, including both its books and records
provisions and its anti-bribery provisions. As a result of our policy to comply with the FCPA and similar anti-bribery laws, we
may be at a competitive disadvantage to competitors that are not subject to, or do not comply with, such laws

Any of these factors could significantly harm our potential business or international expansion and our operations and,
consequently, our revenues, costs, results of operations, and financial condition.

Arcosa may incur increased costs due to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates.

Arcosais exposed to risks associated with fluctuations in interest rates and changesin foreign currency exchange rates. Under
varying circumstances, Arcosa may seek to minimize these risks through the use of hedges and similar financial instruments and
other activities, although these measures, if and when implemented, may not be effective. Any material and untimely changesin
interest rates or exchange rates could adversely impact our results of operations, financial condition, or cash flows.

The loss of revenues attributable to one of our customers could negatively impact our revenues and results of operations.

GE, a customer in our Energy Equipment Group, accounted for approximately 19.4% of our consolidated revenues in 2018.
Theloss of revenues attributabl e to this customer could have a material adverse effect on our revenues and results of operations.

Repercussions from terrorist activities or armed conflict could harm Arcosa’s business.

Terrorist activities, anti-terrorist efforts, and other armed conflict involving the U.S. or itsinterests abroad may adversely affect
the U.S. and global economies, potentially preventing Arcosa from meeting its financial and other obligations. In particular, the
negative impacts of these events may affect theindustriesin which Arcosa operates. This could result in delaysin or cancellations
of the purchase of Arcosa’s products or shortages in raw materials, parts or components. Any of these occurrences could have a
material adverse impact on Arcosa’s operating results, revenues, costs, and financial condition.

Arcosa may not consummate acquisitions of new businesses or products which may limit its growth opportunities or could
potentially fail to successfully integrate new businesses or products into its current business which may have a material adverse
effect on Arcosa’s business, operations, or financial condition.

Arcosa expects to routinely engage in the search for growth opportunities, including assessment of merger and acquisition
prospectsin new markets and/or products. However, Arcosamay not be ableto identify and secure suitable opportunities. Arcosa’s
ability to consummate any acquisitions on terms that are favorable to Arcosa may be limited by a number of factors, such as
competition for attractive targets and, to the extent necessary, Arcosa's ability to obtain financing on satisfactory terms, if at all.

In addition, any merger or acquisitioninto which Arcosamay enter (including therecent acquisition of ACG Materials) issubject
tointegration of such business, markets, and/or productsinto Arcosa’ sbusinessesand culture. If any suchintegration isunsuccessful
to any material degree, such lack of success could result in unexpected claims or otherwise have a material adverse effect on
Arcosa's business, operations, or financial condition.

Arcosa’s access to capital may be limited or unavailable due to deterioration of conditions in the global capital markets and/
or weakening of macroeconomic conditions.

Ingeneral, Arcosawill rely inlarge part upon banksand capital marketsto fund itsgrowth strategy. These markets can experience
high levelsof volatility and accessto capital can be constrained for extended periods of time. In addition to conditionsin the capital
markets, a number of other factors could cause Arcosa to incur increased borrowing costs and have greater difficulty accessing
public and private markets for both secured and unsecured debt, which factorsinclude Arcosa’s financia performance. If Arcosa
is unable to secure financing on acceptable terms, Arcosa’'s other sources of funds, including available cash, its committed bank
facility, and cash flow from operations may not be adequate to fund its operations and contractual commitments and refinance
existing debt.

Arcosa's indebtedness restricts its current and future operations, which could adversely affect its ability to respond to
changes in its business and manage its operations.

On November 1, 2018, Arcosa entered into a Credit Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”), by and among Arcosa, as borrower,
and the lenders party thereto. The Credit Agreement includes a number of restrictive covenants that impose significant operating
and financial restrictions on Arcosa, including restrictions on its and its guarantors' ability to, among other things and subject to
certain exceptions, incur or guarantee additional indebtedness, merge or dispose of all or substantially all of its assets, engagein
transactions with affiliates and make certain restricted payments. In addition, the Credit Agreement requires Arcosa to comply
with financial covenants. The Credit Agreement requires that we maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio of no lessthan 2.50
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to 1.00 and maximum leverage ratio of no greater than 3.00 to 1.00, subject to certain exceptions, in each case, for any period of
four consecutive fiscal quarters of Arcosa.

For moreinformation on the restrictive covenantsin the Credit Agreement, see* Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources.” Arcosas ability to comply with these
agreements may be affected by events beyond its control, including prevailing economic, financial, and industry conditions. These
covenants could have an adverse effect on Arcosa's business by limiting its ability to take advantage of financing, merger and
acquisition, or other opportunities. The breach of any of these covenants or restrictions could result in a default under the Credit
Agreement.

Fluctuations in the price and supply of raw materials and parts and components used in the production of Arcosa’s products
could have a material adverse effect on its ability to cost-effectively manufacture and sell Arcosa’s products. In some instances,
Arcosa relies on a limited number of suppliers for certain raw materials, parts and components needed in its production.

A significant portion of Arcosa’sbusiness depends on the adequate supply of numerous specialty and other partsand components
at competitive prices such as flanges for the structural wind towers business. Arcosa's manufacturing operations partially depend
on Arcosa's ability to obtain timely deliveries of raw materias, parts, and components in acceptable quantities and quality from
Arcosa's suppliers. Certain raw materias, parts, and components for Arcosa's products are currently available from a limited
number of suppliers and, as aresult, Arcosamay have limited control over pricing, availability, and delivery schedules. If Arcosa
isunableto purchase a sufficient quantity of raw materials, parts, and components on atimely basis, Arcosacould face disruptions
in its production and incur delays while Arcosa attempts to engage aternative suppliers. Fewer suppliers could result from
unimproved or worsening economic or commercial conditions, potentially increasing Arcosa’s rejections for poor quality and
requiring Arcosato sourceunknown and distant supply alternatives. Any such disruption or conditionscould harm Arcosa sbusiness
and adversely impact Arcosa’s results of operations.

The principal material used in Arcosa’'s manufacturing segments is steel. Market steel prices may exhibit periods of volatility.
Steel pricesmay experiencefurther volatility asaresult of scrap surcharges assessed by steel mills, tariffs, and other market factors.
Arcosaoften uses contract-specific purchasing practices, supplier commitments, contractual price escalation provisions, and other
arrangements with Arcosa's customers to mitigate the effect of this volatility on Arcosa's operating profits for the year. To the
extent that Arcosa does not have such arrangementsin place, achangein stedl prices could materially lower Arcosa's profitability.
In addition, meeting production demands is dependent on Arcosa’s ability to obtain a sufficient amount of steel. An unanticipated
interruption in Arcosa's supply chain could have an adverse impact on both Arcosa's margins and production schedules.

Reductions in the availability of energy supplies or an increase in energy costs may increase Arcosa’s operating costs.

Arcosa uses electricity and various gases, including natural gas, at Arcosa’'s manufacturing facilities and uses diesel fuel in
vehicles to transport Arcosa’s products to customers and to operate its plant equipment. An outbreak or escalation of hostilities
between the U.S. and any foreign power and, in particular, prolonged conflicts could result in a real or perceived shortage of
petroleum and/or natural gas, which could result in an increase in the cost of natural gas or energy in general. Extreme weather
conditions and natural occurrences such as hurricanes, tornadoes, and floods could result in varying states of disaster and a real
or perceived shortage of petroleum and/or natural gas, including rationing thereof, potentially resulting in unavailability or an
increase in natural gas prices, electricity prices, or other general energy costs. Speculative trading in energy futures in the world
markets could also result in an increase in natural gas and general energy cost. Future limitations on the availability (including
limitations imposed by increased regulation or restrictions on rail, road, and pipeline transportation of energy supplies) or
consumption of petroleum products and/or an increase in energy costs, particularly natural gasfor plant operations and diesel fuel
for vehicles and plant equipment, could have an adverse effect upon our ability to conduct Arcosa's business cost effectively.

Shortages of skilled labor could adversely impact Arcosa’s operations.

Arcosa depends on skilled labor in the manufacture, maintenance, and repair of Arcosa's products. Some of Arcosa's facilities
are located in areas where demand for skilled laborers may exceed supply. Shortages of some types of skilled laborers, such as
welders, could restrict Arcosa’s ability to maintain or increase production rates and could increase Arcosa's labor costs.

Some of Arcosa’s employees belong to labor unions and strikes or work stoppages could adversely affect Arcosa’s operations.

Arcosaisaparty to collective bargaining agreements with various labor unions at some of Arcosa’s operationsin the U.S. and
Canada and all of Arcosa’s operations in Mexico. Disputes with regard to the terms of these agreements or Arcosa’s potential
inability to negotiate acceptable contractswith these unionsinthefuture could resultin, among other things, strikes, work stoppages,
or other slowdowns by the affected workers. Arcosa cannot be assured that its relations with its workforce will remain positive or
that union organizers will not be successful in future attempts to organize at some of Arcosa'sfacilities. If Arcosa’s workerswere
to engagein astrike, work stoppage, or other slowdown or other empl oyees were to become unionized or the terms and conditions
infuturelabor agreementswere renegotiated, Arcosacould experience asignificant disruption of itsoperationsand higher ongoing
labor costs. In addition, Arcosa could face higher 1abor costsin the future as a result of severance or other charges associated with
lay-offs, shutdowns, or reductionsin the size and scope of its operations or difficulties of restarting Arcosa’s operations that have
been temporarily shuttered.
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Our business is subject to significant regulatory compliance burdens in the U.S., Mexico, and other countries where we do
business.

We are subject to various governmental regulations in the U.S., Mexico, and other countries where we do business related to
occupational safety and health, labor, and business practices. Failure to comply with current or future regulations could result in
the imposition of substantial fines, suspension of production, alterations of our production processes, cessation of operations, or
other actions which could harm our business.

Although we believe that we are in material compliance with all applicable regulations material to our business operations,
amendments to existing statutes and regulations or adoption of new statutes and regulations could require us to continually alter
our methods of operation and/or discontinue the sale of certain of our products resulting in costs to us that could be substantial.
We may not be able, for financial or other reasons, to comply with applicable laws, rules, regulations, and permit requirements.
Our failureto comply with applicablelaws, rulesor regulations or permit requirements could subject usto civil remedies, including
substantial fines, penalties, and injunctions, as well as possible criminal sanctions, which would, if of significant magnitude,
materially adversely impact our operations and future financial condition.

Violations of or changes in the regulatory requirements applicable to the industries in which Arcosa operates may increase
Arcosa’s operating costs.

Arcosa's Transportation Products Group is subject to regulation by, among others, the U.S. Coast Guard; the U.S. National
Transportation Safety Board; the U.S. Customs Service; the Maritime Administration of the U.S. DOT and private industry
organi zations such as the American Bureau of Shipping. These organizations establish safety criteria, investigate vessel accidents,
and recommend improved safety standards.

Arcosa’'s Construction Products Group is subject to regulation by MSHA, USEPA, and various state agencies.

Arcosa’'s Energy Equipment Group is subject to the regulations by the PHM SA and the FMCSA, both of which are part of the
USDOT. These agencies promulgate and enforce rules and regul ations pertaining, in part, to the manufacture of tanksthat are used
in the storage, transportation and transport arrangement, and distribution of regulated and non-regul ated substances.

Arcosa soperations are al so subject to regul ation of health and saf ety matters by OSHA and MSHA. Arcosabelievesit employs
appropriate precautions to protect its employees and others from workplace injuries and harmful exposure to materials handled
and managed at Arcosa's facilities.

In addition, our business is subject to additional regulatory requirements in Mexico and other countries where we conduct
business.

Future regulatory changes or the determination that Arcosa's products or processes are not in compliance with applicable
requirements, rules, regulations, specifications, standards or product testing criteria might result in additional operating expenses,
administrative fines or penalties, product recalls or loss of businessthat could have amaterial adverse effect on Arcosa's financial
condition and operations. In addition, the impact of a government shutdown could have a material adverse effect on Arcosa's
revenues, profits, and cash flows. Arcosarelies on government personnel to conduct certain routine business processes related to
the inspection and delivery of products that, if disrupted, could have an immediate impact on Arcosa's revenues and business.

Arcosa is subject to health and safety laws and regulations and any failure to comply with any current or future laws or
regulations could have a material adverse effect on us.

Manufacturing and construction sites are inherently dangerous workplaces. Arcosa's manufacturing sites often put Arcosa’'s
employeesand othersin close proximity with large pi eces of mechanized equipment, moving vehicles, chemical and manufacturing
processes, heavy products and other items, and highly regulated materials. As aresult, Arcosais subject to avariety of health and
safety laws and regul ations dealing with occupational health and safety. Unsafe work sites have the potential to increase employee
turnover and rai seArcosa’ soperating costs. Arcosa’ ssafety record can alsoimpact Arcosa’ sreputation. Arcosamaintainsfunctional
groups whose primary purpose is to ensure Arcosa implements effective work procedures throughout Arcosa’s organization and
take other steps to ensure the health and safety of Arcosa's work force, but there can be no assurances these measures will be
successful in preventing injuries or violations of health and safety laws and regulations. Any failure to maintain safe work sites or
violations of applicablelaw could expose Arcosato significant financial losses and reputational harm, aswell ascivil and criminal
liabilities, any of which could have a material adverse effect on Arcosa’s business, financia condition, and results of operations.

Employment related lawsuits could be brought against us, which could be expensive, time consuming, and result in substantial
damages to us and increases in our insurance rates.

Arcosa may become subject to substantial and costly litigation by its former and current employees related to improper
termination of employment, sexual harassment, hostile work environment, and other employment-related claims. Such claims
could divert management’s attention from Arcosa’s core business, be expensive to defend, and result in sizable damage awards
against Arcosa. Arcosa’s current insurance coverage may not apply or may not be sufficient to cover these claims and the coverage
Arcosa may have could be subject to deductibles for which we are responsible. Moreover, in the future, Arcosa may not be able
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to obtaininsurancein amount or scope sufficient to provideit with adequate coverage against potential liabilities. Any employment
related claims brought against Arcosa, with or without merit, could increase employment law insurance rates or prevent Arcosa
from securing coverage, or could harm Arcosa's reputation in the industry and reduce product sales. Arcosa would need to pay
any losses in excess of insurance coverage out of cash reserves, harming Arcosa’s financial condition and adversely affecting
operating results.

Arcosa has potential exposure to environmental liabilities that may increase costs and lower profitability.

Arcosa is subject to comprehensive federal, state, local, and foreign environmental laws and regulations relating to: (i) the
release or discharge of regulated materials into the environment at Arcosa's facilities or with respect to Arcosa's products while
inoperation; (ii) themanagement, use, processing, handling, storage, transport and transport arrangement, and disposal of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste, substances, and materials; and (iii) other activities relating to the protection of human health and the
environment. Such laws and regulations expose Arcosa to liability for its own acts and in certain instances potentially expose
Arcosa to liability for the acts of others. These laws and regulations also may impose liability on Arcosa currently under
circumstances where at the time of the action taken, Arcosa’s acts or those of others complied with then applicable laws and
regulations. In addition, such laws may require significant expenditures to achieve compliance, and are frequently modified or
revised to impose new obligations. Civil and criminal fines and penalties may be imposed for non-compliance with these
environmental laws and regulations. Arcosa’s operationsinvolving hazardous material s also raise potential risks of liability under
common law.

Environmental operating permits are, or may be, required for Arcosa’s operations under these laws and regulations. These
operating permits are subject to modification, renewal, and revocation. Although Arcosa regularly monitors and reviews its
operations, procedures, and policies for compliance with Arcosa’s operating permits and related laws and regulations, the risk of
environmental liability is inherent in the operation of Arcosa's businesses, as it is with other companies operating under
environmental permits.

However, future events, such as changes in, or modified interpretations of, existing environmental laws and regulations or
enforcement policies, or further investigation or evaluation of the potential health hazards associated with the manufacture of
Arcosa's products and related business activities and properties, may give rise to additional compliance and other coststhat could
have amaterial adverse effect on Arcosa’s financial condition and operations.

In addition to environmental laws, the transportation of commodities by rail, barge, or container raises potential risks in the
event of an accident that results in the release of an environmentally sensitive substance. Generally, liability under existing laws
for an accident depends upon causation analysis and the acts, errors, or omissions, if any, of a party involved in the transportation
activity, including, but not limited to, the shipper, the buyer, and the seller of the substances being transported, or the manufacturer
of the barge, container, or its components. Additionally, the severity of injury or property damage arising from an incident may
influence the causation responsibility analysis, exposing Arcosato potentialy greater liability. Under certain circumstances, strict
liability concepts may apply and if Arcosaisfound liablein any such incident, it could have amaterial adverse effect on Arcosa's
financial condition, business and operations.

Responding to claims relating to improper handling, transport, storage, or disposal of hazardous materials could be time
consuming and costly.

We use controlled hazardous materials in our business and generate wastes that are regulated as hazardous wastes under U.S.
federal, state, and local environmental laws and under equivalent provisions of law in those and other jurisdictions in which our
manufacturing facilities are located. Our use of these substances and materials is subject to stringent, and periodically changing,
regulation that can impose costly compliance obligations on us and have the potential to adversely affect our manufacturing
activities. We are also subject to potential liability for claims alleging property damage and personal and bodily injury or death
arising from the use of or exposure to our products, especially in connection with products we manufacture that our customers use
to transport or store hazardous, flammable, toxic, or explosive materials.

Therisk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials cannot be completely eliminated. If an accident with these
substances occurs, we could be held liable for any damages that result, as well as incurring clean-up costs and liabilities, which
can be substantial. Additionally, an accident could damage our facilities, resulting in delays and increased costs.

Our manufacturing plants or other facilities may have unknown environmental conditions that could be expensive and time-
consuming to correct.

There can be no assurance that we will not encounter hazardous environmental conditions at any of our manufacturing plants
or other facilitiesthat may requireustoincur significant clean-up or correction costs. Upon encountering ahazardousenvironmental
condition or receiving anotice of a hazardous environmental condition, we may be required to correct the condition. The presence
of a hazardous environmental condition relating to any of our manufacturing plants or other facilities may require significant
expenditures to correct the environmental condition.
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Business, regulatory, and legal developments regarding climate change may affect the demand for Arcosa’s products or the
ability of Arcosa’s critical suppliers to meet Arcosa’s needs.

Arcosahasfollowed the current debate over climatechangein general, and therel ated science, policy discussion, and prospective
legidation. Some scientific studies have suggested that emissions of certain gases, commonly referred to as greenhouse gases
(“GHGSs") whichinclude carbon dioxide and methane, may be contributing to warming of the Earth’satmosphere and other climate
changes. Additionally, Arcosaperiodically reviewsthe potential challengesand opportunitiesfor Arcosathat climate change policy
and legislation may pose. However, any such challenges or opportunities are heavily dependent on the nature and degree of climate
change legislation and the extent to which it applies to Arcosa’sindustries.

Potential impacts of climate change include physical impacts, such as disruption in production and product distribution due to
impacts from major storm events, shiftsin regional weather patterns and intensities, and potential impactsfrom sealevel changes.
Thereisalso apotential for climate change legidation and regulation that could adversely impact the cost of certain manufacturing
inputs, including the cost of energy and electricity.

In response to an emerging scientific and political consensus, legisation and new rulesto regulate emission of GHGs has been
introduced in numerous state legislatures, the U.S. Congress, and by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Some of these
proposals would require industries to meet stringent new standards that may require substantial reductions in carbon emissions.
WhileArcosacannot assessthedirect impact of these or other potential regulations, Arcosadoesrecognizethat new climate change
protocols could affect demand for its products and/or affect the price of materials, input factors, and manufactured components.
Potential opportunitiescouldincludegreater demand for structural wind towers, while potential challenges could include decreased
demand for certain types of products and higher energy costs. Other adverse consequences of climate change could include an
increased frequency of severe weather events and rising sealevelsthat could affect operations at Arcosa’'s manufacturing facilities
as well as the price of insuring Company assets or other unforeseen disruptions of Arcosa’'s operations, systems, property, or
equipment. Ultimately, when or if these impacts may occur cannot be assessed until scientific analysis and legidative policy are
more devel oped and specific legislative proposals begin to take shape.

Theimpactsof climate changeon our operationsand the Company overall arehighly uncertain and difficult to estimate. However,
climate change | egislation and regulation concerning greenhouse gases could have amaterial adverse effect on our future financial
position, results of operations, or cash flows.

Arcosa may be required to reduce the value of Arcosa’s long-lived assets, including intangible assets, and/or goodwill, which
would weaken Arcosa’s financial results. Further, if the goodwill or intangible assets we have recorded in connection with
acquisitions becomes impaired, it could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations,
shareholder’s equity, and/or share price.

Arcosa periodically evaluates for potential impairment the carrying values of Arcosa's long-lived assets, including intangible
assets, to be held and used. The carrying value of along-lived asset to be held and used is considered impaired when the carrying
value is not recoverabl e through undiscounted future cash flows and the fair value of the asset isless than the carrying value. Fair
valueisdetermined primarily using the anticipated cash flows discounted at arate commensurate with therisksinvolved or market
quotes as available. Impairment losses on long-lived assets held for sale are determined in asimilar manner, except that fair values
are reduced commensurate with the estimated cost to dispose of the assets. In addition, goodwill is required to be tested for
impairment annually or on an interim basis whenever events or circumstances change indicating that the carrying amount of the
goodwill might be impaired.

Certain non-cash impairments may result from a change in our strategic goals, business direction, changes in market interest
rates, or other factors relating to the overall business environment. Any impairment of the value of goodwill or other intangible
assets will result in a non-cash charge against earnings, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition,
results of operations, shareholder’s equity, and/or share price.

Changes in accounting policies or inaccurate estimates or assumptions in the application of accounting policies could adversely
affect the reported value of Arcosa’s assets or liabilities and financial results.

Arcosa'sfinancia statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).
The significant accounting policies, together with the other notesthat follow, are an integral part of the financial statements. Some
of these palicies require the use of estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported value of Arcosa’s assets or liabilities
andfinancial resultsand require management to makedifficult, subjective, and complex judgments about mattersthat areinherently
uncertain. Accounting standard settersand thosewhointerpret the accounting standards (such asthe Financial Accounting Standards
Board, the SEC, and Arcosa’'s independent registered public accounting firm) may amend or even reverse their previous
interpretations or positions on how these standards should be applied. These changes can be difficult to predict and can materialy
impact how Arcosa records and reportsits financial condition and results of operations. In some cases, Arcosa could be required
to apply a new or revised standard retroactively, resulting in the restatement of prior period financial statements. For a further
discussion of someof Arcosa’scritical accounting policiesand standardsand recent accounting changes, see* Item 7. Management’s
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Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations--Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates’ and Note
1“Overview and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies’ of the Notesto Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.

From time to time Arcosa may take tax positions that the Internal Revenue Service, the Servicio de Administracion Tributaria
(“SAT”) in Mexico, or other taxing jurisdictions may contest.

Our subsidiaries have in the past and may in the future take tax positions that the Internal Revenue Service, the SAT, or other
taxing jurisdictions may challenge. Arcosais reguired to disclose to the IRS as part of Arcosa’stax returns particular tax positions
in which Arcosa has a reasonable basis for the position but not a“more likely than not” chance of prevailing. If the IRS, SAT, or
other taxing jurisdictions successfully contests atax position that Arcosatakes, Arcosamay be required to pay additional taxes or
fines which may not have been previously accrued that may adversely affect its results of operations and financia position.

The limited number of customers for certain of Arcosa’s products, the variable purchase patterns of Arcosa’s customers in all
of its segments, and the timing of completion, delivery, and customer acceptance of orders may cause Arcosa’s revenues and
income from operations to vary substantially each quarter, potentially resulting in significant fluctuations in its quarterly
results.

Someof themarketsArcosaserveshavealimited number of customers. Thevolumespurchased by customersin each of Arcosa's
business segmentsvary from year to year, and not all customersmake purchasesevery year. Asaresult, theorder levelsfor Arcosa’'s
products have varied significantly from quarterly period to quarterly period in the past and may continue to vary significantly in
the future. Therefore, Arcosa’s results of operationsin any particular quarterly period may also vary. Asaresult of these quarterly
fluctuations, Arcosa believesthat comparisons of its sales and operating results between quarterly periods may not be meaningful
and should not be relied upon as indicators of future performance.

Some of Arcosa’s products are sold to contractors, distributors, installers, and rental companies who may misuse, abuse,
improperly install, or improperly or inadequately maintain or repair such products, thereby potentially exposing Arcosa to
claims that could increase Arcosa’s costs and weaken Arcosa’s financial condition.

The products Arcosa manufactures are designed to work optimally when properly assembled, operated, installed, repaired, and
maintained. When this does not occur, Arcosa may be subjected to claims or litigation associated with personal or bodily injuries
or death and property damage.

Some of Arcosa’s customers place orders for Arcosa’s products (i) in reliance on their ability to utilize tax benefits or tax credits
such as accelerated depreciation or the production tax credit for renewable energy or (ii) to utilize federal-aid programs that
allow for purchase price reimbursement or other government funding or subsidies, any of which benefits, credits, or programs
could be discontinued or allowed to expire without extension thereby reducing demand for certain of Arcosa’s products.

There is no assurance that the U.S. government will reauthorize, modify, or otherwise not allow the expiration of tax benefits,
tax credits, subsidies, or federal-aid programsthat may include funding of the purchase or purchase price reimbursement of certain
of Arcosa’s products. For example, the federal renewable electricity production tax credit (“the PTC") for wind energy facilities
is being phased out and is scheduled to expire on December 31, 2019. Historically, the PTC has been renewed and expanded
numeroustimes. However, there are no assurancesthat the PTC will continue. Ininstanceswhere such benefits, credits, subsidies,
or programs are allowed to expire or are otherwise modified or discontinued, the demand for Arcosa’s products could decrease,
thereby creating the potential for amaterial adverse effect on Arcosa'sfinancial condition or results of operations and could result
in non-cash impairments on long-lived assets, including intangible assets, and/or goodwill.

U.S. government actions relative to the federal budget, taxation policies, government expenditures, U.S. borrowing/debt ceiling
limits, and trade policies could adversely affect Arcosa’s business and operating results.

Periods of impasse, deadlock, and last minute accords may continue to permeate many aspects of U.S. governance, including
federal government budgeting and spending, taxation, U.S. deficit spending and debt ceiling adjustments, and international
commerce. Such periods could negatively impact U.S. domestic and global financial markets, thereby reducing customer demand
for Arcosa sproductsand servicesand potentially resultinreductionsin Arcosa’ srevenues, increased pricecompetition, or increased
operating costs, any of which could adversely affect Arcosa's business, results of operations, and financial condition. Arcosa
produces many of its products at its manufacturing facilities in Mexico. Arcosa's business benefits from free trade agreements
such asthe North American Free Trade Agreement (“NAFTA"). The U.S., Mexico and Canada have reached apreliminary U.S.-
Mexico-CanadaAgreement (*USMCA™) which would replace NAFTA. The USMCA would maintain duty-free access for many
products. The USMCA still requires approval from the U.S. Congress, Mexico’s Senate and Canada's Parliament before it takes
effect. In addition, the USMCA is still undergoing alegal review which could result in further negotiations and modifications of
certain provisions. It isuncertain what the outcome of the Congressional approval process, legal review and any further negotiations
will be, but it is possible that revisions to USMCA or failure to secure Congressional or other approvals could adversely affect
Arcosa’s existing production operations in Mexico and have a material adverse effect on Arcosa’s business, financial condition,
and results of operations.
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Arcosa’s business is based in part on government-funded infrastructure projects and building activities, and any reductions or
re-allocation of spending or related subsidies in these areas could have an adverse effect on us.

Certain of Arcosa's businesses depend on government spending for infrastructure and other similar building activities. As a
result, demand for some of Arcosa's productsisinfluenced by U.S. federal government fiscal policiesand tax incentives and other
subsidies. Projects in which Arcosa participates may be funded directly by governments or privately-funded, but are otherwise
tied to or impacted by government policies and spending measures.

Government infrastructure spending and governmental policies with respect thereto depend primarily on the availability of
public funds, which isinfluenced by many factors, including governmental budgets; public debt levels; interest rates; existing and
anticipated and actual federal, state, provincial, and local tax revenues; government leadership; and the general political climate,
as well as other general macroeconomic and political factors. In addition, U.S. federal government funds may only be available
based on states’ willingness to provide matching funding. Government spending is often approved only on a short-term basis and
some of the projectsin which Arcosa's products are used require longer-term funding commitments. If government funding is not
approved or funding is lowered as a result of poor economic conditions, lower than expected revenues, competing spending
prioritiesor other factors, it could limit infrastructure proj ectsavail able, increase competition for projects, result in excessinventory,
and decrease sales, al of which could adversely affect the profitability of Arcosa's business.

Additionally, certain regions or states may require or possess the meansto finance only alimited number of large infrastructure
projectsand periods of high demand may be followed by years of little to no activity. There can be no assurances that governments
will sustain or increase current infrastructure spending and tax incentive and other subsidy levels, and any reductions thereto or
delays therein could affect Arcosa’s business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Litigated disputes and other claims could increase Arcosa’s costs and weaken Arcosa’s financial condition.

Arcosa is currently, and may from time to time be, involved in various claims or legal proceedings arising out of Arcosa’s
operations. Adverse judgments and outcomes in some or all of these matters could result in significant losses and costs that could
weaken Arcosa's financia condition. Although Arcosa maintains reserves for its reasonably estimable liability, Arcosa’s reserves
may beinadequate to cover itsportion of claimsor final judgments after taking into consideration rightsin indemnity and recourse
under insurance policies or to third parties as a result of which there could be a material adverse effect on Arcosa’s business,
operations, or financial condition.

Arcosa’s manufacturer’s warranties expose Arcosa to product replacement and repair claims.

Depending on the product, Arcosa warrants its workmanship and certain materials (including surface coatings), parts, and
components pursuant to express limited contractual warranties. Arcosamay be subject to significant warranty claimsin thefuture,
such as multiple claims based on one defect repeated throughout Arcosa’s production process or claims for which the cost of
shipping, repairing, or replacing the defective part, component, or material is highly disproportionate to the original price. These
typesof warranty claimscould result in significant costs associated with product recallsor product shipping, repair, or replacement,
and damage to Arcosa’s reputation.

Defects in materials and workmanship could harm our reputation, expose us to product warranty or product liability claims,
decrease demand for products, or materially harm existing or prospective customer relationships.

A defect in materials or in the manufacturing of our products could result in product warranty and product liability claims,
decrease demand for products, or materially harm existing or prospective customer relationships. These claims may require costly
repairs or replacement and may include cost related to disassembly of our products and transportation of the products from the
field to our facilities and returning the products to the customer, a change in our manufacturing processes, recall of previously
manufactured products, or personal injury claims, which could result in significant expense and materially harm our existing or
prospective customer relationships. Any of the foregoing could materially harm our business, operating results, and financial
condition.

Increasing insurance claims and expenses could lower profitability and increase business risk.

Arcosais subject to potential liability for claims alleging property damage and personal and bodily injury or death arising from
the use of or exposure to Arcosa’s products, especially in connection with products Arcosa manufactures that Arcosa’s customers
use to transport hazardous, flammable, toxic, or explosive materials. As policies expire, premiums for renewed or new coverage
may further increaseand/or requirethat Arcosaincreaseitsself-insured retention or deductibles. Arcosamaintainsprimary coverage
and excess coverage policies. If the number of claims or the dollar amounts of any such claims rise in any policy year, Arcosa
could suffer additional costsassociated with accessing itsexcesscoveragepolicies. Also, anincreaseinthelossamountsattributable
to such claims could expose Arcosa to uninsured damages if Arcosa were unable or elected not to insure against certain claims
because of high premiums or other reasons. While Arcosa's liability insurance coverageisat or above levels based on commercia
normsin Arcosa'sindustries, an unusually largeliability claim or astring of claims coupled with an unusually large damage award
could exceed Arcosa's available insurance coverage. In addition, the availability of, and Arcosa’s ability to collect on, insurance
coverage is often subject to factors beyond Arcosa’s control, including positions on policy coverage taken by insurers. If any of
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Arcosa's third-party insurers fail, cancel, or refuse coverage or otherwise are unable to provide Arcosa with adequate insurance
coverage, then Arcosa’s risk exposure and Arcosa’s operational expenses may increase and the management of its business
operations would be disrupted. Moreover, any accident or incident involving Arcosa’sindustriesin general or Arcosa or Arcosa's
products specifically, even if Arcosais fully insured, contractually indemnified, or not held to be liable, could negatively affect
Arcosa’ sreputation among customers and the public, thereby making it more difficult for Arcosato compete effectively, and could
significantly affect the cost and availability of insurance in the future.

Arcosa’s inability to produce and disseminate relevant and/or reliable data and information pertaining to Arcosa’s business in
an efficient, cost-effective, secure, and well-controlled fashion may have significant negative impacts on confidentiality
requirements and obligations and trade secret or other proprietary needs and expectations and, therefore, Arcosa’s future
operations, profitability, and competitive position.

Arcosa relies on information technology infrastructure and architecture, including hardware, network including the cloud,
software, people, and processesto provide useful and confidential information to conduct Arcosa’sbusinessinthe ordinary course,
including correspondenceand commercia dataand informati oninterchangewith customers, suppliers, legal counsel, governmental
agencies, and consultants and to support assessments and conclusions about future plans and initiatives pertaining to market
demands, operating performance, and competitive positioning. In addition, any material failure, interruption of service,
compromised data security, or cybersecurity threat could adversely affect Arcosa’s relations with suppliers and customers, place
Arcosain violation of confidentiality and data protection laws, rules, and regulations, and result in negative impacts to Arcosa's
market share, operations, and profitability. Security breachesin Arcosa’sinformation technology could result in theft, destruction,
loss, misappropriation, or release of confidential data, trade secrets, or other proprietary or intellectual property that could adversely
impact Arcosa's future results.

Cybersecurity incidents could disrupt our business and result in the compromise of confidential information.

Our businessis at risk from and may be impacted by information security incidents, including attempts to gain unauthorized
access to our confidential data, ransomware, maware, phishing emails, and other electronic security events. Such incidents can
range from individual attempts to gain unauthorized access to our information technology systems to more sophisticated security
threats. They can also result from internal compromises, such as human error, or malicious acts. While we employ a number of
measures to prevent, detect, and mitigate these threats, there is no guarantee such efforts will be successful in preventing a cyber
event. Cybersecurity incidents could disrupt our business and compromise confidential information belonging to us and third
parties.

The use of social and other digital media (including websites, blogs, and newsletters) to disseminate false or misleading data
and information about Arcosa could create volatility in Arcosa’s stock price and losses to Arcosa’s stockholders and could
adversely affect Arcosa’s reputation, products, business, and operating results.

The number of people relying on social and other digital mediato receive news, data, and information isincreasing. Social and
other digital media can be used by anyone to publish false or misleading data and information. The use of social and other digital
mediato publish inaccurate, offensive, and disparaging data and information coupled with the increasingly frequent use of strong
language and hostile expression and the speed of dissemination of information, could obstruct an effective and timely responseto
correct inaccuracies or falsehoods. Such use of social and other digital media could result in unexpected and false or misleading
claims concerning Arcosain general or Arcosa's products, Arcosa’s leadership, or Arcosa's reputation among customers and the
public at large, thereby making it more difficult for Arcosato compete effectively, and potentially having amaterial adverse effect
on Arcosa’s business, operations, or financial condition.

Arcosa’s inability to sufficiently protect Arcosa’s intellectual property rights could adversely affect Arcosa’s business.

Arcosa's patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets, and other intellectual property rights are important to Arcosa’s success.
Arcosarelies on patent, copyright, and trademark law, and trade secret protection and confidentiality and/or license agreements
with others to protect Arcosa’s intellectual property rights. Arcosa's trademarks, service marks, copyrights, patents, and trade
secrets may be exposed to market confusion, commercial abuse, infringement, or misappropriation and possibly challenged,
invalidated, circumvented, narrowed, or declared unenforceable by countries where Arcosa's products and services are made
available, including countries where the laws may not protect Arcosa’s intellectual property rights as fully asin the U.S. Such
instances could negatively impact Arcosa’ scompetitive position and adversely affect Arcosa sbusiness. Additionally, Arcosacould
be required to incur significant expenses to protect its intellectual property rights.

Risks Related to the Separation

Arcosa may not achieve some or all of the expected benefits of the Separation, and the Separation may adversely affect Arcosa’s
business.

Arcosamay not be ableto achievethefull strategic and financial benefits expected to result from the Separation, or such benefits
may be delayed or not occur at al. The Separation is expected to provide the following benefits, among others:
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« dlow Arcosato more effectively pursue its own distinct operating priorities and strategies, enable Arcosa's management
to pursue its own separate opportunities for long-term growth and profitability and to recruit, retain, and motivate
employees pursuant to compensation policies which are appropriate for Arcosas lines of business;

e permit Arcosato concentrate its financial resources solely on its own operations, providing greater flexibility to invest
capital in its businessin atime and manner appropriate for its distinct strategy and business needs; and

« enableinvestors to evaluate the merits, performance, and future prospects of Arcosa's businesses and to invest in
Arcosa separately based on these distinct characteristics.

Arcosamay hot achieve these and other anticipated benefits for avariety of reasons, including, among others: (a) the transition
to being a stand-alone public company has required and will continue to require significant amounts of management’s time and
effort, which may divert management’s attention from operating and growing Arcosa’s business; (b) Arcosa’s stock price may be
more susceptible to market fluctuations and other events particular to one or more of Arcosa’s products than if it were still a part
of Trinity; and (c) Arcosa's operational and financial profile changed such that Arcosa's diversification of revenue sources
diminished, and Arcosa’ sresults of operations, cash flows, working capital, and financing requirements may be subject to increased
volatility than prior to the Separation. Additionally, Arcosa may experience unanticipated competitive devel opments, including
changes in the conditions of Arcosa's infrastructure-related businesses’ markets that could negate the expected benefits from the
Separation. If Arcosa does not realize some or al of the benefits expected to result from the Separation, or if such benefits are
delayed, the business, financia condition, results of operations, and cash flows of Arcosa could be adversely affected.

Arcosa has only operated as an independent, publicly-traded company since November 1, 2018, and its historical financial
information is not necessarily representative of the results that it would have achieved as a separate, publicly-traded company
and therefore may not be a reliable indicator of its future results.

The historical information about Arcosa in this report refers to Arcosa's business as operated by and integrated with Trinity
prior to November 1, 2018. Arcosa s historical financial information included in thisreport is derived from the combined financial
statements and accounting records of Trinity. Accordingly, the historical financial information included in this report does not
necessarily reflect the financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows that Arcosa would have achieved as a separate,
publicly-traded company during the periods presented or those that Arcosa will achieve in the future primarily as a result of the
factors described below:

« Arcosawill need to make significant investmentsto replicate or outsource certain systems, infrastructure, and functional
expertise after its Separation from Trinity. These initiatives to develop Arcosa's independent ability to operate without
access to Trinity’s existing operational and administrative infrastructure will be costly to implement. Arcosamay not be
able to operate its business efficiently or at comparable costs, and its profitability may decline; and

e Arcosahasrelied upon Trinity for working capital requirements and other cash requirements, including in connection
with Arcosa’s previous acquisitions. Subseguent to the Separation, Trinity no longer provides Arcosa with funds to
finance Arcosa's working capital or other cash requirements. Arcosa’s access to and cost of debt financing may be
different from the historical accessto and cost of debt financing under Trinity. Differences in accessto and cost of debt
financing may result in differences in the interest rate charged to Arcosa on financings, as well as the amounts of
indebtedness, types of financing structures, and debt markets that may be available to Arcosa, which could have an
adverse effect on Arcosa's business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

For additional information about the past financial performanceof Arcosa’ sbusinessand the basisof presentation of the historical
combined financial statements of Arcosa’sbusiness, see”Item 6. Selected Financial Data,” and“ [tem 7. Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” aswell as the Consolidated and Combined Financia Statements
and accompanying Notes included el sewhere in this report.

We incur increased costs and are subject to additional regulations and requirements as a public company, which could lower
our profits or make it more difficult to run our business.

As apublic company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses, including costs associated with public
company reporting requirements. We also have incurred and will continue to incur costs associated with the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, and related rules implemented by the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange. The expenses incurred by public
companies generally for reporting and corporate governance purposes have been increasing. These rules and regulations have
and will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more time-consuming and costly.

Trinity may fail to perform under various transaction agreements that were executed as part of the Separation or Arcosa may

fail to have necessary systems and services in place when Trinity is no longer obligated to provide services under the various
agreements.
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The separation and distribution agreement and other agreements entered into in connection with the Separation determined the
allocation of assets and liabilities between the companies following the Separation for those respective areas and include any
necessary indemnifications related to liabilities and obligations. The transition services agreement provides for the performance
of certain services for a period of time after the Separation. Arcosais relying on Trinity to satisfy its performance and payment
obligations under these agreements. If Trinity is unable to satisfy its obligations under these agreements, including its
indemnification obligations, Arcosa could incur operationa difficulties or losses.

If Arcosa does not have in place its own systems and services, and does not have agreements with other providers of these
serviceswhen thetransitional or other agreementsterminate, or if Arcosadoes not implement the new systemsor replace Trinity’s
servicessuccessfully, Arcosamay not be ableto operateitsbusinesseffectively, which could disrupt itsbusinessand have amaterial
adverseeffect onitsbusiness, financial condition, and resultsof operations. These systemsand services may a so bemore expensive
toinstall, implement and operate, or less efficient than the systems and services Trinity is expected to provide during the transition
period.

Potential indemnification liabilities to Trinity pursuant to the separation and distribution agreement could materially and
adversely affect Arcosa’s business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

The separation and distribution agreement, among other things, provides for indemnification obligations designed to make
Arcosafinancially responsiblefor certainliabilitiesthat may exist relatingtoitsbusinessactivities. If Arcosaisrequired toindemnify
Trinity under thecircumstancesset forthinthe separati on and distribution agreement, Arcosamay besubject to substantial liabilities.

Arcosa may be subject to certain contingent liabilities of Trinity following the Separation.

Thereisthepossibility that certainliabilities of Trinity could becomeArcosa sobligations. For example, under theU.S. Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Code”) and the related rules and regulations, each corporation that was a member of the
Trinity U.S. consolidated group during ataxable period or portion of ataxable period ending on or before the effective time of the
distribution isjointly and severaly liable for the U.S. federal income tax liability of the entire Trinity U.S. consolidated group for
that taxable period. Consequently, if Trinity is unable to pay the consolidated U.S. federal income tax liability for a prior period,
Arcosa could be required to pay the entire amount of such tax which could be substantial and in excess of the amount allocated
to it under the tax matters agreement between it and Trinity. Other provisions of federa law establish similar liability for other
matters, including laws governing tax-qualified pension plans as well as other contingent liabilities.

In connection with Arcosa’s Separation from Trinity, Trinity has agreed to indemnify Arcosa for certain liabilities.
However, there can be no assurance that the indemnity will be sufficient to insure Arcosa against the full amount of
such liabilities, or that Trinity’s ability to satisfy its indemnification obligation will not be impaired in the future.

Pursuant to the separation and distribution agreement, Trinity has agreed to indemnify Arcosa for certain pre-Separation
liabilities. However, third parties could also seek to hold Arcosa responsible for liabilities that Trinity has agreed to retain, and
there can be no assurance that the indemnity from Trinity will be sufficient to protect Arcosa against the full amount of such
liabilities, or that Trinity will be ableto fully satisfy itsindemnification obligations. In addition, Trinity’s insurers may attempt to
deny coverage to Arcosa for liabilities associated with certain occurrences of indemnified liabilities prior to the Separation.

If the distribution of shares of Arcosa, together with certain related transactions, does not qualify as a transaction that is
generally tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes, Arcosa's stockholders in the distribution and Trinity could be subject
to significant tax liability and, in certain circumstances, Arcosa could be required to indemnify Trinity for material taxes
pursuant to indemnification obligations under the tax matters agreement.

In connection with the distribution of shares of Arcosa, Trinity received (i) aprivateletter ruling fromthe IRSand (ii) an opinion
of each of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, tax counsel to Trinity, and KPMG, tax advisor to Trinity, substantially to
the effect that, among other things, the distribution, together with certain related transactions, qualifies astax-freefor U.S. federal
income tax purposes under Sections 368(a)(1)(D) and 355 of the Code. The IRS ruling and the tax opinionsrely on certain facts,
assumptions, representations, and undertakings from Trinity and Arcosa, including those regarding the past and future conduct of
the companies’ respective businesses and other matters, and the tax opinionsrely on the IRS ruling. Notwithstanding the IRSruling
and the tax opinions, the IRS could determine that the distribution or any such related transaction is taxable if it determines that
any of these facts, assumptions, representations, or undertakings are not correct or have been violated, or that the distribution
should be taxable for other reasons, including if the IRS were to disagree with the conclusions in the tax opinions that are not
covered by the IRS ruling.

If the distribution is determined to be taxable for U.S. federal income tax purposes, a stockholder of Trinity that has received
shares of Arcosa common stock in the distribution would be treated as having received a distribution of property in an amount
equal to the fair value of such Arcosa shares on the distribution date and could incur significant income tax liabilities. Such
distribution would be taxable to such stockholder as a dividend to the extent of Trinity’s current and accumulated earnings and
profits, including Trinity’staxable gain, if any, on the distribution. Any amount that exceeded Trinity’s earnings and profitswould
be treated first as a non-taxable return of capital to the extent of such stockholder’s tax basis in its shares of Trinity stock, with
any remaining amount being taxed as capital gain. Trinity would recognize ataxable gainin an amount equal to the excess, if any,
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of the fair market value of the shares of Arcosa common stock held by Trinity on the distribution date over Trinity’stax basisin
such shares.

Under the tax matters agreement between Trinity and Arcosa, Arcosa may be required to indemnify Trinity against any taxes
imposed on Trinity that arise from the failure of the distribution to qualify astax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposeswithin
the meaning of Section 355 of the Code or the failure of certain related transactions to qualify for tax-free treatment, to the extent
such failure to qualify is attributable to actions, events or transactions relating to Arcosa’s stock, assets or business or any breach
of Arcosa's representations, covenants or obligations under the tax matters agreement (or any other agreement Arcosa entersinto
in connection with the separation and distribution), the materials submitted to the IRS in connection with the request for the IRS
ruling or the representation letters provided by Arcosain connection with the tax opinions. Events triggering an indemnification
obligation under the tax matters agreement include events occurring after the distribution that cause Trinity to recognize a gain
under Section 355(e) of the Code. Such tax amounts could be significant, and Arcosa’s obligations under the tax matters agreement
will not be limited by amount or subject to any cap. If Arcosais required to indemnify Trinity under the circumstances set forth
above or otherwise under the tax matters agreement, Arcosa may be subject to substantial liabilities, which could materially
adversely affect its financial position.

Arcosa may not be able to engage in certain corporate transactions after the Separation.

To preserve the tax-free treatment to Trinity and its stockholders of the distribution and certain related transactions, under the
tax matters agreement between Arcosa and Trinity, Arcosawill be restricted from taking any action following the distribution that
prevents the distribution and related transactions from being tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Under the tax matters
agreement, for the two-year period following the distribution, Arcosawill be prohibited, except in certain circumstances, from:

e entering into any transaction resulting in the acquisition of 40 percent or more of itsstock or substantially all of its assets,
whether by merger or otherwise;

e merging, consolidating, or liquidating;

e issuing equity securities beyond certain thresholds;

e repurchasing its capital stock unless certain condition are met; and

e ceasing to actively conduct its business.

These restrictions may limit Arcosa’s ability to pursue certain strategic transactions or other transactionsthat it may believeto
beinthebest interestsof itsstockholdersor that might increasetheval ue of itsbusiness. In addition, under thetax mattersagreement,
Arcosawill berequired to indemnify Trinity against any such tax liabilitiesasaresult of the acquisition of Arcosa’s stock or assets,
even if Arcosadid not participate in or otherwise facilitate the acquisition.

The Separation and related internal restructuring transactions may expose Arcosa to potential liabilities arising out of state
and federal fraudulent conveyance laws and legal dividend requirements.

The Separation could be challenged under various state and federal fraudulent conveyance laws. Fraudulent conveyances or
transfers are generally defined to include transfers made or obligations incurred with the actual intent to hinder, delay, or defraud
current or future creditors or transfers made or obligationsincurred for less than reasonably equivalent value when the debtor was
insolvent, or that rendered the debtor insolvent, inadequately capitalized or unable to pay its debts asthey become due. An unpaid
creditor or an entity acting on behalf of a creditor (including, without limitation, atrustee or debtor-in-possession in a bankruptcy
by Trinity or Arcosa or any of their respective subsidiaries) may bring alawsuit aleging that the Separation or any of the related
transactions constituted a constructive fraudulent conveyance. If a court accepts these allegations, it could impose a number of
remedies, including, without limitation, voiding the distribution and returning Arcosa’ sassets or Arcosa’s sharesand subject Trinity
and/or Arcosato liability.

The distribution of Arcosa common stock is also subject to state corporate distribution statutes. Under Delaware General
Corporation Law (“DGCL"), acorporation may only pay dividendsto its stockholderseither (i) out of its surplus (net assets minus
capital) or (ii) if there is no such surplus, out of its net profits for the fiscal year in which the dividend is declared and/or the
preceding fiscal year. Although Trinity made the distribution of Arcosa common stock entirely out of surplus, Arcosa or Trinity
cannot ensure that a court would reach the same conclusion in determining the availability of surplus for the separation and the
distribution to Trinity’s stockhol ders.

After the Separation, certain of Arcosa’s executive officers and directors may have actual or potential conflicts of interest
because of their previous positions at Trinity.

Because of their former positionswith Trinity, certain of Arcosa’ sexecutive officersand directorsown equity interestsin Trinity.
Although Arcosa's Board of Directors consists of a mgjority of directors who are independent, and Arcosa’'s executive officers
who were former employees of Trinity ceased to be employees of Trinity upon the Separation, some of Arcosa’s executive officers
and directorswill continueto have afinancial interest in sharesof Trinity common stock. Continuing ownership of sharesof Trinity
common stock and equity awards could create, or appear to create, potential conflicts of interest if Arcosaand Trinity pursue the
same corporate opportunities or face decisions that could have different implications for Trinity and Arcosa.
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Arcosa may have received better terms from unaffiliated third parties than the terms it receives in its agreements with Trinity.

The agreements Arcosa entered into with Trinity in connection with the Separation, including the separation and distribution
agreement, transition services agreement, tax matters agreement, intellectual property matters agreement, and employee matters
agreement, were prepared in the context of Arcosa’'s Separation from Trinity while Arcosawas still awholly-owned subsidiary of
Trinity. Accordingly, during the period in which the terms of those agreements were prepared, Arcosa did not have a board of
directors or management team that wasindependent of Trinity. Whilethe parties believe thetermsreflect arm’s-length terms, there
can be no assurance that Arcosa would not have received better terms from unaffiliated third parties than the termsit receivesin
its agreements with Trinity.

Risks Related to Arcosa Common Stock
Arcosa’s stock price may fluctuate significantly.

We cannot predict the prices at which shares of Arcosa common stock may trade. The trading and market price of Arcosa
common stock may fluctuate significantly due to a number of factors, some of which may be beyond Arcosa's control, including:

e Arcosd's quarterly or annual earnings, or those of other companiesin itsindustry;

e thefailure of securities analysts to cover Arcosa common stock as a stand-al one company;

e actual or anticipated fluctuations in Arcosa's operating results;

e changesin earnings estimates by securities analysts or Arcosa’s ability to meet those estimates;

e Arcosd’s ability to meet its forward looking guidance;

e the operating and stock price performance of other comparable companies;

« overdl market fluctuations and domestic and worldwide economic conditions; and

e other factors described in these “ Risk Factors’ and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Stock marketsin general have experienced volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of a particular
company. Broad market and industry factors may materially harm the market price of Arcosa’s common stock, regardless of
Arcosa soperating performance. Inthepast, following periodsof volatility inthemarket price of acompany’ ssecurities, sharehol der
derivativelawsuitsand/or securitiesclassactionlitigation hasoften beeninstituted against that company. Suchlitigation, if instituted
against us, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources.

In addition, investors may have difficulty accurately valuing Arcosa common stock. Investors often value companies based on
the stock prices and results of operations of other comparable companies. Investors may find it difficult to find comparable
companies and to accurately value Arcosacommon stock, which may cause the trading price of Arcosacommon stock to fluctuate.

Future sales by us or our existing stockholders may cause our stock price to decline.

Any transfer or sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market or the perception that such transfer or
sales might occur may cause the market price of our common stock to decline, particularly when our trading volumes arelow. As
of January 31, 2019, we had an aggregate of 48.8 million shares of our common stock issued and outstanding. Shareswill generally
be freely tradeable without restriction or further registration under the Securities Act, except for shares owned by one of our
“affiliates,” asthat termisdefinedin Rule 405 under the SecuritiesAct. Sharesheld by “ affiliates” may be sold inthe public market
if registered or if they qualify for an exemption from registration under Rule 144.

We also have alarge stockholder base of institutional investors with significant holdings of Arcosaasaresult of the Separation,
and it is not possible to predict whether or not those stockholders could wish to sell their shares of our common stock. The sales
of significant amounts of shares of our common stock or the perception in the market that this could occur may resultinthelowering
of the market price of our common stock.

Arcosa cannot guarantee the timing, amount, or payment of dividends on its common stock.

Thetiming, declaration, amount, and payment of future dividendsto Arcosa sstockholdersfallswithinthe discretion of Arcosa's
Board of Directors. The Board of Directors’ decisions regarding the payment of future dividends will depend on many factors,
such asArcosa sfinancial condition, earnings, capital requirements, debt service obligations, covenantsrelated to our debt service
obligations, industry practice, legal requirements, regulatory constraints, and other factors that the Board of Directors deems
relevant. Arcosa's ability to pay future dividends will depend on its ongoing ability to generate cash from operations and access
to the capital markets. Arcosa cannot guarantee that it will continue to pay any dividend in the future.

Your percentage of ownership in Arcosa may be diluted in the future.

Your percentage ownership in Arcosamay be diluted because of equity issuances for acquisitions, capital market transactions,
or otherwise, including, without limitation, equity awards that Arcosa grants to its directors, officers, and employees.

In addition, Arcosa’s restated certificate of incorporation authorizes Arcosa to issue, without the approval of Arcosa’s
stockholders, one or more classes or series of preferred stock having such designation, powers, preferences, and relative,
participating, optional, and other specia rights, including preferences over Arcosa common stock respecting dividends and
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distributions, as Arcosa's Board of Directors generally may determine. The terms of one or more classes or series of preferred
stock could dilute the voting power or reduce the value of Arcosa common stock. For example, Arcosa could grant the holders of
preferred stock the right to elect some number of Arcosa’sdirectorsin al events or on the happening of specified eventsor to veto
specified transactions. Similarly, the repurchase or redemption rights or liquidation preferences Arcosa could assign to holders of
preferred stock could affect the residual value of Arcosa common stock.

Certain provisions in Arcosa’s restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, and of Delaware law,
may prevent or delay an acquisition of Arcosa, which could decrease the trading price of the common stock.

Arcosa srestated certificateof incorporation, amended and restated bylawsand Del awarel aw contain provisionsthat areintended
to deter coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids by making such practices or bids unacceptably expensiveto the
bi dder and to encourage prospectiveacquirersto negotiatewith Arcosa sBoard of Directorsrather thanto attempt ahostiletakeover.
These provisions include, among others:

¢ rulesregarding how stockholders may present proposals or nominate directors for election at stockholder meetings;

e theright of Arcosa's Board of Directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval;

« the ability of Arcosa’s directors, and not stockholders, to fill vacancies (including those resulting from an enlargement
of the Board of Directors) on Arcosa's Board of Directors,

« theinitial division of Arcosa's Board of Directorsinto three classes of directors, with each class serving astaggered term;
and

e aprovision that directors serving on aclassified board may be removed by stockholders only for cause.

In addition, Arcosa is subject to Section 203 of the DGCL. Section 203 provides that, subject to limited exceptions, persons
that (without prior board approval) acquire, or are affiliated with a person that acquires, more than 15 percent of the outstanding
voting stock of a Delaware corporation shall not engage in any business combination with that corporation, including by merger,
consolidation or acquisitions of additional shares, for a three-year period following the date on which that person or its affiliate
becomes the holder of more than 15 percent of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock.

Arcosa believes these provisions will protect its stockholders from coercive or otherwise unfair takeover tactics by requiring
potential acquirersto negotiate with Arcosa's Board of Directors and by providing Arcosa’s Board of Directorswith moretimeto
assess any acquisition proposal. These provisions are not intended to make Arcosa immune from takeovers. However, these
provisionswill apply evenif the offer may be considered beneficial by some stockholdersand could delay or prevent an acquisition
that Arcosa’'s Board of Directors determinesis not in the best interests of Arcosa and its stockholders. These provisions may also
prevent or discourage attempts to remove and replace incumbent directors.

In addition, an acquisition or further issuance of Arcosa’s stock could trigger the application of Section 355(e) of the Code.
Under the tax matters agreement, Arcosa would be required to indemnify Trinity for the tax imposed under Section 355(€) of the
Code resulting from an acquisition or issuance of Arcosa stock, even if Arcosa did not participate in or otherwise facilitate the
acquisition, and thisindemnity obligation might discourage, delay or prevent achange of control that you may consider favorable.

Arcosa's restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain exclusive forum provisions that could limit an Arcosa
stockholder’s ability to choose a judicial forum that it finds favorable for certain disputes with Arcosa or its directors, officers,
stockholders, employees, or agents, and may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims.

Arcosa's restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide that unless the Board of Directors otherwise determines, the
Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusiveforum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought
on behalf of Arcosa, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer, stockholder,
employee, or agent of Arcosato Arcosa or Arcosa's stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim against Arcosaor any director,
officer, stockholder, employee, or agent of Arcosa arising out of or relating to any provision of the DGCL or Arcosa’s restated
certificate of incorporation or bylaws, or (iv) any action asserting a claim against Arcosa or any director, officer, stockholder,
employee or agent of Arcosa governed by the internal affairs doctrine, in al cases subject to the court having subject matter
jurisdiction and personal jurisdiction over an indispensable party named as a defendant. These exclusive forum provisions may
limit a stockholder’s ability to bring aclaim in ajudicial forum that it finds favorable for such disputes and may discourage these
types of lawsuits. Alternatively, if acourt were to find the exclusive forum provisions inapplicable to, or unenforceablein respect
of, one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings, Arcosamay incur additional costs associated with resolving such
meatters in other jurisdictions.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.
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Item 2. Properties.

Arcosa's corporate headquartersislocated in Dallas, Texas. We principally operate in variouslocations throughout the U.S. and
in Mexico. Our facilities are considered to be in good condition, well maintained, and adequate for our purposes. Information
about the aggregate square footage of our facilities as of December 31, 2018 is as follows:

Approximate Square Feet® Approximate Square Feet Located In®
Owned Leased us Mexico Canada
Construction Products Group........ccceeeereeeeeseseeseenes 625,300 61,100 636,200 — 50,200
Energy EQUIPMENt GroUP. ....ccceoveeeeeeeereree e sesee e 2,265,300 448,500 1,679,100 1,034,700 —
Transportation Products Group ........cccceeeeerereeereneenns 1,505,100 116,300 1,621,400 — —
Corporate and Business Unit Offices®....................... 20,200 50,200 50,200 20,200 —

4,415,900 676,100 3,986,900 1,054,900 50,200

@ Excludes non-operating facilities.
@ Includes approximately 39,800 square feet of corporate office space under an 11 year lease that commenced on January 1,
2019.

Our estimated wei ghted average production capacity utilization for thetwel ve month period ended December 31, 2018isreflected
by the following percentages:

Production
Capacit
Utilized®
Construction Products Group® ...........ccccveereune. 75%
Energy EQUIpMENt Group ........coeeereereereeieeieeeenns 70%
Transportation Products Group..........ccoeeveeereenenne 55%

@ Excludes non-operating facilities.
@ Excludes facilities acquired on December 5, 2019 as a result of the ACG acquisition.

In our Construction Products Group, the Company estimates proven and probable aggregate reserves based on the results of
drill sampling and geological analysis. Asof December 31, 2018, the Company estimates that its proven and probable aggregate
reserves from properties owned or leased prior to the acquisition of ACG exceed 300 million tons. Based on current production
levels of approximately 9 million tons produced during the year ended December 31, 2018 from our legacy business, we estimate
an average reserve life of at least 33 years across our legacy owned and leased mines. This estimate of reserve life varies across
regionsand plant sites. Wehave not yet finalized our evaluation of thereservesrel ated to newly acquired owned or |eased properties
from the ACG acquisition.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

Arcosais, from time to time, a party to various legal actions and claims incidental to its business, including those arising out
of commercial disputes, aleged product defect and/or warranty claims, intellectual property matters, personal injury claims,
environmental issues, employment and/or workplace-related matters, and various governmental regulations. It is the opinion of
Arcosathat the outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse impact on the consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows of Arcosa. See Note 14 of the Consolidated and Combined Financia Statements for further information
regarding legal proceedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

The information concerning mine safety violations or other regulatory matters required by Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank
Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 104 of Regulation S-K isincluded in Exhibit 95 to this Form 10-K.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Shares of our common stock are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under theticker symbol “ACA,” which began “regular-
way” trading on November 1, 2018 immediately following the Separation. Our transfer agent and registrar is American Stock
Transfer & Trust Company.

Holders

At December 31, 2018, we had 1,681 record holders of common stock. Because many of our shares are held by brokers and
other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total humber of stockholders represented by these
recordholders.

Performance Graph

The following Performance Graph and related information shall not be deemed ““soliciting material™ or to be “filed”” with the
SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference into such
filing.

Thefollowing graph comparesthe Company's cumulativetotal stockholder return during the two-month period from November
1, 2018 (beginning of “regular-way” trading) through December 31, 2018 with the S& P Small Cap 600 Index and the S& P Small
Cap 600 Construction & Engineering Industry Index. The datain the graph assumes $100 wasinvested in each index on November
1, 2018 and assumes the reinvestment of dividends.

Copyright Standard and Poor’s, Inc. Used with permission. All rights reserved.

11/1/2018 11/30/18 12/31/2018
ATCOSA, INC. ..ttt sttt $ 100 $ 9 $ 101
S&P Small Cap 600 INAEX .....ccueiueriiiiierie ettt $ 100 $ 100 $ 88
S& P Small Cap 600 Construction & Engineering Industry Index...........c.cceuun.... $ 100 $ 97 $ 87
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

This table provides information with respect to purchases by the Company of shares of its common stock during the quarter
ended December 31, 2018:

Total Number of Maximum Number (or

Shares (or Units) Approximate Dollar

Purchased as Part Value) of Shares (or
Number of Average Price of Publicly Units) that May Yet Be

Shares Paid per Announced Plans Purchased Under the

Period Purchased @ Share @ or Programs @ Plans or Programs @
October 1, 2018 through October 31, 2018 — % — — % —
November 1, 2018 through November 30, 2018 — % — — % —
December 1, 2018 through December 31, 2018 136,037 $ 24.40 124,272 $ 47,002,522
Total 136,037 $ 24.40 124272 $ 47,002,522

@ These columnsinclude the following transactions during the three months ended December 31, 2018: (i) the surrender to

the Company of 11,765 shares of common stock to satisfy tax withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of
restricted stock issued to employees and (ii) the purchase of 124,272 shares of common stock on the open market as part
of the stock repurchase program.

@ In December 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized anew $50 million share repurchase program that expires

December 31, 2020.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following financia information for the five years ended December 31, 2018 has been derived from our Consolidated and
Combined Financial Statements. This information should be read in conjunction with Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operationsand the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statementsand notesthereto included
elsewhere herein.

The selected historical consolidated and combined financia information as of December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 and for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, 2016, and 2015 has been derived from Arcosa's audited Consolidated and Combined
Financial Statements. The selected historical combined financial information as of December 31, 2015 and as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2014 hasbeen derived from Trinity’ sunderlying financial recordsand, in the opinion of Arcosa’smanagement,
has been prepared on the same basis as the information included in the table derived from Arcosa’s audited Consolidated and
Combined Financia Statements.

The selected historical combined financial dataincludes expenses of Trinity that were allocated to Arcosafor certain corporate
functions including information technology, finance, legal, insurance, compliance, and human resources activities. These costs
may not be representative of the future costs we will incur as an independent, publicly-traded company.
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Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

(in millions, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

REVENUES.......c.ooueevieteiie it st seeeteste e seesee e eresresassresbesaesaeseenes $ 14604 $ 14624 $ 1,7040 $ 21404 $ 1,966.8
Income before iNCOME taxeS.........ccuverveveeereeceeeeeiee e 95.0 130.1 197.2 219.2 241.5
Provision for inCOME taXEeS...........ccuvereeeviieeireieeseieesesee s 19.3 40.4 74.2 84.2 85.0
A< T el 0T $ 757 $ 89.7 $ 1230 $ 1350 $ 1565

2 S o $ 155 % 184 $ 252 % 277 $ 3.21
D1 1= OSSR $ 154 % 184 $ 252 % 277 $ 3.21
Weighted average number of shares outstanding®:
BaSIC....ei et nenas 48.8 48.8 48.8 48.8 48.8
DIlULEd.......coeeeecteee et 48.9 48.8 48.8 48.8 48.8
Dividends declared per common share..............ccccoeevevevevenee. $ 005 $ — 9 — 9 — $ —
Balance Sheet Data:
TOtAl ASSELS......eciviieeiteeee st ne $ 21722 $ 16025 $ 15263 $ 1603.7 $ 16875
D= o S $ 1855 $ 05 $ — $ 05 $ 0.7

@ For periods prior to the Separation, the denominator for basic and diluted net income per common share was calculated using
the 48.8 million shares of common stock outstanding immediately following the Separation.

The Tax Cutsand JobsAct (the"Act”) was enacted on December 22, 2017. The Act reduced the U.S. federal corporate income
tax rate from 35% to 21%, required companies to pay a one-time transition tax on earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries that
were previously tax deferred and creates new taxes on certain foreign-sourced earnings. For the year ended December 31, 2017,
we recoghized a provisional benefit of $6.2 million. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we finalized the accounting for
the enactment of the Act and recorded an additiona $1.5 million benefit, primarily as aresult of the true-up of our deferred taxes.

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers,” (ASU 2014-09) which provides common revenue recognition guidance for U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. The primary impact to the adoption of ASU 2014-09 is a change in the timing of revenue recognition for our wind
towersand certain utility structure product lineswithin our Energy Equipment Group. Previoudly, the Company recognized revenue
when the product was delivered. Under ASU 2014-09, revenueis recognized over time as the products are manufactured. Revenue
recognition policies in our other business segments remain substantially unchanged. See Note 1 “Overview and Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies’ of the Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements included in this report for
further details.

Arcosa sgoodwill wastested for impairment at thereporting unit level for each of thefiveyearsinthe period ended December 31,
2018. Accordingly, we determined that the goodwill associated with certain operations included in the Energy Equipment Group
wasimpaired initsentirety and recorded a pre-tax impairment charge of $89.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. See
Note 6 “Goodwill” of the Notes to the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A™) isintended to provide a
reader of our financial statements with a narrative from the perspective of our management on our financial condition, results of
operations, liquidity, and certain other factorsthat may affect our future results. Our MD& A is presented in the following sections:

. Separation from Trinity

. Basis of Historical Presentation

. Executive Overview

. Results of Operations

. Liquidity and Capital Resources

. Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
. Critical Accounting Poalicies and Estimates

. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

. Forward-Looking Statements

Our MD& A should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements and related Notesin Item
8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data," of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Separation from Trinity

Arcosais a Delaware corporation and was incorporated in 2018 in connection with the Separation of Arcosa from Trinity on
November 1, 2018 as an independent, publicly-traded company, listed on the New York Stock Exchange. At the time of the
Separation, Arcosa consisted of certain of Trinity’s former construction products, energy equipment, and transportation products
businesses. The Separation was effectuated through a pro rata dividend distribution on November 1, 2018 of all of the then-
outstanding shares of common stock of Arcosato the holders of common stock of Trinity as of October 17, 2018, the record date
for the distribution. Trinity stockholders received one share of Arcosa common stock for every three shares of Trinity common
stock held as of the record date. The transaction was structured to be tax-free to both Trinity and Arcosa stockholders for U.S.
federal income tax purposes.

Basis of Historical Presentation

The accompanying Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements present our historical financial position, results of
operations, comprehensive income/loss, and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.
(“GAAP’). Thecombinedfinancial statementsfor periodsprior to the Separationwerederived from Trinity’s consolidated financial
statements and accounting records and prepared in accordance with GAAP for the preparation of carved-out combined financial
statements. Through the date of the Separation, all revenues and costs as well as assets and liabilities directly associated with
Arcosa have been included in the combined financial statements. Prior to the Separation, the combined financial statements also
included allocations of certain selling, engineering, and administrative expenses provided by Trinity to Arcosa and allocations of
related assets, liabilities, and the Former Parent’s net investment, as applicable. The allocations were determined on a reasonable
basis; however, the amounts are not necessarily representative of the amounts that would have been reflected in the financial
statements had the Company been an entity that operated independently of Trinity during the applicable periods. Related party
allocations prior to the Separation, including the method for such allocation, are described further in Note 1, “Overview and
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies’ to the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.

Following the Separation, the consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Arcosa and those of our wholly-owned
subsidiaries and no longer include any allocations from Trinity. Trinity will continue to provide some general and administrative
functions on atransitional basis for afee following the Separation.

Executive Overview
Financial Operations and Highlights

The Company’s revenues for the year ended December 31, 2018 were $1.5 billion, essentially flat compared to the year ended
December 31, 2017. Operating profit for year ended December 31, 2018 totaled $94.9 million, representing a decrease of 27.9%
compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 primarily due to lower volumes in our Energy Equipment Group combined with
an impairment charge of $23.2 million recognized in the third quarter in our Energy Equipment Group on businesses that were
subsequently divested. Revenues in our Construction Products Group increased for the year ended December 31, 2018 primarily
due to increased volumes driven by 2017 and 2018 acquisitions. Operating profit in our Construction Products Group decreased
for the year ended December 31, 2018 primarily due to lower volumes in our legacy construction aggregates businesses and
increased costs related to the fair value markup of acquired inventory. The Energy Equipment Group recorded lower revenues and
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operating profit for the year ended December 31, 2018 resulting primarily from aplanned reduction in volumesin our wind towers
product line, partially offset by anincreasein revenuesfrom our other product lines, and theimpact of the $23.2 millionimpairment
charge. Revenues and operating profit from the Transportation Products Group were higher for the year ended December 31, 2018
when compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 primarily related to increased volumes in both our inland barge and steel
components product lines. The effect of the required adoption of new revenue accounting rules effective January 1, 2018 wasto
increase revenues and operating profit by $24.1 million and $6.2 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2018
within our Energy Equipment Group. See Note 1 of the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.

Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses decreased by 5.6% for the year ended December 31, 2018, when compared
to the prior year primarily due to lower compensation related expenses

Acquisition of ACG Materials

In December 2018, we completed the stock acquisition of ACG Materias ("ACG"), a producer of specialty materials and
aggregates, which is included in our Construction Products Group. The purchase price of $309.1 million was funded with a
combination of cash on-hand and a $180 million borrowing under the Company's credit facility. See Note 2 of the Consolidated
and Combined Financial Statements.

Revolving Credit Facility

On November 1, 2018, the Company entered into a$400.0 million unsecured revolving credit facility that maturesin November
2023. Therevolving credit facility requiresthe maintenance of certain ratios related to leverage and interest coverage. Borrowings
under the credit facility bear interest at adefined index rate plusamargin and are guaranteed by certain wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company. As of December 31, 2018, we had $180.0 million of outstanding loans borrowed under the facility and there were
approximately $47.7 million in letters of credit issued, leaving $172.3 million available for borrowing. See Note 7 of the
Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.

Other Acquisitions and Divestitures

In October and November 2018, the Company completed the divestiture of certain businesses whose revenues, approximately
$20 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, are included in the Other component of the Energy Equipment Group. The net
proceeds from these divestitures were not significant. Prior to the sale, the Company recognized a pre-tax impairment charge of
$23.2 million on these businesses. See Note 2 of the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.

In March 2018, we completed the acquisition of certain assets of an inland barge business.
Unsatisfied Performance Obligations (Backlog)

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 our backlog of firm orders was as follows:

December 31, December 31,

2018 2017
(in millions)
Energy Equipment Group:
Wind towers and ULty SEIUCLUMES .......c.ceiiieieiririeie et $ 633.1 $ 899.0
L@ 107 ST TSSOSO P PR OTRPTRTPTRPRN $ 55.1 *

Transportation Products Group:
F g7 o o= =SSOSR $ 2305 $ 98.2

* Prior to January 2018, contractswithin the Other businessesof the Energy Equipment Group did not meet the Company'shistorical
definition of backlog, which wasfirm, non-cancellable orders. With the adoption in January 2018 of ASU 2014-09, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers, these amounts are now included in backlog due to the fact that they contain substantive cancellation
penalties.

Approximately 64% percent of unsatisfied performance obligations for our wind towers and utility structures in our Energy
Equipment Group are expected to be delivered during the year ending December 31, 2019 with the remainder to be delivered
through 2020. All of the unsatisfied performance obligations for our other business lines in our Energy Equipment Group are
expected to be delivered during the year ending December 31, 2019. Approximately 94% percent of unsatisfied performance
obligations for barges in our Transportation Products Group are expected to be delivered during the year ending December 31,
2019 with the remainder to be delivered through 2020.

30



Results of Operations

The following discussion of Arcosa’s results of operations should be read in connection with “Forward-L ooking Statements’
and “Risk Factors’. These items provide additional relevant information regarding the business of Arcosa, its strategy and various

industry conditions which have a direct and significant impact on Arcosa's results of operations, as well as the risks associated
with Arcosa’s business.

Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016

Overall Summary

Revenues
Year Ended December 31, 2018
Revenues Percent Change
External Intersegment Total 2018 versus 2017
($ in millions)
Construction ProductS Group.............coeeeeeeerereeeesesnerennnes $ 2923 % — $ 292.3 129 %
Energy EQUIPMENt GIroUP ......ccoveerieeriererienese e 776.7 34 780.1 (7.6)
Transportation Products Group..........coeereereesenesienenns 391.4 — 391.4 7.7
Segment Totals before Eliminations...........ccccvveveeneee 1,460.4 3.4 1,463.8 (0.2)
EliMINationS .......cccovieiisesie e — (3.4 (3.4
Consolidated Total...........cccovevvuereeeeeieeeeeeee e 3 1,460.4 $ — 3 1,460.4 (0.2)
Year Ended December 31, 2017
Revenues Percent Change
External | ntersegment Total 2017 versus 2016
($inmillions)
Construction ProductS Group..........ccceeeeeeereeeeseeresseesnenes $ 2589 $ — 9 258.9 28 %
Energy EQUIPMENt GroUP .....coveveeeeeeeeereeeee e 840.2 3.9 844.1 20
Transportation Products Group .......ccoceeeeeeereeeeeseseeseenens 363.3 — 363.3 (42.1)
Segment Totals before Eliminations............cccceevevenene. 1,462.4 3.9 1,466.3 (14.1)
EliMINationS .......cccovviiiiese e — (3.9 (3.9
Consolidated TOtal........c.cceevueereeerieesereeee e $ 14624 $ — 9 1,462.4 (14.2)
Year Ended December 31, 2016
Revenues
External I ntersegment Total
($in millions)
Construction Products Group..........cccceeeeeereeeseeesseesnenes $ 2519 $ — 9 251.9
Energy EQUIPMENt GIrOUP .....coveveeeeceeeereeeee e 824.6 2.8 827.4
Transportation Products Group .......ccoceeeeeeereeeeeeseseesnenees 627.5 — 627.5
Segment Totals before Eliminations..........cccocvvevveeene 1,704.0 2.8 1,706.8
EliMINationS .......cccovviiicese e — (2.8) (2.8)
Consolidated Total.........cceovrvrreerererneeeneres e $ 17040 $ — 3 1,704.0

Our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2018, decreased by 0.1% from the previous year primarily asaresult of reduced
volumesin our Energy Equipment Group which were largely offset by increased volumes in both the Construction Products and
Transportation Products Groups. Revenues from our Construction Products Group increased for the year ended December 31,
2018 primarily due the impact of acquisitions in 2018 and 2017 in both our construction aggregates and other product lines. In
our Energy Equipment Group, revenuesfor theyear ended December 31, 2018 decreased when compared tothe prior year primarily
due to a planned reduction in volumes in our wind towers product line partially offset by an increase in revenues from our other
product lines. Revenues from our Transportation Products Group increased for the year ended December 31, 2018 when compared
to the prior year primarily due to increased volumes in both our inland barge and steel components product lines.

Our revenuesfor the year ended December 31, 2017, decreased by 14.2% from the previous year primarily asaresult of reduced
volumes in our Transportation Products Group. Revenues from our Construction Products Group increased for the year ended
December 31, 2017 primarily asaresult of an acquisition in our trench shoring products business partially offset by lower volumes
inthe construction aggregates business. In our Energy Equipment Group, revenuesfor theyear ended December 31, 2017 increased
when compared to the prior year primarily as aresult of an increase in revenues from our utility structures product line partialy
offset by lower delivery volumesin our wind towers product line.
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Operating Costs

Operating costs are comprised of cost of revenues; selling, engineering, and administrative expenses; impairment charges; and
gains or losses on property disposals.

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
(in millions)

Construction ProdUCtS GrOUP ........ccccceeeeeeeeeeesesistesiesaessesiesaeseesessessesessennes $ 2419 $ 2052 $ 192.6
Energy EQUIPMENT GIOUP......cceieiierieieeeeetee ettt te e s se e ens 751.5 765.7 739.7
Transportation ProduUCES GIOUD ........ccceeeeueeerieieeereseseeseesseseeseeseesaeseeseesessessens 343.0 324.3 540.2
F N |1 = OSSR 0.1 0.1 2.1

Segment Totals before Eliminations and Corporate EXpenses.........ccocecveueen. 1,336.5 1,295.3 1,474.6
Lo 0T0] =1 = 32.1 39.3 314
1= 10 (3.1 (3.9 (2.8
ConSOlidated TOLEl .......cvvveeiriiiriiiree e e $ 13655 3 13307 $ 1,503.2

Operating costsfor the year ended December 31, 2018 increased by 2.6% over the previous year. Theincreasein operating costs
in our Construction Products Group was primarily due to the impact of acquisitionsin 2018 and 2017 in both our construction
aggregates and other product lines. Operating costs for the Energy Equipment Group were lower primarily due to a planned
reduction in volumes in our wind tower product line, partially offset by the impact of an impairment charge of $23.2 million on
busi nesses that were subsequently divested. Operating costs for the Transportation Products Group were higher than the previous
year duetoincreased deliveriesinour inland bargeand steel componentsproduct lines. Total selling, engineering, and administrative
expenses decreased for the year ended December 31, 2018 by 5.6%, primarily due to lower compensation-related expenses.

Operating costsfor theyear ended December 31, 2017 decreased by 11.5% over thepreviousyear primarily dueto lower shipment
levelsin our Transportation Products Group. Total selling, engineering, and administrative expenses for the year ended December
31, 2017, increased by 10.7%, primarily due to higher performance-related compensation.

Operating Profit (Loss)

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
(in millions)
CONStruCtion ProdUCES GIOUP ......cvvrererirerererererisesesesssesssssesesssssssssssesssesssssssens $ 504 $ 537 $ 59.3
Energy EQUIPMENE GIOUP.......cocevereereriererietereeieseeiesieiesiee e sre e s s ereseeseseenesnas 28.6 78.4 87.7
Transportation ProdUCES GIOUD .........coeeererieriseresiesesiesesieseenesnesesnenesneesnenesnens 48.4 39.0 87.3
AL OLNEN ...ttt (0.1) (0.1) (2.1)
Segment Totals before Eliminations and Corporate EXpenses...........c.coeue... 127.3 171.0 232.2
COMPOBLE......cveeierite sttt e e (32.1) (39.3) (3149
g1 7= o TSR (0.3) — —
CoNSOlidAtEd TOLA .......cueeeirerieieeererieie ettt e $ 949 $ 1317 $ 200.8

Our operating profit for the year ended December 31, 2018 decreased by 27.9% when compared to the prior year. Operating
profit in the Construction Products Group decreased compared to the prior period primarily due to lower volumes in our legacy
construction aggregates businesses and increased costs related to the fair value markup of acquired inventory. Operating profitin
our Energy Equipment Group decreased for the year ended December 31, 2018 when compared to the prior year as aresult of a
planned reductionin volumesin our wind towers product line and theimpact of animpairment charge of $23.2 million on businesses
that were subsequently divested. Operating profit in our Transportation Products Group increased compared to the prior year due
to increased deliveriesin our inland barge and steel components product lines.

Our operating profit for the year ended December 31, 2017 decreased by 34.4% when compared to the prior year primarily as
aresult of lower shipment levels in our Transportation Products Group. Operating profit in the Construction Products Group
decreased for theyear ended December 31, 2017 when compared to the prior year primarily duetolower volumesin our construction
aggregates business partialy offset by higher volumes in the Group’s other businesses as a result of an acquisition in our trench
shoring products business. Operating profit in our Energy Equipment Group decreased for the year ended December 31, 2017
when compared to the prior year as aresult of lower delivery volumes in our wind towers business partially offset by an increase
in revenues from our utility structures product line and other businesses.
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For afurther discussion of revenues, costs, and the operating results of individual segments, see Segment Discussion below.

Other Income and Expense

Other, net (income) expense consists of the following items:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
(in millions)
LSS T 1o 0 1= $ 04) $ 01) $ (0.1)
Foreign currency exchange tranSactions.............coceeeeeereeeneeeneseseeeeseeesienens (0.2) 22 4.8
L1107 OSSP (0.4) (0.5) (1.2)
ONEr, NEL....e bbbt 3 (10) 3 16 $ 3.6

Income Taxes

Theincome tax provision for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 was $19.3 million, $40.4 million, and $74.2
million, respectively. The effectivetax rate for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 was 20.3%, 31.1%, and 37.6%,
respectively. The effective tax rates differ from the federal tax rates of 21.0%, 35.0%, and 35.0%, respectively, due to the impact
of theAct, stateincometaxes, excesstax deficiencies (benefits) rel ated to equity compensation, and changesin val uation allowances
on certain deferred tax assets.

See Note 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements for afurther discussion of income taxes.

Segment Discussion

Construction Products Group

Year Ended December 31, Percent Change
2018 2017 2016 2018 versus 2017 2017 versus 2016
($ in millions)

Revenues:

CoNStruction aggregates. ........ocoveveveeeeeevererereensnenns $ 2179 $ 2049 $ 2134 6.3% (4.00%

OthEr .. 74.4 54.0 38.5 37.8 40.3
TOtal FEVENUES. ..o e 292.3 258.9 251.9 12.9 2.8
Operating costs:

COSt Of FEVENUES........covieriieeiieese s 212.6 178.6 170.8 19.0 4.6

Selling, engineering, and administrative costs....... 29.3 26.6 21.8 10.2 22.0
Operating Profit ......ccceeeeveeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 504 $ 537 $ 593 (6.1) (9.4
Operating profit Margin........ccccccoeveveveseesesiesieseenens 17.2% 20.7% 23.5%
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization................ $ 219 $ 184 $ 16.0 19.0 15.0

Revenues and cost of revenues increased by 12.9% and 19.0%, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2018, when
compared to the same period in 2017. The increases in revenues and cost of revenues resulted primarily from 2018 revenues
attributable to the 2017 acquisitions in both the lightweight and the trench shoring products businesses and the December 2018
acquisition of ACG. Selling, engineering, and administrative expensesincreased by 10.2% for the year ended December 31, 2018
compared to the same period in 2017 primarily due to acquisitions. Operating profit decreased by 6.1% primarily due to lower
volumesin our legacy construction aggregates businessesand increased costsrel ated to thefair value markup of acquired inventory.

Revenuesand cost of revenuesincreased by 2.8% and 4.6%, respectively, for theyear ended December 31, 2017, when compared
to the same period in 2016. Approximately 65% of the increase in revenues from other businesses and substantially al of the
increase in segment cost of revenues was aresult of the acquisition in our trench shoring businessin the third quarter of 2017. The
decrease in revenues in our construction aggregates business was primarily due to lower volumes. Selling, engineering, and
administrative expenses increased by 22.0% for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the same period in 2016,
approximately 30% of which related to increased compensation-related costs from the newly acquired shoring business and
approximately 65% of which related to increased compensation-related costs of existing businesses.
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Energy Equipment Group

Year Ended December 31, Percent Change
2018 2017 2016 2018 versus 2017 2017 versus 2016
(% in millions)
Revenues:
Wind towers and utility structures..........cccccceeuennene $ 5829 $ 6521 $ 6411 (10.6)% 1.7%
OthEr .. 197.2 192.0 186.3 2.7 31
TOtal FEVENUES.......cceecveeiecee e 780.1 844.1 827.4 (7.6) 2.0
Operating costs:
COoSt Of FEVENUES........ecvvcieeceece e 658.3 691.7 670.3 (4.8) 3.2
Selling, engineering, and administrative costs....... 70.0 74.0 69.4 (5.4) 6.6
Impairment Charge..........coovverereerereereeeeeece e 23.2 — —
Operating Profit ......cceeeeeeieeeie e eesnenas $ 286 $ 784 $ 877 (63.5) (10.6)
Operating profit Margin........ccocvevveverereereeeeesieenens 3.7% 9.3% 10.6%
Depreciation and amortization............c.ccoceveeevenee.. $ 297 $ 302 $ 317 .7 4.7

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2018 decreased by 7.6% compared to the same period in 2017. Revenues from our
wind towers and utility structures product lines decreased by 10.6% for the year ended December 31, 2018 driven primarily by a
planned reduction in volume in our wind towers product line. Other revenues include results primarily from our storage and
distribution containers. Revenuesfrom other product linesfor theyear ended December 31, 2018increased by 2.7% when compared
to 2017 as aresult of increased shipping volumes in our storage tanks product line. Cost of revenues decreased by 4.8% for the
year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017, due to lower volumesin our wind tower product line, partially offset by a$6.1
million finished goods inventory write-off related to an order for a single customer in our utility structures business. Declinesin
revenues and cost of revenues on our wind towers and utility structures product lines were also partialy offset by the required
adoption of ASU 2014-09. See Note 1 of the Notes to the Combined and Consolidated Financial Statementsfor further discussion
of the impact of this required change in accounting policy. Selling, engineering, and administrative costs decreased by 5.4% for
the year ended December 31, 2018 primarily due to bad debt expense related to a single customer recognized in 2017. Operating
profit for the year ended December 31, 2018 was al so negatively impacted by animpairment charge of $23.2 million on businesses
that were subsequently divested.

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased by 2.0% compared to the same period in 2016. Revenues from our
windtowersand utility structuresproduct linesincreased by 1.7%for theyear ended December 31, 2017 driven by an approximately
10% increasein revenuesin our utility structures product line duelargely to improved pricing, partially offset by an approximately
5% decrease in revenuesin our wind towers product line due to lower shipping volumes and pricing. Revenues from other product
linesfor the year ended December 31, 2017 increased by 3.1% when compared to 2016 as aresult of increased shipping volumes.
Cost of revenuesincreased by 3.2% for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to 2016, due to higher volumesin our utility
structuresand other product lines. Selling, engineering, and administrative costsincreased by 6.6%for theyear ended December 31,
2017 approximately 60% of which related to increased bad debt expense primarily related to asingle customer and approximately
20% of which related to increased compensation-related expenses.

As of December 31, 2018, the backlog for wind towers and utility structures was $633.1 million compared to $899.0 million as
of December 31, 2017. Approximately 64% of our structural wind towersand utility structures backlog is expected to be delivered
during the year ending December 31, 2019 with the remainder to be delivered through 2020. Future wind tower orders are subject
to uncertainty following the phase-out of the PTC. Asof December 31, 2018, the backlog for our other businesslinesin our Energy
Equipment Group was $55.1 million, all of which is expected to be delivered during the year ending December 31, 2019.



Transportation Products Group

Year Ended December 31, Percent Change
2018 2017 2016 2018 versus 2017 2017 versus 2016
(% in millions)

Revenues:

INIANd DAIGES......cvcveeeeevetceeeece e $ 1702 $ 1579 $ 4031 7.8% (60.8)%

Steel COMPONENES.......cceeveieieeeere e 221.2 205.4 224.4 7.7 (8.5
TOtal FEVENUES.......cceecveeieceeeese vt 391.4 363.3 627.5 7.7 (42.1)
Operating costs.

Cost Of FEVENUES........ooeeceecie e 320.5 301.2 515.5 6.4 (41.6)

Selling, engineering, and administrative costs....... 22.5 23.1 24.7 (2.6) (6.5)
Operating Profit ......cceeeeeeieeeeieseeeeeee e eeseenas $ 484 $ 390 $ 873 24.1 (55.3)
Operating profit Margin........cccceeevvevereveereereeeesieenens 12.4% 10.7% 13.9%
Depreciation and amortization............c.ccceeeveeevenee.. $ 155 $ 171 $ 179 (9.4) (4.5)

Revenues and cost of revenues increased for the year ended December 31, 2018 by 7.7% and 6.4%, respectively, compared to
the same period in 2017 primarily from higher deliveriesin both the inland barge and steel components product lines. Selling,
engineering, and administrative costs decreased for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the same period in 2017.

Revenues and cost of revenues decreased for the year ended December 31, 2017 by 42.1% and 41.6%, respectively, compared
to the same period in 2016 primarily from lower barge deliveries and steel components deliveries. Selling, engineering, and
administrative costs decreased for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the same period in 2016.

As of December 31, 2018, the backlog for the Transportation Products Group was $230.5 million compared to $98.2 million as
of December 31, 2017. Approximately 94% percent of backlog for bargesin our Transportation Products Group is expected to be
delivered during the year ending December 31, 2019 with the remainder to be delivered through 2020.

Corporate
Year Ended December 31, Percent Change
2018 2017 2016 2018 versus 2017 2017 versus 2016
($ in millions)
Corporate overhead COoStS........cooovveueereieerereeienns $ 321 % 393 $ 314 (18.3)% 25.2%

Corporate overhead costs prior to the Separation consist of costs not previously alocated to Trinity’s business units and have
been allocated to Arcosa based on an analysis of each cost function and the relative benefits received by Arcosa for each of the
periods using methods management believes are consistent and reasonable. See Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated and
Combined Financial Statements for further information.

The decrease in corporate overhead costs of 18.3% for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017 is primarily due
to lower compensation related expenses.

The increase in corporate overhead costs for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to 2016 is primarily due to higher
corporate level infrastructure costs and performance-based compensation-rel ated expenses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Arcosa’s liquidity requirements are primarily to fund our business operations, including capital expenditures, working capital
requirements, and disciplined acquisitions. Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows from operations, our existing cash
balance and, as necessary, borrowings under the revolving credit facility and issuance of long-term debt or equity. To the extent
we generate discretionary cash flow, we may consider using thisadditional cash flow to undertake new capital investment projects,
execute strategic acquisitions, return capital to stockholders, or for general corporate purposes.

Pursuant to the separation and distribution agreement, on October 31, 2018, Trinity contributed $200 million of cash to Arcosa
in connection with the Separation.
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Revolving Credit Faciltiy

On November 1, 2018, the Company entered into a$400.0 million unsecured revolving credit facility that maturesin November
2023. Theinterest rates under the facility are variable based on LIBOR or an alternate base rate plus amargin that is determined
based on Arcosa’s leverage as measured by a consolidated total indebtedness to consolidated EBITDA ratio, which is currently
set at LIBOR plus 1.25%. A commitment fee accrues on the average daily unused portion of the revolving facility at the current
rate of 0.20%. Borrowings under the credit facility are guaranteed by certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

Asof December 31, 2018, we had $180.0 million of outstanding loans borrowed under the facility and there were approximately
$47.7 million in letters of credit issued, leaving $172.3 million available for borrowing.

The Company's revolving credit facility requires the maintenance of certain ratios related to leverage and interest coverage. As
of December 31, 2018, we were in compliance with all such financial covenants.

Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities for each of the last three
years:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
(in millions)
Total cash provided by (required by):
OPErating BCHVITIES........ceeveeiieteeeeece ettt ettt et n e $ 1185 $ 1620 $ 227.8
INVESEING BCHIVITIES ...ttt s sr e s (364.5) (126.4) (79.8)
FIiNaNCIiNG ACtIVITIES.....cccecieecece st 338.6 (42.8) (144.2)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents...........ccccoeeevveeveeeeeecvecennae 3 926 $ (72) $ 3.8

2018 compared with 2017

Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $118.5 million
compared to net cash provided by operating activities of $162.0 million for the same period in 2017. Cash flow provided by
operating activities decreased primarily due to lower operating profit.

Receivablesat December 31, 2018 increased by $80.9 million, or 48.9%, from December 31, 2017. While most of thisincrease
relatesto thetiming of paymentsfrom trade receivables, approximately 10% of theincreaseisdue to the recognition of receivables
from the Former Parent which had previously been deemed settled in the period incurred in the historical combined financial
statements. Raw materialsinventory at December 31, 2018 increased by $37.1 million, or 40.6%, since December 31, 2017, while
work in process inventory decreased by $13.9 million, or 29.4%. Finished goods inventory decreased by $17.5 million, or 16.2%,
since December 31, 2017. Accounts payable increased by $20.6 million, while accrued liabilitiesincreased by $20.2 million from
December 31,2017. Wecontinually review reservesrel ated to collectability aswell asthe adequacy of lower of cost or net redlizable
value with regard to accounts receivable and inventory. Certain amounts above may not be able to be recalculated from the
information provided in the Consolidated and Combined Balance Sheets due to, among others, the impact of acquisitions.

Investing Activities. Net cash required by investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $364.5 million
compared to $126.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. Capital expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2018
were $44.8 million. This compares to $82.4 million of capital expenditures for the same period in 2017. Full-year capital
expenditures for 2019 are expected to range between $70 million and $80 million. We expect maintenance capital expenditures
to be in the range of $60 million to $65 million and capital expenditures related to additional growth to be in the range of $10
million and $15 million. Proceeds from the sale of property, plant, and equipment and other assets totaled $10.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2018 compared to $3.5 million for the same period in 2017. Net cash required related to acquisitions
amounted to $333.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to $47.5 million for the same period in 2017. Net
cash provided related to divestitures totaled $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. There was no divestiture activity
for the year ended December 31, 2017.

Financing Activities. Net cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2018 was $338.6 million
compared to $42.8 million of net cash required by financing activities for the same period in 2017. During the year ended
December 31, 2018, we borrowed $180.0 million and retired $0.3 million in debt. During the year ended December 31, 2017, we
borrowed $0.6 million and retired $0.1 million in debt. We received a capital contribution of $200.0 million from Trinity during
the year ended December 31, 2018. Net transfersto Trinity totaled $34.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared
with $43.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.
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2017 compared with 2016

Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $162.0 million
compared to net cash provided by operating activities of $227.8 million for the same period in 2016. Cash flow provided by
operating activities decreased primarily due to lower operating profit.

Receivables at December 31, 2017 increased by $26.4 million, or 19.9%, from December 31, 2016. Raw materials inventory
at December 31, 2017 decreased by $2.5 million, or 2.7%, since December 31, 2016, while work in process inventory decreased
by $16.5 million, or 25.9%. Finished goods inventory increased by $2.1 million, or 2.0%, since December 31, 2016. Accounts
payable increased by $7.1 million, while accrued liabilities decreased by $4.9 million from December 31, 2016.

Investing Activities. Net cash required by investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $126.4 million
compared to $79.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. Capital expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2017
were $82.4 million. This compares to $34.8 million of capital expenditures for the same period in 2016. Proceeds from the sale
of property, plant, and equipment and other assets totaled $3.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to $5.0
million for the same period in 2016. Net cash required related to acquisitions amounted to $47.5 million for the year ended
December 31,2017. Therewasnodivestitureactivity for theyear ended December 31, 2017. Therewasno acquisitionor divestiture
activity for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Financing Activities. Net cash required by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2017 was $42.8 million
compared to $144.2 million of net cash required by financing activities for the same period in 2016. During the year ended
December 31, 2017, we borrowed $0.6 million and retired $0.1 million in debt. During the year ended December 31, 2016, we
retired $0.5 million in debt as scheduled. Net transfers to Trinity totaled $43.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2017
compared with $141.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Other Investing and Financing Activities

Dividends and Repurchase Program
In December 2018, the Company declared a quarterly dividend of $0.05 per share paid in January 2019.

In December 2018, the Company’ sBoard of Directorsauthorized a$50.0 million sharerepurchase program effective December 5,
2018 through December 31, 2020. During December 2018, the Company repurchased 124,272 shares at a cost of $3.0 million.
See Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2018, we had letters of credit issued under our revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount
of $47.7 million, al of which are expected to expirein 2019. The majority of our lettersof credit obligations support the Company’s
various insurance programs and warranty claims and generally renew by their terms each year. See Note 7 of the Notes to the
Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.

Derivative Instruments

In December 2018, the Company entered into an interest rate swap instrument, effective as of January 2, 2019 and expiring in
2023, to reduce the effect of changes in the variable interest rates associated with borrowings under the revolving credit facility.
The instrument carried an initial notional amount of $100 million, thereby hedging the first $100 million of borrowings under the
credit facility. The instrument effectively fixesthe LIBOR component of the credit facility borrowings at 2.71%. As of December
31, 2018, the Company has recorded a liability of $1.2 million for the fair value of the instrument, all of which is recorded in
accumul ated other comprehensiveloss. SeeNote 3 and Note 7 of the Notesto the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have a stock-based compensation plan covering our employees and our Board of Directors. See Note 12 of the Notesto the
Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.

Employee Retirement Plans

We sponsor an employee savings plan under the existing 401(k) plan that covers substantially all employees and includes both
a company matching contribution and an annual retirement contribution of up to 3% each of eligible compensation based on our
performance, as well as a Supplemental Profit Sharing Plan. Both the annual retirement contribution and the company matching
contribution are discretionary, requiring board approval, and made annually with the investment of the funds directed by the
participants.The Company also contributes to a multiemployer defined benefit pension plan under the terms of a collective-
bargaining agreement that covers certain union-represented employees at one of our facilities. See Note 10 of the Notes to the
Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
As of December 31, 2018, we had the following contractual obligations and commercial commitments:

Payments Due by Period

1 Year 2-3 4-5 After
Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments Total or Less Years Years 5 Years
(in millions)
DIEDOE ...t $ 185 $ 19 $ 23 $1813 $ ==
OPErating |E8SES .....ccvviveeeeeeie et 28.6 7.7 9.2 4.1 7.6
Obligations for purchase of goods and Services.........ccceeveieiieveseennnne 188.4 131.2 394 17.8 —
OBNEN < 0.4 0.1 0.3 — —
TOLA ..t $ 4029 $ 1409 $ 512 $2032 $ 76

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, we had $0.5 million and $2.2 million, respectively, of tax liabilities, including interest and
penalties, related to uncertain tax positions. Because of the high degree of uncertainty regarding the timing of future cash outflows
associated with these liabilities, we are unable to estimate the years in which settlement will occur with the respective taxing
authorities. See Note 14 of the Notes to the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

MD&A discusses our Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. The preparation of these financia statements requires management to make
estimates and assumptionsthat affect the reported amounts of assetsand liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assetsand liabilities
at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

On an on-going basis, management evaluates its estimates and judgments, including those related to bad debts, inventories,
property, plant, and equi pment, goodwill, incometaxes, warranty obligations, insurance, contingencies, andlitigation. Management
bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilitiesthat
arenot readily apparent from other sources. Actual resultsmay differ from these estimatesunder different assumptionsor conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting policies, among others, affect our more significant judgments and estimates used
in the preparation of our Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured based on the allocation of the transaction price in a contract to satisfied performance obligations. The
transaction price does not include any amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Company recognizes revenue when it
satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a customer. The following is a description
of principal activitiesfrom which the Company generatesitsrevenue, separated by reportabl e segments. Paymentsfor our products
and services are generally due within normal commercial terms.

Construction Products Group

The Construction Products Group recognizes revenue when the customer has accepted the product and legal title of the product
has passed to the customer.

Energy Equipment Group

Within the Energy Equipment Group, revenue is recognized for our wind tower and certain utility structure product lines over
time as the products are manufactured using an input approach based on the costs incurred relative to the total estimated costs of
production. We recognize revenue over timefor these products asthey are highly customized to the needs of anindividual customer
resulting in no alternative use to the Company if not purchased by the customer after the contract is executed, and we have the
right to bill the customer for our work performed to date plus at least areasonable profit margin for work performed. For all other
products, revenueisrecogni zed when the customer has accepted the product and legal title of the product has passed to the customer.

Transportation Products Group

The Transportati on Products Group recogni zes revenue when the customer has accepted the product and legal title of the product
has passed to the customer.
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Inventory

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Our policy related to excess and obsol ete inventory requires
an analysis of inventory at the business unit level on a quarterly basis and the recording of any required adjustments. In assessing
the ultimate realization of inventories, we are required to make judgments as to future demand requirements and compare that
with the current or committed inventory levels. It is possible that changes in required inventory reserves may occur in the future
due to then current market conditions.

Long-lived Assets

We periodically evaluate the carrying value of long-lived assetsto be held and used for potential impairment. The carrying value
of long-lived assetsto be held and used isconsideredimpaired only when the carrying val ueis not recoverabl ethrough undiscounted
future cash flows and the fair value of the assets is less than their carrying value. Fair value is determined primarily using the
anticipated cash flows discounted at arate commensurate with the risksinvolved or market quotes as available. Impairment |osses
on long-lived assets held for sale are determined in asimilar manner, except that fair values are reduced by the estimated cost to
dispose of the assets.

Goodwill

Goodwill is required to be tested for impairment annually, or on an interim basis whenever events or circumstances change,
indicating that the carrying amount of the goodwill might be impaired. The quantitative goodwill impairment test is a two-step
process with step one requiring the comparison of the reporting unit’s estimated fair value with the carrying amount of its net
assets. If necessary, step two of the impairment test determines the amount of goodwill impairment to be recorded when the
reporting unit’s recorded net assets exceed its fair value. Impairment is assessed at the “reporting unit” level by applying afair
value-based test for each unit with recorded goodwill. The estimates and judgments that most significantly affect the fair value
calculations are assumptions, consisting of level three inputs, related to revenue and operating profit growth, discount rates, and
exit multiples. Based on the Company's annual goodwill impairment test, performed at the reporting unit level as of December 31,
2018, the Company concluded that no impairment charges were determined to be necessary and that none of the reporting units
evaluated was at risk of failing the first step of the goodwill impairment test. A reporting unit is considered to be at risk if its
estimated fair value does not exceed the carrying value of its net assets by 10% or more. See Note 1 and Note 6 of the Notesto
the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements for further explanation.

Given the uncertainties of the economy and its potential impact on our businesses, there can be no assurance that our estimates
and assumptions regarding the fair value of our reporting units, made for the purposes of the long-lived asset and goodwill
impairment tests, will prove to be accurate predictions of the future. If our assumptions regarding forecasted cash flows are not
achieved, it is possible that impairments of goodwill and long-lived assets may be required.

Warranties

The Company provides various express, limited product warranties that generally range from one to five years depending on
the product. The warranty costs are estimated using a two-step approach. First, an engineering estimate is made for the cost of all
claims that have been asserted by customers. Second, based on historical, accepted claims experience, a cost is accrued for all
productsstill within awarranty period for which no claimshave beenfiled. The Company providesfor the estimated cost of product
warranties at the time revenue is recognized related to products covered by warranties and assesses the adequacy of the resulting
reserves on aquarterly basis.

Insurance

We are effectively self-insured for workers' compensation claims. A third-party administrator processes al such claims. We
accrue our workers' compensation liability based upon independent actuarial studies. To the extent actuarial assumptions change
and claims experience rates differ from historical rates, our liability may change.

Contingencies and Litigation

TheCompany isinvolvedinclaimsand lawsuitsincidental to our business. Based oninformation currently availablewith respect
to such claims and lawsuits, including information on claims and lawsuits as to which the Company is aware but for which the
Company has not been served with legal process, it is management’s opinion that the ultimate outcome of al such claims and
litigation, including settlements, in the aggregate will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’sfinancial condition for
purposes of financial reporting. However, resolution of certain claims or lawsuits by settlement or otherwise, could impact the
operating results of the reporting period in which such resolution occurs.

Environmental

We are involved in various proceedings related to environmental matters. We have provided reserves to cover probable and
estimable liabilities with respect to such proceedings, taking into account currently available information and our contractual
recourse. However, estimates of future response costs are necessarily imprecise. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that we
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will not become involved in future environmental litigation or other proceedings or, if we were found to be responsible or liable
in any litigation or proceeding, that such costs would not be material to us.

Income Taxes

Incometaxesas presented herein attribute current and deferred incometaxesof Trinity toArcosa sstandal onefinancia statements
inamanner that is systematic, rational, and consistent with the asset and liability method prescribed by the Accounting Standards
Codification Topic 740 — Income Taxes (“ASC 740"). Accordingly, Arcosa's income tax provision has been prepared following
the separate return method. The separate return method applies ASC 740 to the standalone financial statements of each member
of the consolidated group as if the group member were a separate taxpayer and a standalone enterprise. As a result, actual tax
transactions included in the consolidated financia statements of Trinity may not be included in the separate financial statements
of Arcosa. Similarly, the tax treatment of certain itemsreflected in the separate financial statements of Arcosamay not be reflected
inthe consolidated financia statementsand tax returnsof Trinity; therefore, suchitemsasnet operating losses, credit carryforwards,
and valuation allowances may exist in the standalone financial statements that may or may not exist in Trinity’s consolidated
financia statements.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between
thefinancial statement carrying amount of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and other tax attributesusing
currently enacted tax rates. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in the provision
for income taxes in the period that includes the enactment date. Management is required to estimate the timing of the recognition
of deferred tax assets and liabilities, make assumptions about the future deductibility of deferred tax assets, and assess deferred
tax liabilities based on enacted law and tax rates for the appropriate tax jurisdictions to determine the amount of such deferred tax
assets and liabilities. Changes in the calculated deferred tax assets and liabilities may occur in certain circumstances including
statutory incometax rate changes, statutory tax law changes, or changesin the structure or tax status of the Company. The Company
assesses whether aval uation allowance should be established against its deferred tax assets based on consideration of al available
evidence, both positive and negative, using a more likely than not standard. This assessment considers, among other matters, the
nature, frequency, and severity of recent losses; aforecast of futureprofitability; theduration of statutory carryback and carryforward
periods; the Company’s experience with tax attributes expiring unused; and tax planning alternatives.

At December 31, 2018, the Company had $105.0 million federal consolidated net operating loss carryforwards and $2.7 million
of tax-effected state loss carryforwards remaining. In addition, the Company had $23.9 million of foreign net operating loss
carryforwards that will begin to expire in the year 2034. We have established a valuation alowance for state and foreign tax
operating losses and credits that we have estimated may not be realizable.

At times, we may claim tax benefits that may be challenged by atax authority. We recognize tax benefits only for tax positions
more likely than not to be sustai ned upon examination by tax authorities. The amount recognized ismeasured asthe largest amount
of benefit that isgreater than 50 percent likely to berealized upon settlement. A liability for “ unrecognized tax benefits” isrecorded
for any tax benefits claimed in our tax returns that do not meet these recognition and measurement standards.

The Act was enacted on December 22, 2017. The Act reduced the U.S. federa corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%,
required companies to pay a one-time transition tax on earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries that were previously tax deferred,
and created new taxes on certain foreign-sourced earnings. For the year ended December 31, 2017, we recognized a provisional
benefit of $6.2 million. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we finalized the accounting for the enactment of the Act and
recorded an additional $1.5 million benefit, primarily as aresult of the true up of our deferred taxes.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements for information about recent accounting
pronouncements.



Forward-Looking Statements

Thisannual report on Form 10-K (or statements otherwise made by the Company or on the Company’s behalf from timeto time
in other reports, filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), news releases, conferences, internet postings or
otherwise) contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Any
statements contained herein that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements and involve risks and uncertainties. These
forward-looking statements include expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, future financial performances, estimates, projections,
goals, and forecasts. Arcosa uses the words “anticipates,” “assumes,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “forecasts,”
“may,” “will,” “should,” and similar expressionsto identify these forward-looking statements. Potential factors, which could cause
our actual results of operations to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include, among others:

«  market conditions and customer demand for our business products and services,

» thecyclical nature of the industries in which we compete;

e variationsin weather in areas where our construction products are sold, used, or installed;

e naturally-occurring events and disasters causing disruption to our manufacturing, product deliveries, and production
capacity, thereby giving rise to an increase in expenses, |0ss of revenue, and property losses;

e our ahility to identify, consummate, or integrate acquisition of new businesses or products;

e thetiming of introduction of new products;

e thetiming and delivery of customer orders or a breach of customer contracts;

« thecredit worthiness of customers and their access to capital;

e product price changes,

e changesin mix of products sold;

« thecostsincurred to align manufacturing capacity with demand and the extent of its utilization;

« theoperating leverage and efficiencies that can be achieved by our manufacturing businesses,

e availability and costs of steel, component parts, supplies, and other raw materials;

e competition and other competitive factors, including U.S. and foreign trade practices,

e changing technologies,

« surcharges and other fees added to fixed pricing agreements for steel, component parts, supplies and other raw materials;

e interest rates and capital costs;

e counter-party risksfor financial instruments;

e long-term funding of our operations;

. taxes;

« thestahility of the governments and political and business conditions in certain foreign countries, particularly Mexico;

e changesinimport and export quotas and regulations;

«  business conditions in emerging economies;

e costs and results of litigation;

e changesin accounting standards or inaccurate estimates or assumptions in the application of accounting policies;

« legd, regulatory, and environmental issues, including compliance of our products with mandated specifications, standards,
or testing criteria and obligations to remove and replace our products following installation or to recall our products and
install different products manufactured by us or our competitors;

« actions by the executive and legidlative branches of the U.S. government relative to federal government budgeting, taxation
policies, government expenditures, U.S. borrowing/debt ceilinglimits, and tradepolicies, including NAFTA andthe USMCA,;

« theuseof socia or digital mediato disseminate false, misleading and/or unreliable or inaccurate information;

« theinability to sufficiently protect our intellectual property rights;

« if the Company does not realize some or all of the benefits expected to result from the Separation, or if such benefits are
delayed;

« the Company's ongoing businesses may be adversely affected and subject to certain risks and consequences as a result of
the Separation;

« if the distribution does not qualify as a transaction that is generally tax-free for U.S. federa income tax purposes, the
Company's stockholders at the time of the distribution and the Company could be subject to significant tax liability; and

« if the Separation does not comply with state and federal fraudulent conveyance laws and legal dividend requirements.

Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made. Arcosa undertakes no obligation
to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such statement is made. For a
discussion of risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ from those contained in the forward-looking
statements, see ltem 1A, "Risk Factors" included el sewhere herein.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Our earnings could be affected by changesin interest rates due to the impact those changes have on our variable rate revolving
credit facility. As of December 31, 2018, we had $180.0 million of outstanding loans borrowed under the facility. A 1% increase
ininterest rateswould result in anincreasein interest expense of approximately $0.8 million annually, after considering the effects
of interest rate hedges.

In addition, we are subject to market risk related to our net investmentsin our foreign subsidiaries. The net investment inforeign
subsidiariesas of December 31, 2018 was $158.5 million. Theimpact of such market risk exposures as aresult of foreign exchange
rate fluctuations has not been significant to Arcosa. See Note 8 of the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Arcosa, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated and combined balance sheets of Arcosa, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as
of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated and combined statements of operations, comprehensive income,
stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes
(collectively referred to asthe “ consolidated and combined financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated and combined
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2018 and 2017,
and theresults of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three yearsin the period ended December 31, 2018, in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These financia statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordancewiththeU.S. federal securitieslawsand the applicablerulesand regul ationsof the Securitiesand Exchange Commission
and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether dueto error
or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial
reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’sinternal control over financial reporting. Accordingly,
we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s ERNST & YOUNG LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2015.

Dallas, Texas
February 28, 2019



Arcosa, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
(in millions, except per share amounts)
REVENUES ..ottt iete e se st tes e esessese e saesenesesaeaene e seesenenessnsesenesensesanennnsns $ 1,460.4 $ 14624 $ 1,704.0
Operating costs.
COSt Of FEBVENUES ...ttt sttt sttt et 1,188.4 1,167.7 1,355.9
Selling, engineering, and administrative eXPenses.........ccouevverreeereseseseenennns 153.9 163.0 147.3
[ MPAITMENE ChAIGE... e veeeeeeeeeeeeee e steste st e e se e e ene e e e e enessesnesneeresaesnens 23.2 — —
1,365.5 1,330.7 1,503.2
Total OpErating Profil.......ccccceeeiiii e e sre e snesrenees 94.9 131.7 200.8
10 =SS 0 = 0.9 — —
Other, Net (INCOME) EXPENSE......ccvvruereeererieseseseseseereseeseeseeeeeeseesessessesresressessens (1.0) 1.6 3.6
(0.1) 1.6 3.6
INcome DEfOre iNCOME tAXES .......covevirieiriere e 95.0 130.1 197.2
Provision (benefit) for income taxes:
(O | (3.1) 30.1 51.1
D= = 22.4 10.3 23.1
19.3 40.4 74.2
NN 00 1= T $ 75.7 $ 89.7 $ 123.0
Net income per common share:
ST o $ 155 $ 18 % 2.52
D o $ 154 $ 184 $ 252
Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
BaSIC ..ttt ettt aeae et et ne e n et ne e e enenens 48.8 48.8 48.8
DIIULE ...ttt st st 489 48.8 48.8
Dividends declared per CommOoNn SNare...........coccueueueeeeieeeveeeeeeeieresee e seseeseaens $ 0.05 $ — $ =

@ For periods prior to the Separation, the denominator for basic and diluted net income per common share was calculated using
the 48.8 million shares of common stock outstanding immediately following the Separation.

See accompanying notes to consolidated and combined financial statements.
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Arcosa, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated and Combined Statements of Comprehensive Income

INEE TNMCOIMIE.......eieteiieicitecsie ettt et se e se et b et et e et e et seebeseebe e
Other comprehensive income (10ss):
Derivative financial instruments:
Unrealized losses arising during the period, net of tax benefit of $0.3,
$O.0, AN P00t e e e et ee ettt e e e e ans
Currency translation adjustment:
Unrealized losses arising during the period, net of tax benefit of $0.3,
0.0, AN FO.0....c.ceeeeieirreee e

Reclassification adjustments for losses included in net income, net of tax
benefit of $0.0, $0.0, and $0.0.......ccvoveveiririrceerireeere e

COMPIrENENSIVE INCOIMIE ...ttt sttt sae bbb b e e e eneenes
See accompanying notes to consolidated and combined financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
(in millions)

7.7 % 89.7 $ 123.0

(0.9) — —
— (1.4) (0.1)
3.0 — —
2.1 (1.4) (0.1)

778 $ 883 $ 122.9




Arcosa, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated and Combined Balance Sheets

December 31, December 31,
2018 2017

(in millions, except per share amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and Cash EQUIVAIENES............ccueucucuceieiee et ss bbb senas $ 994 $ 6.8
Receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $8.7 and $8.6............ccccccceevveeneens 291.4 165.3
Inventories:
Raw materials and SUPPIIES.......coe it e 128.4 91.3
WVOTK 1N PIOCESS......ee ettt ettt bbbttt b e s e b e b e se e e e e e e et e neeneeneeneebenaas 33.3 47.2
LIRS 00 (00 SRS 90.8 108.3
252.5 246.8
(@131 O 23.7 9.9
TOtAl CUITENE @SSELS ......veiiiveeiee ittt et e ete et e sb e e steesate e sbeeease e beesabeessessabeesseesaseesreeensenssenans 667.0 428.8
Property, plant, and equUipmMENt, NEL ...........ccoirirree e 803.0 583.1
(700 11T/ 1 | RS 615.2 494.3
DEfEITEA INCOME LAXES ......veiive ettt ettt eete e s ste e s ae e e beesaeesabeesaaeenseesbeeeseesseeans 6.9 8.8
(@1 T= =SS PP SRR 80.1 87.5
3 21722 3 1,602.5
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
ACCOUNES PAYBIIE ...ttt ettt bbb bbbttt b bbbttt et ebeb et et esesetetesans $ 86.2 $ 56.0
F N 1U1c o RTE= o T L (=R 146.2 118.0
Current portion of 10ng-term debt ..o 1.8 0.1
Total CUITENE HHADITITIES.....ccveieecricee ettt st st e e b e e saeeneas 234.2 174.1
D<o TR 183.7 0.4
DEfEITEA INCOME TAXES ......veiiieeitee it cciee ettt e eee et e seeesteesaseesseesaeeebeesseesabeessaeenseessseensensseesns 58.3 11.0
(01 1S g L= oL L =TS 115 9.1
487.7 194.6

Stockholders’ equity:
Former Parent'S NEL INVESIMENT .........viiieeie ettt et e et e s eaeesesbeesesnseessssnesssrneeas — 1,427.7

Common stock, $0.01 par value — 200.0 shares authorized at December 31, 2018; 0.0
at December 31, 2017; 48.8 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2018; 0.0

Al DECEMDET 3L, 2017 ..ottt sttt sttt et e b e b e 0.5 —
Capital iN XCESS Of PAr VAIUE. .....cue it 1,685.7 —
RELAINEA EAININGS ... ecveeiecteeie ettt st e e e e e e s teeaeeeteesesreensesreensesneeseesneens 195 —
Accumulated other COMpPreheNSIVE 10SS........cociieiiiieisese e a7.7) (19.8)
Treasury stock — 0.1 shares at December 31, 2018; 0.0 at December 31, 2017................. (3.5) —

1,684.5 1,407.9
$ 21722 $ 1,602.5

See accompanying notes to consolidated and combined financial statements.
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Arcosa, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated and Combined Statements of Cash Flows

Operating activities:
NELINCOME ...ttt e
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization..............ccoeevererereneeseereereeeeene
[MPEITMENE CNAIGE ....ce ettt
Stock-based CompPENSation EXPENSE..........ccvrviereirerrireeiereeiesee s
Provision for deferred iNnCOME taXes..........ccuuerirerinenne st
Gains on disposition of property and other assetS..........ccoveereereeenieieniene
(Increase) decrease in OtNEr 8SSELS........coviiereeiee s
Increase (decrease) in other [iabilities .......ccoeoevenneniisneeee e
L1 SRR
Changesin current assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decreasein reCalVables........covvreiienre s
(Increase) decrease in INVENTOTIES ........c.cvrerererereneee e
(Increase) decrease in other CUrrent 8SSELS.......coveereereeerisesiee s
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable....... ..o
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities. ... ..o
Net cash provided by operating activities..........ccoeeveeieiineineseeesee
Investing activities:
Proceeds from disposition of property and other assets...........ccccecrverennenne.
Capital EXPENAITUIES ......c.eoiiiiieiieiere e sae s
Acquisitions, net of cash aCQUITEd...........cceerererininere e
Proceeds from diVESHITUIES..........ccooeiiieiieies e
Net cash required by investing aCtiVIties ........ocoeeerererene e
Financing activities:
PaymentSto retire debt ..o
Proceeds from issuanCe Of debt .........c.eoveererenineinesre e
ShareS rePUICNASEM .......coeiiieeeeteee e
Capital contribution from Former Parent ...
Net transfers from/(to) Former Parent and affiliateS .........cccoceveceeinicncnnenne,
L1 0 SRR PP
Net cash provided by (required by) financing activities...........cccceeeereencnnne
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ..........ccooeeeieinienicnenneae
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period............cccooereneirininicnenenn
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period............cooeieiiiiieniieieee

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
(in millions)
757 $ 89.7 % 123.0
67.6 65.7 65.6
23.2 — —
9.9 9.0 10.5
224 10.3 231
(1.1) (1.4) (1.3)
6.4 (3.3 4.3
1.7) (7.6) 0.9
(3.1) 0.1 —
(80.9) (26.4) 0.3
(29.9) 24.3 56.4
(10.8) (0.6) 31
20.6 7.1 (20.5)
20.2 (4.9) (29.0
1185 162.0 227.8
10.2 35 5.0
(44.8) (82.4) (84.8)
(333.2) (47.5) —
353 — —
(364.5) (126.4) (79.8)
0.3) (0.1) (0.5)
180.0 0.6 —
(3.5) — —
200.0 — —
(34.5) (43.0 (241.7)
(3.1) (0.3 (2.0)
338.6 (42.8) (144.2)
92.6 (7.2 3.8
6.8 14.0 10.2
994 $ 68 $ 14.0

Income tax payments (refunds) for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 were $0.6 million, $0.0 million, and $0.0

million, respectively.

Non-cashinvesting activity: The Company's Former Parent i ssued shares of itscommon stock valued at $14.7 millionin connection

with a 2017 acquisition. See Note 2 Acquisitions and Divestitures.

See accompanying notes to consolidated and combined financial statements.



Arcosa, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated and Combined Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Common Treasury
Stock Stock
Former Accumulated
Parent's $0.01 Capital in Other Total
Net Par Excessof Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’
Investment  Shares Value Par Value  Earnings Loss Shares  Amount Equity
(in millions, except par value)

Balancesat December 31, 2015........ $ 1,386.6 — 3 — 3 — % — 3 (18.3) — 3 — $ 1,368.3
NELINCOME ... 123.0 — — — — — — — 123.0
Other comprehensiveloss............... — — — — — (0.1) — — (0.1)
Net transfers from Former Parent

and affiliates.......c.coovevrerrerrenen, (159.9) — — — — — — — (159.9)
Restricted shares, net...........ccccceee.e. 10.5 — — — — — — — 10.5

Balances at December 31, 2016.......... $ 1,360.2 — 3 — 3 — — 3 (18.4) — 3 — 3 1,341.8
Net inCOME........cceverererereieeieieieieens 89.7 — — — — — — — 89.7
Other comprehensiveloss............... — — — — — (1.4) — — 1.9
Net transfers from Former Parent

and affiliates..........oovvererereerrene. (31.2) — — — — — — — (31.2)
Restricted shares, net...........cccceeeeee. 9.0 — — — — — — — 9.0
Balances at December 31, 2017 ......... $ 14277 — 3 — 3 — % — 3 (19.8) — — $ 1,407.9
Cumulative effect of adopting new
accounting standards (see Note 1)... (4.0) — — — — — — — (4.0)
NEL INCOME ...t 53.8 — — — 21.9 — — — 75.7
Other comprehensive income.......... — — — — — 2.1 — — 2.1
Capital contribution from Former
Parent ........cccoeeeeeeeeeeieenens 200.0 — — — — — — — 200.0

Net transfers from Former Parent
and affiliates..........ccccoeeererenennnee. 1.2) — — — — — — — 1.2)
Distribution by Former Parent......... (1,684.6) 48.8 0.5 1,684.1 — — — — —
Cash dividends on common stock ... — — — (2.4) — — — (2.4)
Restricted shares, nét.........cccceueeeee. 8.3 — — 1.6 — — — (0.5) 9.4
Sharesrepurchased..........ccccoveeienee — — — — — — 0.2) (3.0 (3.0
Balances at December 31, 2018.......... $ = 488 $ 05 $16857 $ 195 $ 7.7) 01) $ @35 $ 1,684.5

See accompanying notes to consolidated and combined financial statements.
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Arcosa, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements

Note 1. Overview and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

On November 1, 2018, Arcosa, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries ("Arcosa,”" the “Company,” "we," or "our") became an
independent publicly-traded company as a result of the distribution by Trinity Industries, Inc. (“Trinity” or "Former Parent") of
100% of the outstanding shares of Arcosa, Inc. to Trinity’sstockholders (the“ Separation”). Trinity stockholdersreceived one share
of Arcosa, Inc. common stock for every three shares of Trinity common stock held as of 5:00 p.m. local New York City time on
October 17, 2018, the record date for the distribution. The transaction was structured to be tax-free to both Trinity and Arcosa
stockholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

The accompanying Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements present our historical financial position, results of
operations, comprehensive income/loss, and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.
(“GAAP’). Thecombinedfinancial statementsfor periodsprior to the Separationwerederived from Trinity’s consolidated financial
statements and accounting records and prepared in accordance with GAAP for the preparation of carved-out combined financial
statements. Through the date of the Separation, all revenues and costs as well as assets and liabilities directly associated with
Arcosa have been included in the combined financial statements. Prior to the Separation, the combined financial statements also
included allocations of certain selling, engineering, and administrative expenses provided by Trinity to Arcosa and allocations of
related assets, liabilities, and the Former Parent’s net investment, as applicable. The allocations were determined on a reasonable
basis; however, the amounts are not necessarily representative of the amounts that would have been reflected in the financial
statements had the Company been an entity that operated independently of Trinity during the applicable periods.

Following the Separation, the consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries and
no longer include any allocations from Trinity.

All normal and recurring adjustments necessary for afair presentation of the financial position of the Company and the results
of operations and cash flows have been made in conformity with GAAP. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated.

Relationship with Former Parent and Related Entities

Prior to the Separation, Arcosawas managed and operated in the normal course of business with other business units of Trinity.
The accompanying combined financial results for periods prior to the Separation include sales and purchase transactions with
Trinity and its subsidiariesin addition to certain shared costs which have been allocated to Arcosaand reflected as expensesin the
Combined Statements of Operations. Transactions and allocations between Trinity and Arcosa are reflected in equity in the
Combined Balance Sheets as Former Parent's net investment and in the Combined Statements of Cash Flowsasafinancing activity
in Net transfers from/(to) Former Parent and affiliates. All transactions and allocations between Trinity and Arcosa prior to the
Separation have been deemed paid between the parties, in cash, in the period in which the transaction or allocation was recorded
inthe Combined Financial Statements. Disbursementsand cash recei pts were made through centralized accounts payable and cash
collection systems, respectively, which were operated by Trinity. As cash was disbursed and received by Trinity, it was accounted
for by Arcosathrough the Former Parent's net investment account. Allocations of current income taxes receivable or payable prior
to the Separati on were deemed to have been remitted to Arcosaor Trinity, respectively, in cash, inthe period to which thereceivable
or payable applies.

Corporate Costs/Allocations

Thecombined financial resultsinclude an all ocation of costsrelated to certain corporate functionsincurred by Trinity for services
that are provided to or on behalf of Arcosa. Corporate costs have been allocated to Arcosa using methods management believes
are consistent and reasonable. Such cost allocations to Arcosa consist of (1) shared service charges and (2) corporate overhead
costs. Shared service charges consist of monthly charges to each Trinity business unit for certain corporate functions such as
information technology, human resources, and legal based on usage rates and activity units. Corporate overhead costs consist of
costs not previously allocated to Trinity's business units and were allocated to Arcosa based on an analysis of each cost function
and the relative benefits received by Arcosa for each of the periods. Corporate overhead costs allocated to Arcosa prior to the
Separation totaled $26.0 million, $39.3 million, and $31.4 million for the ten months ended October 31, 2018 and the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Corporate overhead costs are included in selling, engineering, and administrative
expenses in the accompanying Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations. Also see Note 4 Segment Information.
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The Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements of Arcosa may not include all of the actual expenses that would have
been incurred had we operated as a standal one company during the periods presented and may not reflect our combined results of
operations, financial position, and cash flows had we operated as a standal one company during the periods presented. Actual costs
that would have been incurred if we had operated as a standalone company would depend on multiple factors, including
organizational structure and strategic decisions made in various areas, including information technology and infrastructure. We
also may incur additional costs associated with being a standalone, independent, publicly-traded company that were not included
inthe expenseallocationsand, therefore, would result in additional coststhat are not reflected in our historical resultsof operations,
financia position, and cash flows.

Other Transactions with Trinity Businesses

Other transactions with Trinity businesses for purchases or sales of products and services are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
(in millions)
Sales by Arcosato Trinity DUSINESSES.........cceeieeiiieeeeiieeree e seeaes $ 160.3 $ 1483 $ 187.2
Purchases by Arcosa from Trinity BUSINESSES ........c.cceeveeeieeiececeeeee e $ 445 $ 532 $ 442

Stockholders' Equity

In December 2018, the Company’s Board of Directorsauthorized a$50 million share repurchase program effective December 5,
2018 through December 31, 2020. During December 2018, the Company repurchased 124,272 shares at a cost of $3.0 million.

Prior to the Separation, the Company filed its Restated Certificate of Incorporation which authorizes the i ssuance of 200 million
shares of common stock at a par value of $0.01 per share.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured based on the allocation of the transaction price in a contract to satisfied performance obligations. The
transaction price does not include any amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Company recognizes revenue when it
satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a customer. The following is a description
of principal activitiesfrom which the Company generatesitsrevenue, separated by reportabl e segments. Paymentsfor our products
and services are generally due within normal commercial terms. For a further discussion regarding the Company’s reportable
segments, see Note 4 Segment Information.

Construction Products Group

The Construction Products Group recognizes revenue when the customer has accepted the product and legal title of the product
has passed to the customer.

Energy Equipment Group

Within the Energy Equipment Group, revenue is recognized for our wind tower and certain utility structure product lines over
time as the products are manufactured using an input approach based on the costs incurred relative to the total estimated costs of
production. We recognize revenue over timefor these products asthey are highly customized to the needs of anindividual customer
resulting in no alternative use to the Company if not purchased by the customer after the contract is executed, and we have the
right to bill the customer for our work performed to date plus at least areasonable profit margin for work performed. For all other
products, revenueisrecogni zed when the customer has accepted the product and legal title of the product has passed to the customer.

Transportation Products Group

The Transportati on Products Group recogni zes revenue when the customer has accepted the product and legal title of the product
has passed to the customer.

Unsatisfied Performance Obligations

The following table includes estimated revenue expected to be recognized in future periods related to performance obligations
that are unsatisfied or partially satisfied as of December 31, 2018 and the percentage of the outstanding performance obligations
as of December 31, 2018 expected to be delivered during 2019:
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Unsatisfied performance obligations at
December 31, 2018
Percent expected

Total to be delivered in
Amount 2019
(in millions)
Energy Equipment Group:
Wind towers and Utility SITUCIUIES .........couiiieiireiiriieeie e e $ 633.1 64.0%
L@ 14 1= TR $ 55.1 100.0%
Transportation Products Group:
NN DAIGES ... . $ 230.5 94.0%

The remainder of the unsatisfied performance obligations for wind towers and utility structures and inland barges are expected
to be delivered through 2020.

Income Taxes

Income taxes as presented in the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements attribute current and deferred income taxes
of Trinity to Arcosa's standalone financial statements in a manner that is systematic, rational, and consistent with the asset and
liability method prescribed by the Accounting Standards Codification Topic 740 - Income Taxes (“ASC 740"). Accordingly,
Arcosa’'sincome tax provision has been prepared following the separate return method. The separate return method appliesASC
740 to the standalone financial statements of each member of the consolidated group as if the group member were a separate
taxpayer and astandal one enterprise. Asaresult, actual tax transactionsincluded in the consolidated financial statementsof Trinity
may not be included in the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements of Arcosa. Similarly, the tax treatment of certain
itemsreflected in the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statementsof Arcosamay not bereflected in the consolidated financial
statements and tax returns of Trinity; therefore, such items as net operating losses, credit carryforwards, and valuation allowances
may exist in the standalone financia statements that may or may not exist in Trinity’s consolidated financial statements.

Theliability method isused to account for incometaxes. Deferred incometaxesrepresent thetax effects of temporary differences
between the carrying amountsof assetsand liabilitiesfor financial reporting purposesand theamountsused for incometax purposes.
Valuation allowances reduce deferred tax assets to an amount that will more likely than not be realized.

The Company regularly evaluates the likelihood of realization of tax benefits derived from positions it has taken in various
federal and state filings after consideration of all relevant facts, circumstances, and available information. For those tax positions
that are deemed more likely than not to be sustained, the Company recognizes the benefit it believes is cumulatively greater than
50% likely to be realized. To the extent the Company were to prevail in matters for which accruals have been established or be
requiredto pay amountsin excessof recorded reserves, the effectivetax ratein agivenfinancial statement period could bematerialy
impacted.

Financial Instruments

The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments to be either cash and cash equivalents if purchased with a maturity
of three months or less. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk are primarily
cash investments and receivables. The Company places its cash investments in bank deposits and investment grade, short-term
debt instruments and limits the amount of credit exposure to any one commercial issuer. We seek to limit concentrations of credit
risk with respect to receivables with control procedures that monitor the credit worthiness of customers, the large number of
customers in the Company's customer base, and their dispersion across different industries and geographic areas. As receivables
are generally unsecured, the Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon the expected collectibility of all
receivables. Receivable balances determined to be uncollectible are charged against the allowance. The carrying values of cash,
receivables, and accounts payable are considered to be representative of their respective fair values.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined principally on thefirst in first out method.
The value of inventory is adjusted for damaged, obsolete, excess, or slow-moving inventory. Work in process and finished goods
include material, 1abor, and overhead. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded a $6.1 million write-off
on finished goods inventory related to an order for a single customer in our utility structures business.

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives are: buildings and improvements - 3 to 30 years; leasehold improvements - the lesser of the term of the
lease or 7 years; machinery and equipment - 2 to 10 years; and information systems hardware and software - 2 to 5 years. The
costs of ordinary maintenance and repair are charged to operating costs as incurred.
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Long-lived Assets

The Company periodically evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets to be held and used for potential impairment. The
carrying value of long-lived assets to be held and used is considered impaired only when the carrying value is not recoverable
through undiscounted future cash flows and the fair value of the assets is less than their carrying value. Fair value is determined
primarily using the anticipated cash flows discounted at arate commensurate with the risksinvolved or market quotes asavailable.
Impairment losses on long-lived assets held for sale are determined in asimilar manner, except that fair values are reduced by the
estimated cost to dispose of the assets. See Note 2 Acquisitions and Divestitures for discussion of the impairment charge recorded
during the year on businesses that were subsequently divested. Based on the Company's evaluations, no additional impairment
charges were determined to be necessary as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill is required to be tested for impairment annually, or on an interim basis whenever events or circumstances change,
indicating that the carrying amount of the goodwill might be impaired. The quantitative goodwill impairment test is a two-step
process with step one requiring the comparison of the reporting unit's estimated fair value with the carrying amount of its net
assets. If necessary, step two of the impairment test determines the amount of goodwill impairment to be recorded when the
reporting unit's recorded net assets exceed its fair value. Impairment is assessed at the “reporting unit” level by applying a fair
value-based test for each unit with recorded goodwill. The estimates and judgments that most significantly affect the fair value
calculations are assumptions, consisting of level three inputs, related to revenue and operating profit growth, discount rates, and
exit multiples. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company's annual impairment test of goodwill was completed at the
reporting unit level and no impairment charges were determined to be necessary.

The net book value of intangible assetstotaled $55.2 million and $64.4 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively,
and included $34.1 million not subject to amortization related to an acquired trademark. The remaining intangible assets with a
gross cost of $44.6 million and $55.0 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, are amortized over their estimated useful lives
ranging from 1to 12 years, and primarily rel ateto acquired customer rel ationships. Aggregate amorti zation expensefromintangible
assets was $4.7 million, $5.0 million, and $5.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Intangible assets were evaluated for potential impairment as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Insurance

The Company is effectively self-insured for workers' compensation claims. A third party administrator isused to processclaims.
We accrue our workers' compensation liability based upon independent actuarial studies.

Warranties

The Company provides various express, limited product warranties that generally range from one to five years depending on
the product. The warranty costs are estimated using a two-step approach. First, an engineering estimate is made for the cost of all
claims that have been asserted by customers. Second, based on historical, accepted claims experience, a cost is accrued for all
productsstill within awarranty period for which no claimshave beenfiled. The Company providesfor the estimated cost of product
warranties at the time revenue is recognized related to products covered by warranties and assesses the adequacy of the resulting
reserveson aquarterly basis. Asof December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company's accrual for warranty costs was $2.9 million and
$2.6 million, respectively, which isincluded in accrued liabilities within the Consolidated and Combined Balance Sheets.

Derivative Instruments

The Company may, from time to time, use derivative instruments to mitigate the impact of changesin interest rates or changes
in foreign currency exchange rates. For derivative instruments designated as hedges, the Company formally documents the
relationship between the derivative instrument and the hedged item, as well as the risk management objective and strategy for the
use of the derivative instrument. This documentation includes linking the derivative to specific assets or liabilities on the balance
sheet, commitments, or forecasted transactions. At thetime aderivativeinstrument isentered into, and at least quarterly thereafter,
the Company assesses whether the derivative instrument is effective in offsetting the changes in fair value or cash flows of the
hedged item. Any changeinthefair value of the hedged instrument isrecorded in accumul ated other comprehensiveloss ("AOCL")
as a separate component of stockholders' equity and reclassified into earnings in the period during which the hedged transaction
affects earnings. The Company monitors its derivative positions and the credit ratings of its counterparties and does not anticipate
losses due to counterparties non-performance.

Foreign Currency Translation

Certain operations outside the U.S. prepare financial statementsin currencies other than the U.S. dollar. The income statement
amounts are translated at average exchange rates for the year, while the assets and liabilities are trandlated at year-end exchange
rates. Translation adjustments are accumul ated as a separate component of stockholders' equity and other comprehensive income.
The functional currency of our Mexico operations is considered to be the U.S. dollar. The functional currency of our Canadian
operations is considered to be the Canadian dollar.
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Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss) consists of foreign currency translation adjustments and the effective unrealized gains and
losses on the Company's derivative financial instruments, the sum of which, along with net income, constitutes comprehensive
net income (loss). See Note 11 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss. All components are shown net of tax.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Effective as of January 1, 2018, the Company adopted A ccounting Standards Update No. 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with
Customers," ("ASU 2014-09") which provides common revenue recognition guidance for GAAP. Under ASU 2014-09, an entity
recognizes revenue when it transfers promised goods or servicesto customersin an amount that reflects what it expectsto receive
in exchange for the goods or services. It also requires additional detailed disclosures to enable users of financial statements to
understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.

TheCompany applied ASU 2014-09to all contractsthat were not complete asof January 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective
method of adoption, resulting in areduction to Former Parent's Net Investment of $4.0 million, net of tax, as of January 1, 2018
related to the cumul ative effect of applying thisstandard. Therefore, the comparativeinformation for the yearsended December 31,
2017 and December 31, 2016 have not been adjusted and continue to be reported under ASC Topic 605.

The primary impact of adopting the standard is a change in the timing of revenue recognition for our wind towers and certain
utility structures product lineswithin our Energy Equipment Group. Previously, the Company recognized revenuewhen the product
was delivered. Under ASU 2014-09, revenue is recognized over time as the products are manufactured. Revenue recognition
policiesin our other business segments remain substantially unchanged.

Thefollowing tables summarize the impact of adopting ASU 2014-09 on the Company’s Consolidated and Combined Financial
Statements as of December 31, 2018 and the twelve months then ended:

Balance
without
adjustment for
adoption of
As Reported Adjustments ASU 2014-09

(in millions)
Consolidated and Combined Statement of Operations
REVENUES ...t 1,460.4 (24.1) 1,436.3
(00 1S 0 =Y/ 010 - 1,188.4 (17.8) 1,170.6
(@707 r= ] To (o {1 94.9 (6.2) 88.7
INcome before iNCOME tAXES .......ecveivereeieeeeeee e e 95.0 (6.2) 88.8
Provision for INCOME taXES.........ccceieieiiieeieseeeeeese et snesne e s 19.3 (1.9 17.9
[N ] ot 31T T 75.7 (4.8 70.9
Consolidated and Combined Balance Sheet
Receivables, net of allowance ®............co.cooveoveveeeeeeeesseseeseeese s 291.4 (46.5) 244.9
Inventories:
RAW MELENTAIS ...t 128.4 — 128.4
WOTK 1N PrOCESS ...ttt sttt 333 17.8 51.1
FiniShed gOOOS. ... .c.ciueiiriiirieirieesi e 90.8 27.8 118.6
Accrued [1aDIITIES ........ceiiiiiiee s 146.2 (0.2) 146.0
Deferred iNCOME TAXES .......ciivruiieereeerieerie e 58.3 (0.2) 58.2
Capital in excess of Par VAlUE ......c..oveieieierieie e 1,685.7 5.0 1,690.7
RetaiNed @arningS.........coieeriririreiieere e 195 (5.6) 13.9
Consolidated and Combined Statement of Cash Flows
Operating activities:
NEL TNCOME. ...ttt 75.7 (4.8) 70.9
Provisions for deferred inCOMe taxes .........ccuveereerieieneiesiiisieseeeees 224 (1.3 21.1
(Increase) decrease in recaiVables ..o (80.9) 38.6 (42.3)
(Increase) decrease in INVENTONIES.......c..cereerieereeesiesesieseese s (29.9) (17.8) (47.7)
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities. ..o 20.2 (14.7) 55
Net cash provided by operating aCtiVities. ... 118.5 — 1185

DThe increase in the receivables balance at December 31, 2018 from the adoption of ASU 2014-09 represents our balance of
contract receivables for which we have recognized revenues but have not yet billed our customers.
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In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02,
"Leases', ("ASU 2016-02") which amended the previous accounting standards for lease accounting, including requiring lessees
to recognize most leases on their bal ance sheets and making targeted changesto | essor accounting. ASU 2016-02 became effective
for public companiesduringinterim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted.

The Company adopted ASU 2016-02 effective January 1, 2019 using the optional transition method that allows the Company
to apply the guidance only to the most current period presented in the financial statements. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the standard will result in an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings as of the date of adoption. We do
not expect the cumulative effect adjustment to be significant, nor do we expect the standard to have amaterial impact on our results
of operations or cash flows. We expect the standard to increase total assets by approximately 1%. The Company hasimplemented
processes and al ease accounting system to ensure adequate internal controlswerein placeto assess our contracts and enabl e proper
accounting and reporting of financial information upon adoption.

In February 2018, the FASB issued A ccounting Standards Update No. 2018-02, “Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive
Income: Reclassification of Certain Tax Effectsfrom Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income”, (“ASU 2018-02") which gives
entities the option to reclassify from AOCL to retained earnings the stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax Cuts and JobsAct
enacted on December 22, 2017 (the "Act"). ASU 2018-02 became effective for public companies during interim and annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company el ected to adopt ASU 2018-02
asof January 1, 2018 resulting in areclassification adjustment from AOCL for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018 which
was not significant.

Management's Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsin conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Note 2. Acquisitions and Divestitures
The Company's acquisition and divestiture activities are summarized below:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
(in millions)
Acquisitions:
PUICHASE PIICE ...ttt sttt n e ne s $ 3341 $ 630 $ —
L= o= 01 Lo HN T $ 3332 % 475 $ —
(€700 o Y LI el0 o /= o 1R $ 1209 $ 250 $ =

Acquisitions - ACG Materials

On December 5, 2018, we completed the stock acquisition of ACG Materials ("ACG"), a producer of specialty materials and
aggregates which is included in our Construction Products Group. The purchase price of $309.1 million was funded with a
combination of cash on-hand and a$180.0 million borrowing under the Company's credit facility. From the date of the Separation
until December 31, 2018, acquisition-related transaction costs were insignificant. Costsincurred by the Former Parent prior to the
Separation were included in the allocation of corporate costs in accordance with the methodology described in Note 1.

The acquisition was recorded as a business combination based on preliminary valuations of the acquired assets and liabilities
at their acquisition date fair value using level threeinputs, defined as unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market
activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. We expect to complete our purchase price alocation as
soon as reasonably possible not to exceed one year from the acquisition date. Adjustments to the preliminary purchase price
allocation could be materia to the purchase price allocation, particularly with respect to our preliminary estimates of minera
reserves and deferred income taxes. The following table represents our preliminary purchase price allocation as of December 31,
2018:
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December 31, 2018

(in millions)

ACCOUNES FECAIVADIE. ..ot $ 23.7
F 1Y 1 (o 1= N 125
Property, plant, and equipment..............cooeeeeeieecieeeeeceee e, 834
MINEral FESEIVES......cuvceeceeee ettt sre e 137.1
(€07 1 TS 1114
OthEr BSSELS......o et e e 55
ACCOUNS PAYADIE. ... (10.2)
Accrued and other [i@hilities.........ccceevveiieienerereeee e (13.2)
Capital lease obligations..........ccccevvieieienieieniciesee e (5.3
Deferred iNCOME taXES.......ccvcvvereeese e stee e (35.8)
Total Net asSatS aCqUITET ........ccoveeecueeecieeecie et $ 309.1

The goodwill acquired, none of which is tax deductible, primarily relates to ACG's geographic footprint, market position, and
existing workforce. Revenues included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations from the date of the acquisition were
approximately $11.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, whereas operating profit during the same period was
insignificant.

Thefollowing table represents the unaudited pro-formaconsolidated operating results of the Company asif the ACG acquisition
had been completed on January 1, 2017. The unaudited pro-formainformation makes certain adjustmentsto depreciation, depletion,
and amortization expense to reflect the fair value recognized in the purchase price alocation, as well asto align ACG's capital
structure and debt financing with that of the Company at the acquisition date. As a measure of unaudited pro-forma earnings, we
have presented income before income taxes because our effective tax rates for 2018 and 2017 were impacted by one-time effects
of the Act that would be impracticable to calculate for ACG. The unaudited pro-forma information should not be considered
indicative of the results that would have occurred if the acquisition had been completed on January 1, 2017, nor is such unaudited
pro-forma information necessarily indicative of future results.

Year Ended December 31, 2018  Year Ended December 31, 2017

(in millions)
REVENUES ..o $ 1604.1 $ 1,594.4
Income beforeincome taxes..................... $ 976 $ 133.6

Acquisitions - Other

In March 2018, we completed the acquisition of certain assets of an inland barge business with a purchase price and net cash
paid of $25.0 million. The acquisition was recorded as a business combination based on vauations of the acquired assets and
liabilities at their acquisition date fair value using level three inputs, defined as unobservable inputs that are supported by little or
no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. The valuation resulted in the recognition
of $9.5 million of goodwill in our Transportation Products Group. Such assets and liabilities were not significant in relation to
assets and liabilities at the consolidated and combined or segment level.

In May 2017, we completed the acquisition of the assets of alightweight aggregates business paid for with cash of $6.2 million.
In October 2017, we compl eted the acquisition of the assets of alightweight aggregates businesses paid for with shares of Trinity
stock valued at $14.7 million. In July 2017, we completed the acquisition of the assets of a trench shoring products business for
$42. 1 million. All threeacquisitionswerein our Construction Products Group. Theseacquisitionswererecorded based on val uations
of the acquired assets and liabilities at their acquisition date fair value using level three inputs. Such assets and liabilities were not
significantinrelation to assetsand liabilities at the consolidated or segment level . See Note 3 Fair Value Accounting for adiscussion
of inputsin determining fair value.
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Divestitures

In October and November 2018, the Company completed the divestiture of certain businesses whose revenues of approximately
$20 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 are included in the Other component of the Energy Equipment Group. The net
proceeds from these divestitures were not significant. Prior to the sales, the Company recognized a pre-tax impairment charge of
$23.2 million on these businesses.

We have concluded that the divestiture of these businesses does not represent a strategic shift that would result in a materia
effect on our operations and financial results; therefore, these disposals have not been reflected in discontinued operations in our
Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.

There were no divestitures during the years ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016.

Note 3. Fair Value Accounting

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on arecurring basis are summarized below:

Fair Value Measurement as of December 31, 2018

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in millions)
Assets:

Cash eqUIVAIENTS..........cc.ccueveeceeeeecceee e $ 300 $ — 3 — $ 30.0
TOLA ASSEES. ... vt et et et et eee et ee et e e eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeens $ 300 $ — 3 — 3 30.0
Liabilities:

Interest rate hedge™.........oooovovoeeoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeceeeeseenes $ — 3 12 $ — $ 1.2
Total labilities........coovvveeeeeeeceeeec e $ — 3 12 % — 3 1.2

Fair Value Measurement as of December 31, 2017
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in millions)
Assets:

Cash EQUIVAIENLS .......cececeeeiececieeisceie s $ — $ — 3 — $ —
TOLA BSSELS. ...t veeeeeeeeeeeee e e ee et e et et et et et et eeenereeeeneeeeeas $ — $ — $ — 3 —
Liabilities:

Interest rate NedgeE™ ..o $ — 3 — 3 — 3 —
Total [HaDilITIES....oceeeeeeeee et $ — 3 — 3 — 3 —

@ ncluded in other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Fair valueis defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer aliability (an exit price) in the
principal or most advantageous market for that asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the
measurement date. An entity isrequired to establish afair valuehierarchy that maximizesthe use of observableinputsand minimizes
the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair values are
listed below:

Level 1-Thislevel isdefined asquoted pricesin activemarketsfor identical assetsor liabilities. The Company’scash equivalents
are instruments of the U.S. Treasury or highly-rated money market mutual funds.

Level 2—Thislevel isdefined as observableinputs other than Level 1 prices such asquoted pricesfor similar assetsor lighilities;
quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data
for substantially thefull term of theassetsor liabilities. Interest rate hedgesare val ued at exit pricesobtained from each counterparty.
See Note 7 Debt.

Level 3—Thislevd is defined as unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant
to the fair value of the assets or lighilities.

Note 4. Segment Information
The Company reports operating results in three principal business segments:

Construction Products. The Construction Products segment produces and sells construction aggregates and manufactures and sells
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trench shields and shoring products and services for infrastructure-related projects.

Energy Equipment. The Energy Equipment segment manufactures and sells products for energy-related businesses, including
structural wind towers, steel utility structures for electricity transmission and distribution, and storage and distribution tanks.

Transportation Products. The Transportation Products segment manufactures and sells products for the inland waterway and rail
transportation industries including barges, barge-related products, axles, and couplers.

The financial information for these segments is shown in the tables below. We operate principally in North America
Year Ended December 31, 2018

Revenues Operating Depreciation, .
Profit Depletion, & Capital
External Intersegment Total (Loss) Assets Amortization Expenditures
(in millions)
Construction aggregates................. $ 217.9
Other ... 74.4
Construction Products Group ..... $ 2923 $ — 2923 $ 504 $ 7698 $ 219 $ 17.2
Wind towers and utility structures 582.9
Other ... 197.2
Energy Equipment Group ........... 776.7 3.4 780.1 28.6 976.2 29.7 16.0
Inland barges........cccoceveceviececnnnne. 170.2
Steel components........cccccceveeveueennee. 221.2
Transportation Products Group.. 391.4 — 391.4 48.4 305.0 155 10.3
All Other ... — — — (0.1) — — —
Segment Totals before
Eliminations and Corporate........ 1,460.4 34 14638 127.3  2,051.0 67.1 43.5
(0101 ¢ o o] - 1 (- — — — (32.1) 121.2 0.5 1.3
Eliminations..........ccccovevevevveceenennene. — (3.4) (3.4) (0.3) — — —
Consolidated and Combined Total $ 1,460.4 $ — $14604 $ 949 $21722 $ 676 $ 44.8
Year Ended December 31, 2017
Revenues Operating Depreciation, .
Profit Depletion, & Capital
External Intersegment Total (Loss) Assets Amortization  Expenditures
(in millions)
Construction aggregates.................... $ 204.9
Other .., 54.0
Construction Products Group ......... $ 2589 $ — 2589 $ 537 $ 3912 $ 184 $ 48.9
Wind towers and utility structures.... 652.1
L0107 SO SISN 192.0
Energy Equipment Group............... 840.2 3.9 844.1 78.4 928.8 30.2 27.7
Inland barges........c.cocvireiineieneennn. 157.9
Steel components........cccccveeeeveeeenenne. 205.4
Transportation Products Group....... 363.3 — 363.3 39.0 257.5 17.1 5.8
All Other ..o — — — (0.2) — — —
Segment Totals before Eliminations
and COrporate ........ccovevereereeerereenens 1,462.4 39 1,466.3 1710 15775 65.7 824
COrporate. .......ccoveveerereeneeeeeeeeeeees — — — (39.3) 25.0 — —
Eliminations ........ccoceoeveeneieneneneenn — (3.9) (3.9) — — — —
Combined Total .......ccceevveeeveeenriennnas $ 14624 $ — $14624 $ 1317 $16025 $ 65.7 $ 824
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Year Ended December 31, 2016

Revenues Operating Depreciation, .
Profit Depletion, & Capital
External Intersegment Total (Loss) Assets Amortization  Expenditures
(in millions)
Construction aggregates................... $ 2134
Other ..o 38.5
Construction Products Group ......... $ 2519 $ — 2519 $ 593 $ 2831 $ 160 $ 44.6
Wind towers and utility structures.... 641.1
Other ..o 186.3
Energy Equipment Group............... 824.6 28 827.4 87.7 941.3 31.7 238
Inland barges.........ccoevveeereereeiveeenn, 403.1
Steel components........cccceveeeereeeenene. 224.4
Transportation Products Group....... 627.5 — 627.5 87.3 272.5 17.9 16.4
All Other ..o — — — (2.1) — — —
Segment Totals before Eliminations
and Corporate ........ccceveevveeeieeeanns 1,704.0 28 1,706.8 232.2 1,501.9 65.6 84.8
COrporate. .......covervenvereereeeeeeeeeeeeaes — — — (31.4) 24.4 — —
Eliminations.........ccccceeeeieviececienen, — (2.8) (2.8) — — — —
Combined Total .........ccooeeeieicenene. $ 17040 $ — $17040 $ 2008 $1526.3 $ 656 $ 84.8

Corporate assets are composed of cash and cash equivalents, certain property, plant, and equipment, and other assets. Capital

expenditures do not include business acquisitions.

Revenues from one customer included in the Energy Equipment Group constituted 19.4%, 22.9%, and 22.4% of consolidated or
combined revenues for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively. At December 31, 2018, one Energy
Equipment Group customer’strade receivables balance, all of which is expected to be collected within contract terms, accounted for

15.3% percent of the consolidated net receivables balance outstanding.

Revenues and operating profit for our Mexico operations for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 are presented

below. Our Canadian operations were not significant in relation to the consolidated financial statements.

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
(in millions)
Mexico:
Revenues:
QT $ 1082 $ 1182 $ 106.0
100 1107 | 82.3 62.6 67.1
$ 1905 $ 1808 $ 1731
L@ 0= 1T o (0] 11 USROS $ (11.0) $ 14 $ 38
Total assets and long-lived assets for our Mexico operations as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are presented below:
Total Assets Long-Lived Assets
December 31,
2018 2017 2018 2017
(in millions)
Y=o S $ 2038 $1725 $ 858 $ 919
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Note 5. Property, Plant, and Equipment

The following table summarizes the components of property, plant, and equipment as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.

December 31, December 31,

2018 2017
(in millions)

LANOW, ..ottt $ 3165 $ 176.0
Buildings and imMPrOVEMENES...........eiuiiiriiieeie ettt e e b b sae s 267.5 265.8
MaChiNEry @0 OLNEN.........coiiiiiie et b e e ebe e sne 715.9 598.6
CONSLIUCE ON 1N PrOGIESS.....euviviteseeseeeeeeseeseeies e e esesbesiesbesbesbeseessesbeseeseesee e s e eseeseeaesaesbesseses 28.8 24.3
1,328.7 1,064.7

Less accumulated depreciation and depletion..........c..covveiveererisinsenee e (525.7) (481.6)
$ 803.0 $ 583.1

@ Includes depletable land of $201.9 million as of December 31, 2018 and $64.9 million as of December 31, 2017.

We lease certain equipment and facilities under operating leases. Future minimum rent expense in each year is (in millions):
2019 - $7.7; 2020 - $5.7; 2021 - $3.5; 2022 - $2.3; 2023 - $1.8; and $7.6 thereafter.

We did not capitalize any interest expense as part of the construction of facilities and equipment during 2018 or 2017.

We estimate the fair market value of properties no longer in use based on the location and condition of the properties, the fair
market valueof similar propertiesinthearea, and the Company'sexperienceselling similar propertiesinthepast. Asof December 31,
2018, the Company had non-operating plants with a net book value of $46.9 million. Our estimated fair value of these assets
exceeds their book value.

Note 6. Goodwill

Goodwill by segment is asfollows:

December 31, December 31,

2018 2017
(in millions)
CoNStruCtion ProdUCES GIOUD .......cc.eeveueieueieeresieteseesesaesessesessessssessssessesessesessessssessssessssesessessssenes $ 1717 % 60.3
ENergy EQUIPMENT GIOUP......civeiiiieieiiesiesieeeteseeeesessesessestestessestestesseseessessesssssssssnsesessessessensens 416.9 416.9
Transportation ProdUCES GIOUD ......ceieiueeeieieessesieseeseeeeeeeesessessessessessessessessessesssssessssssessessenns 26.6 17.1
$ 6152 $ 494.3

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company's annual impairment test of goodwill was completed at the reporting unit
level and no impairment charges were determined to be necessary. The increase in the Construction Products Group goodwill
during the year ended December 31, 2018 is due to the acquisition of ACG. The increase in the Transportation Products Group
goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2018 is due to an acquisition. See Note 2 Acquisitions and Divestitures.

Note 7. Debt

The following table summarizes the components of debt as of December 31, 2018 and 2017:

December 31, December 31,

2018 2017
(in millions)
REVOIVING Credit FACHTTY . ... .vvuevereisiieceeisiscetct st ea st s sttt s s snses $ 180.0 $ =
CAPITAl [EBSES......e ettt e b e bbbt bbb e 5.5 0.5
0= 0 L= o $ 1855 $ 05

On November 1, 2018, the Company entered into a$400.0 million unsecured revolving credit facility that maturesin November
2023. The interest rates under the facility are variable based on LIBOR or an alternate base rate plus a margin that is determined
based on Arcosa’s leverage as measured by a consolidated total indebtedness to consolidated EBITDA ratio, which is currently
set at LIBOR plus 1.25%. A commitment fee accrues on the average daily unused portion of the revolving facility at the current
rate of 0.20%.
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Asof December 31, 2018, we had $180.0 million of outstanding |oans borrowed under the facility and there were approximately
$47.7 million in letters of credit issued, leaving $172.3 million available for borrowing. All of the outstanding letters of credit as
of December 31, 2018 are expected to expire in 2019. The mgjority of our letters of credit obligations support the Company’s
various insurance programs and warranty claims and generally renew by their terms each year.

The Company's revolving credit facility requires the maintenance of certain ratios related to leverage and interest coverage. As
of December 31, 2018, wewerein compliancewith al such financial covenants. Borrowingsunder thecredit facility are guaranteed
by certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

The carrying value of borrowings under our revolving credit facility approximates fair value because the interest rate adjuststo
the market interest rate (Level 3 input). See Note 3 Fair Value Accounting.

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had $1.4 million of unamortized debt issuance cost related to the revolving credit
facility, whichisincluded in other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The remaining principal payments under existing debt agreements as of December 31, 2018 are as follows:

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Thereafter

(in millions)
Revolving credit facility.........cccoovvieerrincenenn. $ — 3 — $ — $ — $ 1800 $ —
Capital 1€8SES......oveeeeieeeee e 1.9 1.3 1.0 1.3 — —
Total principal payments ........c.occeevrereeeeererenennns $ 19 3 13 $ 10 $ 13 $ 1800 $ —

Interest rate hedges

In December 2018, the Company entered into an interest rate swap instrument, effective as of January 2, 2019 and expiring in
2023, to reduce the effect of changes in the variable interest rates associated with borrowings under the revolving credit facility.
Theinstrument carried an initial notional amount of $100 million, thereby hedging the first $100 million of borrowings under the
credit facility. The instrument effectively fixesthe LIBOR component of the credit facility borrowings at 2.71%. As of December
31, 2018, the Company has recorded a liability of $1.2 million for the fair value of the instrument, all of which is recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive loss. See Note 3 Fair Value Accounting.

Note 8. Other, Net

Other, net (income) expense consists of the following items:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
(in millions)
[ NEEIESE INCOIME .....cveeieteeeteeeteseete st ete et st saeae st eae st esesae e be e ebeseeteseebesaeteseesesnas $ 04) $ (01) $ (0.2)
Foreign currency exchange tranSactions ..........ccccecvvevenesieseseesesee e (0.2) 2.2 4.8
(@ 131 PR (0.4) (0.5) (1.1)
Other, Net (iNCOME) EXPENSE.......cvevevereereeteteeeeeteteeee et teaesssssetesssessebeseesseesenes $ (10) $ 16 $ 3.6
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Note 9. Income Taxes
The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

(in millions)

Current:

=0 $ (54) $ 293 $ 43.9
S 1= 0.8 0.5 3.2
0] 1 o [ 1.5 0.3 4.0
B0 ot U1 = | S (3.1) 30.1 51.1

Deferred:

Federal
Effect of Tax Cutsand JODSACE........cceveiirere e (1.5) (6.2 —
L@ 13T 24.8 16.6 21.9
23.3 104 219
S 1= 5.4 0.9 0.3
0] 1 o | (6.3) (1.0 0.9
01 o (= £ = o S 22.4 10.3 23.1
PrOVISION ....ocviececccte ettt st s ae s s b e st e et e e etesnetesneresnes $ 193 $ 404 $ 74.2

The provision for income taxes results in effective tax rates that differ from the statutory rates. Thefollowing isareconciliation
between the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate and the Company’s effective income tax rate on income before income taxes:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016

S 10100 Y = L= OSSP 21.0% 35.0% 35.0%
SEAEE TAXES ...ttt e e 3.1 25 17
Domestic production activities deduCtion ..o — (2.1) (2.2)
Changesin valuation allowances and reSErVes..........cooooverereneeereeeeneeenens (1.2) 13 0.7
ChangeS iN taX FESEIVES .....cciuerieierieie ettt s ebe s ebeseebe e (1.4) 0.8 04
Effect of Tax Cuts and JODSACL..........cvriririeierere e (1.6) (5.0 —
PriOr YEAI TIUE-UPS ...ttt bbb (0.4) (2.2) (0.6)
FOreign adjuStMmENtS..........coviuiiriiiieee e 2.4 18 29
(@13 1= 0 (1.6) (1.0) (0.4)

EffECHIVE FAE ... e 20.3% 31.1% 37.6%

The Act was enacted on December 22, 2017. The Act reduced the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%,
required companies to pay a one-time transition tax on earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries that were previously tax deferred
and created new taxes on certain foreign-sourced earnings. For the year ended December 31, 2017, we recognized a provisional
benefit of $6.2 million, primarily related to theimpact of the Act on our deferred taxes. During the year ended December 31, 2018,
we finalized the accounting for the enactment of the Act and recorded an additional $1.5 million benefit, primarily as a result of
the true-up of our deferred taxes.

Income (loss) before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 was $106.6 million, $139.9 million,
and $205.7 million, respectively, for U.S. operations, and $(11.6) million, $(9.8) million, and $(8.5) million, respectively, for
foreign operations, principally Mexico and Canada. The Company provides deferred income taxes on the unrepatriated earnings
of itsforeign operations where it resultsin a deferred tax liability.
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Deferred income taxes represent the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The components of deferred tax liabilities and
assets are asfollows:

December 31,
2018 2017

(in millions)

Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation, depletion, and amOrtiZatiON ...........c.oeeerrrieiienieee e $ 1032 $ 32.6
Total deferred tax HaDilItIES.........ccoioirieiee b 103.2 32.6
Deferred tax assets:

Workers compensation, pensions, and other benefits..........coooviiiininnincccee 16.2 16.4

O e L= T == Y-SR 2.2 1.2

Tax [0ss carryforwards and CreditsS...........oeieeeereirieereere s 31.0 6.8

017 01 PP 10.8 10.0

Accrued liabilities and Other ..........cooo e (2.7) 2.7
TOtal AEfEITEA TAX BSSELS ... .euiieiiitiiei ettt bbbt 515 37.1
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) before valuation alloOWanCes............ccoeeeerrercencenecees (45.7) 45

ValUaLiON @lIOWEBNCES......c..eiuirieie ittt sttt s se et e e et nesae b e eaesnesaennas 5.7 7.0
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) before reserve for uncertain tax positions............ccccveeenee. (51.4) (2.5)

Deferred tax assetsincluded in reserve for uncertain tax PoSItioNS.........c.ccceeeeereeereneneeenenns — 0.3
Adjusted net deferred tax assets (lahilItiES)........cerrerieieriririreerree e $ (51.4) $ (2.2)

At December 31, 2018, the Company had $105.0 million of federal consolidated net operating loss carryforwards and $2.7
million of tax-effected state loss carryforwards remaining. In addition, the Company had $23.9 million of foreign net operating
loss carryforwards that will begin to expirein the year 2034.

We have established avaluation allowance for federal, state, and foreign tax operating losses and credits that we have estimated
may not be realizable.

Taxing authority examinations

We have various subsidiaries in Mexico that file separate tax returns and are subject to examination by taxing authorities at
different times. The entities are generally open for their 2013 tax years and forward.

Unrecognized tax benefits

The change in unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
(in millions)

Beginning DAlANCE. .........cocoviveieteeeeeeeecee sttt et neee $ 13 $ 74 % 8.3
Additions for tax positions related to the current year ..........cccceeevevenennene. — — —
Additions for tax positions of Prior YEars. ........ccceeeveeeseieeseesieseeseeseeeenenns 0.1 0.2 —
Reductions for tax positions of Prior YEars..........cccceeevevereseseeseesessesiennens — — (0.9
SEEMENES. ... e s ne s — (6.0 —
Expiration of statute of [imitationS..........cccccevevievieneniese e (0.9 (0.3) —

=0T [T gl [ o7z =T o OO $ 05 $ 13 8 7.4

The additionsfor tax positions of prior years of $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, are due to foreign tax positions.

The reductions for tax positions of prior years of $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 related primarily to
remeasured federal tax positions based upon new information that have been agreed to by the IRS. The corresponding deferred
tax assets related to these positions have also been removed.

Settlements for the year ended December 31, 2017 were due to the resolution of our 2006-2009 tax years.

Expiration of statutes of limitations during the year ended December 31, 2018 relate to state and foreign tax returns. Expiration
of statutes of limitations during the year ended December 31, 2017 relate to aforeign tax return.

Thetotal amount of unrecognized tax benefitsincluding interest and penalties at December 31, 2018 and 2017, that would affect
the Company’s effective tax rate if recognized was $0.5 million and $1.9 million, respectively. There is a reasonable possibility
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that unrecognized federal and state tax benefits will decrease by $0.5 million by December 31, 2019 due to settlements and lapses
in statutes of limitations for assessing tax years in which an extension was not requested by the taxing authority.

Arcosa accounts for interest expense and penalties related to income tax issues as income tax expense. Accordingly, interest
expense and penalties associated with an uncertain tax position are included in the income tax provision. The total amount of
accrued interest and penalties as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $0.0 million and $0.9 million, respectively. Income tax
expensefor theyearsended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 included decreases of $0.9 million, $1.5 million, and $0.6 million,
respectively, with regard to interest expense and penalties related to uncertain tax positions.

Note 10. Employee Retirement Plans

The Company sponsors defined benefit plans and defined contribution profit sharing plans that provide retirement income and
death benefitsfor eligibleemployeesand retirees of the Company. For periodsprior to the Separation, the parti cipation of employees
of the Company in defined benefit plans sponsored by Trinity is reflected in the combined financial statements as though the
Company participated in a multiemployer plan with Trinity. The assets and liabilities of the defined benefit plans were retained
by Trinity.

Prior to the Separation, the expenses of these benefit planswere all ocated to Arcosabased on areview of personnel and personnel
costs by business unit. A proportionate share of the cost is reflected in the combined financia statements.

In connection with the Separation, certain defined contribution profit sharing plans were separated into standalone plans for
Arcosa and Trinity.

Total employee retirement plan expense, which includes related administrative expenses, was $10.4 million, $9.0 million, and
$9.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively. Prior to the Separation, these costs were funded
through intercompany transactions with Trinity which are reflected within the Former Parent's Net Investment balance on the
accompanying combined balance sheet.

Multiemployer plan

The Company contributesto a multiemployer defined benefit pension plan under the terms of a collective-bargai ning agreement
that covers certain union-represented employees at one of the facilities of Meyer Utility Structures, a subsidiary of Arcosa. The
risks of participating in amultiemployer plan are different from a single-employer plan in the following aspects:

e Assets contributed to a multiemployer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to employees of other
participating employers.

e If aparticipating employer stops contributing to amultiemployer plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be borne
by the remaining participating employers.

e If the Company chooses to stop participating in the multiemployer plan, the Company may be required to pay the plan
an amount based on the underfunded status of the plan, referred to as awithdrawal liability.

Our participation in the multiemployer plan for the year ended December 31, 2018 is outlined in the table below. The Pension
Protection Act ("PPA") zone status at December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as of the plan years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively, and is obtained from the multiemployer plan's regulatory filings available in the public domain and certified by the
plan's actuary. Among other factors, plans in the yellow zone are less than 80% funded while plansin the red zone are less than
65% funded. Federal law requires that plans classified in the yellow or red zones adopt a funding improvement plan in order to
improve the financial health of the plan. The plan utilized an amortization extension and the funding relief provided under the
Internal Revenue Code and under the Preservation of Access to Care for Medicare Beneficiaries and Pension Relief Act in
determining the zone status. The Company's contributions to the multiemployer plan were less than 5% of total contributionsto
the plan. The last column in the table lists the expiration date of the collective bargaining agreement to which the plan is subject.

Contributions for Year

PPA Zone Status Ended December 31,
Employer Financial Expiration date of
Identification improvement Surcharge  collective bargaining
Pension Fund Number 2018 2017 plan status 2018 2017 2016 imposed agreement
(in millions)
Boilermaker-Blacksmith
National Pension Trust...  48-6168020  Yellow Yellow Implemented $ 21 $ 19 $ 23 No June 30, 2019



ACG Pension Plan

In connection with the acquisition of ACG in December 2018, the Company assumed the assets and liabilities related to a defined
benefit pension plan. As of December 31, 2018, the plan assets totaled $2.6 million and the projected benefit obligation totaled
$2.3 million, for a net over funded status of $0.3 million, which isincluded in other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
The net pension expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 was not significant. Employer contributions for the year ending
December 31, 2019 for the pension plan are not expected to be significant.

Cash flows

Employer contributions to the 401(k) plan and the Supplemental Profit Sharing Plan for the year ending December 31, 2019
are expected to be $6.8 million, of which $1.2 million will be funded by Arcosa. The remainder will be funded by our Former
Parent. Employer contributionsfor the year ending December 31, 2019 are expected to be $2.1 million for the multiemployer plan
compared to $2.1 million contributed during 2018. Employer contributions for the ACG pension plan for the year ending
December 31, 2019 are not expected to be significant.

Participants in the 401(k) plan are eligible to receive future retirement benefits through a company-funded annual retirement
contribution provided through the Arcosa, Inc. Profit Sharing Plan. The contribution ranges from one to three percent of eligible
compensation based on service. Both the annual retirement contribution and the company matching contribution are discretionary,
requiring board approval, and are made annually with the investment of the funds directed by the participants.

Note 11. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Changesin accumulated other comprehensive loss for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 are as
follows:

Unrealized
loss on Accumulated
Currency derivative Other
translation financial Comprehensive
adjustments  instruments Loss
(in millions)

Balances at December 31, 2015.........cccveeeeeveeeeieseeeeesssesesssssssssssssssssssssssssnns $ (18.3) $ — 3 (18.3)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax, before reclassifications...................

(0.1) — (0.1)

Other comprenenSIVE [0SS...........coiiiiiiiie e e (0.1) — (0.1)

Balances at December 31, 2016.........ccceiueruerirnieneeneeeeereeeeienie e (18.4) — (18.4)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax, before reclassifications...................

(1.4) — (1.4)

Other compPrenenSIVE 10SS........c.coeiiriiireie e (1.4) — (1.4)

Balances at December 31, 2017 .......cooeieiinienienienieieeeeeeeie s (19.8) — (19.8)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, before reclassifications....

— (0.9 0.9

Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss, net
of tax benefit of $0.0, $0.0, and $0.0 3.0 — 3.0
Other comprehenSIVe INCOME..........ooiiririreereereereeese s 3.0 (0.9) 2.1
Balances at December 31, 2018........ccvoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeseeeeeeeeeseseeesenseenens $ (16.8) $ 0.9) $ (17.7)

Reclassifications of unrealized before-tax losses on derivative financial instruments are included in interest expense in the
Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations. Thereclassifications of unrealized before-tax |osseson currency translation
adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2018 relates to the divestiture of certain Canadian operations and isincluded in the
impairment charge recorded on these businesses in the Consolidated and Combined Statement of Operations.

Note 12. Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to the Separation, Arcosa employees participated in Trinity's equity incentive plans, including equity awards of restricted
stock, restricted stock units, and performance-based restricted stock units in respect of Trinity common shares. Arcosas
Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements reflect compensation expense for these stock-based plans associated with the
portion of the Trinity's equity incentive plans in which Arcosa employees participated.

Following the Separation, outstanding awards granted to Arcosaempl oyeesunder Trinity'sequity incentive planswere converted
based on either the shareholder method or the concentration method. The shares or units converted using the sharehol der method
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resulted in employees retaining their restricted shares or unitsin Trinity common stock and receiving one restricted Arcosa share
or unit for every three restricted Trinity shares or units. The units converted using the concentration method were fully converted
into Arcosa units using a conversion ratio based on the Volume Weighted Average Prices ("VWAP") of Trinity common stock for
the 5 days prior to the Separation divided by the VWAP of Arcosa common stock for the 5 days following the Separation. The
Arcosaunits continueto vest in accordance with their original vesting schedul es. There was no significant incremental stock-based
compensation expense recorded as a result of the equity award conversions.

In connection with the Separation, effective November 1, 2018, the Board of Directors of Arcosa, Inc. (the "Board") adopted
and Trinity, in its capacity as sole shareholder of Arcosaprior to the Separation, approved, the Arcosalnc. 2018 Stock Option and
Incentive Plan (the "Plan"). The Plan provides for the grant of equity awards, including stock options, restricted stock, restricted
stock units, performance shares, and other performance-based awards, to our directors, officers, and employees. The maximum
number of shares of Arcosa common stock that may be issued under the Plan is 4.8 million shares, which includes the shares
granted under the Trinity equity incentive plans that were converted and assumed by Arcosa as aresult of the Separation.

At December 31, 2018 we had 2.8 million shares available for grant. Any equity awards that have been granted under the Plan
that are subsequently forfeited, canceled, or tendered to satisfy tax withholding obligations are added back to the shares available
for grant.

The cost of employee servicesreceived in exchange for awards of equity instrumentsisreferred to as share-based payments and
isbased on the grant date fair-value of those awards. Stock-based compensation includes compensation expense, recognized over
the applicablevesting periods, for share-based awards. The Company recognizes compensation expensefor both the Arcosaawards
and Trinity awards held by our employees. Stock-based compensation totaled $9.9 million, $9.0 million, and $10.5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively.

The income tax benefit related to stock-based compensation expense was $2.6 million, $4.6 million, and $3.4 million for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively.

Equity Awards

Equity awards outstanding as of December 31, 2018 consist of restricted stock, restricted stock units, and performance units
and generally vest for periods ranging from oneto fifteen years from the date of grant. Certain equity awardsvest in their entirety
upon the employee's retirement from the Company and may take into consideration the employee's age and years of serviceto the
Company, as defined more specifically in the Company's award agreements. Equity awards granted to non-employee directors
under the Plan generally vest one year from the grant date and are released at that time, in the case of restricted stock, or upon
completion of the directors' service to the Company, in the case of restricted stock units. Expense related to equity awards issued
to eligible employees and directors under the Plan isrecognized ratably over the vesting period or to the date on which retirement
eligibility is achieved, if shorter. Performance units vest and settle in shares of our common stock following the end of a three-
year performance period contingent upon the achievement of specific performance goals during the performance period and
certification by the Human Resources Committee of the Board of Directors of the achievement of the performance goals.
Performance units are granted to employees based upon atarget level of performance; however, depending upon the achievement
of the performance goals during the performance period, performance units may be issued at an amount between 0% and 200%
of thetarget level. Expense related to performance unitsis recognized ratably from their award date to the end of the performance
period. Forfeitures are recognized as reduction to expense in the period in which they occur.

The activity for equity awards held by Arcosa employees from November 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018 was as follows:

Weighted
Average
Trinity Equity Arcosa Equity Grant-Date
Awards Held by Awards Held by Fair Value per
Arcosa Employees Arcosa Employees Award

Equity awards outstanding at November 1, 2018...........cccccevveveennene. 1,162,734 907,333 $ 20.34
GraNtEU. ..o — 163,053 28.92
VESIEO. 1o eee e eeeee s ses e eeseee e s ee s ee e ee s eesseeseeee e seseses e ee e nnees (3,000) (1,000) 35.65
FOTFEItEO ..o sesee e seseees e se e s seseees e eeeeneeesenee (5,299) (4,363) 25.93
Equity awards outstanding at December 31, 2018..........ccccccevevveuennene. 1,154,435 1,065,023 $ 21.04

At December 31, 2018, unrecognized compensation expense related to equity awards totaled $25.6 million which will be
recognized over aweighted average period of 5.2 years. The total vesting-date fair value of shares vested and released during the
year ended December 31, 2018 was not significant.
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Note 13. Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income remaining after allocation to unvested restricted shares,
whichincludesunvested restricted sharesof Arcosastock held by employeesof the Former Parent, by theweighted average number
of basic common shares outstanding for the period. Except when the effect would be antidilutive, the cal cul ation of diluted earnings
per common share includes the weighted average net impact of nonparticipating unvested restricted shares. For periods prior to
the Separation, the denominator for basic and diluted net income per share was cal cul ated using the 48.8 million shares of common
stock outstanding immediately following the Separation. Total weighted average restricted shares and antidilutive stock options
were 0.3 million shares, 0.0 million shares, and 0.0 million shares, for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016,
respectively.

The computation of basic and diluted earnings per share follows.

Year Ended
December 31, 2018

(in millions, except per share amounts)
Income Average

(Loss) Shares EPS
< T el T $ 75.7
Unvested restricted share partiCipation..........ccceceeeereereriesiesesese e seese e e eseens 0.2)
N B To0) TS El 7= = [ 75.5 488 $ 1.55
Effect of dilutive securities;
Nonparticipating unvested restricted SharesS ..o — 0.1
NEt INCOME — QITULE .......ecveecve ettt sttt s st st st $ 75.5 489 $ 1.54
Year Ended
December 31, 2017
(in millions, except per share amounts)
Income Average
(Loss) Shares EPS
N[0 10 T $ 89.7
Unvested restricted share partiCipation...........ccoeeeeerrenseneeseesee e —
N LS TR0 TSR o= = o 89.7 488 $ 1.84
Effect of dilutive securities:
Nonparticipating unvested restricted Shares ... — —
NEL INCOME = QIULED ...ttt s enis $ 89.7 488 $ 1.84
Year Ended
December 31, 2016
(in millions, except per share amounts)
Income Average
(Loss) Shares EPS
NN = T el 1= $ 123.0
Unvested restricted share partiCipation ...........ccceeereeenenenenese e —
N = T Tee) TSR 7= = (o 123.0 488 $ 2.52
Effect of dilutive securities:
Nonparticipating unvested restricted SNAreS.........ocooveirerirere e — —
N T RTee TR 1 1011= o S $ 123.0 488 $ 2.52
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Note 14. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company isinvolved in claims and lawsuits incidental to our business arising from various matters including commercial
disputes, alleged product defect and/or warranty claims, intellectual property matters, personal injury claims, environmental issues,
employment and/or workplace-rel ated matters, and various governmental regulations. The Company eval uatesits exposureto such
claims and suits periodically and establishes accruals for these contingencies when a range of loss can be reasonably estimated.
The range of reasonably possible losses for such matters, taking into consideration our rights in indemnity and recourse to third
parties, is $1.3 million to $11.3 million. At December 31, 2018, total accruals of $5.1 million, including environmental and
workplace matters described below, are included in accrued liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. The
Company believes any additional liability would not be material to its financial position or results of operations.

Arcosais subject to remedial orders and federal, state, local, and foreign laws and regulations relating to the environment. The
Company has reserved $1.1 million, included in our total accruals of $5.1 million discussed above, to cover our probable and
estimable liabilities with respect to the investigations, assessments, and remedial responses to such matters, taking into account
currently available information and our contractual rights to indemnification and recourse to third parties. However, estimates of
liability arising from future proceedings, assessments, or remediation are inherently imprecise. Accordingly, there can be no
assurance that we will not become involved in future litigation or other proceedingsinvolving the environment or, if we are found
to be responsible or liable in any such litigation or proceeding, that such costs would not be material to the Company.

Other commitments

Non-cancelable purchase obligations amounted to $188.4 million as of December 31, 2018, of which $100.8 million isfor the
purchase of raw materials and components, primarily by the Energy Equipment and Transportation Products Groups.

Note 15. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2018 2018 2018 2018

(in millions except per share data)

REVENUES .......coeieiiiecte ettt $ 3544 $ 3530 $ 3786 $ 3744
Operating costs:

COSt Of FEVENUES .....cveveiiie i e e 285.6 283.0 308.9 310.9

Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses....... 37.6 394 40.1 36.8

IMpairment Charge.........oeevirrineiseese e — — 23.2 —
OpeErating Profit.......ccoeereereereeerieerieeseesesee s 31.2 30.6 6.4 26.7
Income before iNComMe taXxes .......cccevveeeerreresenese e 30.2 294 6.6 28.8
Provision (benefit) for income taxes...........cooeveerereenene 8.0 6.8 34 1.1
NEL INCOME......cviveriieiiieteee ettt eae e nnsnenes $ 22 $ 226 $ 32 % 27.7
Net income per common share':

BaSIC ..o e $ 045 $ 046 $ 007 $ 0.56

DIlULE ... $ 045 $ 046 $ 007 $ 0.56
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Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2017 2017 2017 2017
(in millions except per share data)

REVENUES .......cvevieeeietieeeetee ettt s ne s $ 396.3 $ 3527 $ 3659 $ 3475
Operating costs:

COStS Of FEVENUES.......ocvieveie et 319.8 2755 2904 282.0

Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses....... 36.9 41.8 419 424

ImMpairment Charge.........oeverrinnineeees e — — — —
Operating Profit.......ccoeereereereereereseseeesee s 39.6 354 33.6 231
Income before iNCoOME taXes .......coveveeeereresesese e 38.4 36.4 338 215
Provision (benefit) for income taxes...........cocccvevvrveeeene. 14.8 14.5 13.2 (2.1)
NEL INCOME .....ocviieeeerieeeiieetee et s ae s $ 236 $ 219 $ 206 $ 23.6
Net income per common share™®:

BaSIC ..o e $ 048 $ 045 $ 042 $ 0.48

DIULEA ..o $ 048 $ 045 $ 042 $ 0.48

@ For periods prior to the Separation, the denominator for basic and diluted net income per common share was calculated using
the 48.8 million shares of common stock outstanding immediately following the Separation.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

The Company maintainsdisclosure control sand procedures designed to ensurethat itisabl eto collect and record theinformation
it isrequired to disclose in the reports it files with the SEC, and to process, summarize, and disclose this information within the
time periods specified in the rules of the SEC. The Company's Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers are responsible for
establishing and maintaining these procedures and, as required by the rules of the SEC, evaluating their effectiveness. Based on
their evaluation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures that took place as of the end of the period covered by this
report, the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers believe that these procedures are effective to 1) ensure that the Company
is able to collect, process, and disclose the information it is required to disclose in the reports it files with the SEC within the
required time periods and 2) accumulate and communicate this information to the Company's management, including its Chief
Executive and Chief Financial Officers, to allow timely decisions regarding this disclosure.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

ThisAnnual Report on Form 10-K doesnotincludeareport of management’sassessment regarding internal control over financial
reporting or an attestation of the Company’s registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by rules of
the SEC for newly-public companies.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the three months ended December 31, 2018, there have been no changesin the Company’sinternal control over financial
reporting that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company’sinternal control over financial

reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART 11

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Information regarding the directors of the Company isincorporated by reference to the information set forth under the caption
“Proposal 1 - Election of Class | Directors’ in the Company's Proxy Statement to be filed for the 2019 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (the “2019 Proxy Statement”). Information relating to the executive officers of the Company is set forth in Part | of
thisreport under the caption “ Executive Officers and Other Corporate Officers of the Company.” Information relating to the Board
of Directors' determinations concerning whether at least one of the members of the Audit Committee is an “audit committee
financial expert” asthat term is defined under Item 407 (d)(5) of Regulation S-K isincorporated by reference to the information
set forth under the caption “ Corporate Governance - Board Meeting and Committees - Audit Committee” in the Company's 2019
Proxy Statement. Information regarding the Company'sAudit Committeeisincorporated by reference to the information set forth
under the caption “Corporate Governance - Board Meetings and Committees - Audit Committee” in the Company's 2019 Proxy
Statement. Information regarding compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 is incorporated by
reference to the information set forth under the caption “ Additional Information - Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance’ in the Company's 2019 Proxy Statement.

The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that appliesto all of its directors, officers, and employees.
The Code of Business Conduct and Ethicsison the Company'swebsite at www.arcosa.com under “ Governance Documents’ within
the“ Investors-Governance’ tab of our website. The Company intendsto post any amendments or waiversfor its Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics to the Company's website at www.arcosa.com to the extent applicable to an executive officer, principal
accounting officer, controller, or director of the Company.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Information regarding compensation of executive officersand directorsisincorporated by reference to the information set forth
under the caption “Executive Compensation” in the Company's 2019 Proxy Statement. Information concerning compensation
committeeinterlocksand insider participationisincorporated by referenceto theinformation set forth under the caption “ Corporate
Governance - Compensation Committee I nterlocksand Insider Participation” inthe Company's 2019 Proxy Statement. Information
about the compensation committee report is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the caption “Executive
Compensation - Human Resources Committee Report” in the Company's 2019 Proxy Statement.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Information concerning security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated herein by reference
from the Company's 2019 Proxy Statement, under the caption “ Security Ownership - Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management.”

Thefollowing table setsforth information about Arcosacommon stock that may be issued under Arcosa's equity compensation
plan as of December 31, 2018.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
(a) (b) (c)

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Number of Available for
Securities to be Weighted- Future Issuance
Issued Upon Average Exercise under Equity
Exercise of Price of Compensation
Outstanding Outstanding Plans (Excluding
Options, Options, Securities
Warrants and Warrants and Reflected in
Rights Rights Column (a))
Plan Category:
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders:
Restricted stock units and performance units.............ccoeeeeveveveencnene 1,049537 O $ — 2,771,814 @
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders........... — —
TOAL .ottt b et e b e r e e ae e aeeaeeereeneesaeennenaean 1,049,537 2,771,814

@ Represents sharesunderlying awardsthat have been granted under the 2018 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the " Incentive
Plan") (including Arcosa equity awards issued in respect of outstanding Trinity equity awards in connection with the
Separation). Amounts are comprised of (a) 938,384 shares of common stock issuable upon the vesting and conversion of
restricted stock units and (b) 111,153 shares of common stock issuable upon the vesting and conversion of performance
units, assuming payout at target performance. Therestricted stock unitsand performance unitsdo not have an exercise price.
The performance units are granted to employees based upon atarget level; however, depending upon the achievement of
certain specified goal s during the performance period, performance units may beissued at an amount between 0% and 200%
of the target level.

@ For purposes of calculating the number of shares remaining available for issuance under the Incentive Plan, this calculation
reservesfor issuancethepotential maximum payout (200% of target) of the outstanding performanceunits. Upon certification
of actual performance, reserved shares that are not issued will again be available for issuance under the Incentive Plan.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Information regarding certain relationships and related person transactions is incorporated by reference to the information set
forth under the caption “ Transactions with Related Persons” in the Company's 2019 Proxy Statement. Information regarding the
independence of directors is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the caption “ Corporate Governance-
Independence of Directors’ in the Company's 2019 Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Information regarding principal accountant fees and servicesisincorporated by reference to the information set forth under the
caption “Fees of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for Fiscal Year 2018” in the Company's 2019 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) (1) Financial Statements.
See ltem 8.
(2) Financial Statement Schedule.

All schedules are omitted because they are not required, not significant, not applicable, or the information is shown in the
financia statements or the notes to consolidated financial statements.

(3) Exhibits.
NO. DESCRIPTION
21 Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2018, by and between Trinity

Industries, Inc. and Arcosa, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed November 1, 2018, File No. 001-38494)

22 Purchase Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated November 14, 2018, by and among Arcosa Materials,
Inc., ArcosaMSL, LLC, Harrison Gypsum Holdings, LLC, H.I.G. - HGC, LLC, and H.I.G. - HGC,
LLC, not individually but solely in its capacity as the Representative. (The schedules and certain
exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A list of the schedules and
exhibitsis contained in the Purchase Agreement and will be furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission upon request) (filed herewith)

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Arcosa, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on FormS-8, filed on October 31, 2018, File No. 333-228098)

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Arcosa, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed on October 31, 2018, File No. 333-228098)

10.1 Transition Services Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2018, by and between Trinity Industries, Inc.

and Arcosa, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K, filed November 1, 2018, File No. 001-38494)

10.2 Tax Matters Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2018, by and between Trinity Industries, Inc. and
Arcosa, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-
K, filed November 1, 2018, File No. 001-38494)

10.3 Employee Matters Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2018, by and between Trinity Industries, Inc.
and Arcosa, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K, filed November 1, 2018, File No. 001-38494)

10.4 Intellectual Property Matters Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2018, by and between Trinity
Industries, Inc. and Arcosa, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed November 1, 2018, File No. 001-38494)

10.5 Credit Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2018, by and among Arcosa, Inc. as borrower, the lenders
party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as administration agent, Bank of America,
N.A., as syndication agent and Branch Banking & Trust Company, SunTrust Bank and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as co-documentation agents (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed November 1, 2018, File No. 001-38494)

10.6 Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 18, 2018, by and among Arcosa, Inc. as
borrower, the lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as
administration agent (filed herewith)

*10.7 Arcosa, Inc. 2018 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed on October 31, 2018, File No. 333-228098)

*10.8 Arcosa, Inc. Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed November 1, 2018, File No. 001-38494)

*10.9 Arcosa, Inc. 2018 Deferred Plan for Director Fees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed November 1, 2018, File No. 001-38494)

*10.10 Arcosa, Inc. Supplemental Profit Sharing Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed November 1, 2018, File No. 001-38494)

*10.11 Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Grant Agreement (filed herewith)

*10.12 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement (filed herewith)

*10.13 Arcosa, Inc. Change in Control Severance Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 12, 2018, File No. 001-38494)
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Form of Former Parent Restricted Stock Grant Agreement for grantsissued prior to 2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7.1 to Trinity Industries, Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the annual period ended December 31, 2018).

Form of Former Parent Restricted Stock Grant Agreement for grants issued commencing 2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7.1.1 to Trinity Industries, Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the annual period ended December 31, 2018).

Form of Former Parent Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Non-Employee Directors for grants
issued prior to 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7.2 to Trinity Industries, Inc. Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the annual period ended December 31, 2018).

Form of Former Parent Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Non-Employee Directors for grants
issued commencing 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7.2.1 to Trinity Industries, Inc.
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the annual period ended December 31, 2018).

Form of Former Parent Performance Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement for grants issued
commencing 2011 through 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10.6 to Trinity Industries,
Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the annual period ended December 31, 2016).

Form of Former Parent Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for grants issued commencing 2017
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Trinity Industries, Inc. Form 8-K filed on May 3, 2017).

Form of Former Parent Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement for grants issued
commencing 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Trinity Industries, Inc. Form 8-K filed
on May 3, 2017).

Form of Former Parent Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Grant Agreement for grants issued
commencing 2017 (incorporate by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Trinity Industries, Inc. Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2017).

Form of Former Parent Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for grants issued
commencing 2017 (incorporate by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Trinity Industries, Inc. Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2017).

Listing of subsidiaries of Arcosa, Inc. (filed herewith)

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP (filed herewith)

Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer (filed herewith)
Rule 13a-15(€) and 15d-15(€) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer (filed herewith)

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith)

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith)

Mine Safety Disclosure Exhibit (filed herewith)

XBRL Instance Document (filed electronically herewith)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document (filed electronically herewith)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document (filed electronically herewith)
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document (filed electronically herewith)
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document (filed electronically herewith)
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document (filed electronically herewith)

* Management contracts and compensatory plan arrangements

Item 16. Form 10-K Summatry.

None
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ARCOSA, INC. By /¢/ Scott C. Beasley
Registrant

Scott C. Beasley
Chief Financia Officer
February 28, 2019

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, thisreport has been signed bel ow by the following persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

President and Chief Executive Officer and

/s Antonio Carrillo Director February 28, 2019
Antonio Carrillo (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Scott C. Beasley Chief Financial Officer February 28, 2019
Scott C. Beasley (Principal Financial Officer)

/sl Mary E. Henderson Chief Accounting Officer February 28, 2019
Mary E. Henderson (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Rhys J. Best Non-Executive Chairman February 28, 2019
Rhys J. Best

/< Joseph Alvarado Director February 28, 2019
Joseph Alvarado

/s/ David W. Biegler Director February 28, 2019
David W. Biegler

/9 Jeffrey A. Craig Director February 28, 2019
Jeffrey A. Craig

/s/ Ronald J. Gafford Director February 28, 2019

Ronald J. Gafford

/s John W. Lindsay Director February 28, 2019
John W. Lindsay
/s/ Douglas L. Rock Director February 28, 2019

DouglasL. Rock

/s Méelanie Trent Director February 28, 2019
Melanie Trent
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ARCOSA TRANSFER AGENT

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC

6201 15th Avenue
Brooklyn, NY 11219

Toll Free: 1.800.937.5449
Local & International: 1.718.921.8124

http://www.astfinancial.com
info@astfinancial.com

08:00 AM ET to 08:00 PM ET, Monday - Friday
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